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CHAPTER I
BRITISH COLUMBIA AND THE CONCEPTION OF THE
CANADIAN PACIFIC RAILWAY

One of the most remarkable aspects of the building
of the Canadian Pacific Railway was that it reversed the re-
lationship which a railway normally bears to population.
Usually a commercial railwa.y1 is built to centres of popula-
tion, or failing this optimum, it is built_where population
is growing or flowing. The Canadian Pacific Railway was based
an neither of these population requirements. It was construc-
ted through the barren §ountry‘north of Lake Superior and
Weét-acrOSS'an almost uninhabited prairie to the Province of
British Columbia which had, at the time the railway was con-
ceived, a population of less than 10,000 white inhabitants,
Unlike all the overland railways built in the United States
éf America, which sought centres of population on the Pacific
sﬁch.as San Francisco, Portland and Tacoma, the Canadian
Pacific sought a narrow inlet where there was no city and
very little settlement.

Since it was built for 2,000 miles through country
whichtéeemed to offer but very little traffic the Canadian
" Pacific Railway has always been considered a very bold enter-
prise; at the time of its conception the project was vocifer-

ously branded as foolhardy. The critics of the project --

1. The Northern Pacific and Great Northern Railways may be
considered with the Canadian Pacific as outstanding exceptions.



and they were many =-- could see nothing but bankruptcy and
failure in the undertaking.

But the critics were proved wrong by the completion
of the line and its subsequent prosperity. Their miscalcula-
tions wére largely due to the fact that they placed too much
emphasis on the barrenness of the prairies and the many moun=
tains of British Columbia and underestimated the great poten-
tial wealth of the Canadian West. They failed to see that the
possible development of the great resources of the North-West
and British Columbia was ample justification for building a
railway to the Pacific. |

Fortunately for the Canadian Dominion the opponents
of the Pacific railway project were of relatively littie ime
portance. The Railway was built, although after some years of
delay, by those who had imagihation and foresight enough to
conjure a vision of a prosperous and populated Dominion from
Atlantic to Pacific. The economic devélopment of the Canadian
vWest was to be an important factor in the success of the road,
and the possibility of this valuable development was not un-
foreseen by those who conceived and built the Canadian Pacific
Railway.

For this reason, Bfitish Columbia, though only a part
of the western territory which the Canadian Pacific Railway
was built to save and develop for the new Canadian nation of
1867, was of great importance in bringing the numerous projects
and dreams of an all-British route across the North American

continent to a final realization. Her history and development



before the beginning of the railway must be considered to
understand why Canada and the Canadian Pacific Railway Com-
pany were willing to take the great risk of building a rail-
-way into an undeveléped country, and why it was an agreement
between the néw Canadian Federaﬁion and a poor and sparsely
populated Pacific colony that‘began the difficult history of
the Canadian Pacific Railway.

British Columbia first became of importance because
of her great wealth in fur-bearing animals%.The sea-otter and
the beaver brought men half way round the world and across
the American continent to her coast. From 1821 to 1858 the
Hudson's Bay Coﬁpany, taking up the work of the maritime and
" North West Fur Traders, laid the beginnings of a new British
Colony on the Pacific. The Company's servants attracted atten-
tion not only to furs but also to the great resources of the
country, minerals, fish and lumber, Agriculture became of
some importance in maintaining the fur-posts; barrelé of
dried salmon were exported, and timbers cut by saw-mills
built by the Company entered into the trade of the territory.
These activities, however, were subsidiafy to the fur-trade.

They developed not from any deliberate effort to exploit the

resources of the country but because they aided in the main-

1. For the early history of British Columbia vide Howay, F.W.,
British Columbia; the Making of a Province, Toronto, The
Ryerson Press, 1928; Howay, F.W. and Scholefield, E.0.S.,
British Columbia, Vancouver, S.J. Clarke, 1914; Sage, W.N.,
Sir James Douglas and British Columbia, Toronto, Toronto
University Press, 1930, and Scholefield, E.0.S., and Gos-
nell, R.E., A History of British Columbia, Vancouver and
Victoria, British Columbia historical association, 1913.




tenance of the fur-trade.

- In addition to pointing to the great wealth of the
country, the Hudson's Bay Company developed the first system
of'éommunications in the territory, utilizing water transport
'ﬁher9ver_possible and supplementing it with pack trails and
horse brigades. Before the fixing of the international bound-
ary along the 49th parallel, by the Oregon treaty of 1846,
the principal transport route was the Columbia river into the
Okanagon and thence north by horse-brigade to Kamloops and
New Caledonia. After 1846 the transport system was reorganized,
Vibtoria on Vancouver Island was established as a depot in
place of Fort Vancou#er on the Columbia and a new route to
the interior was developed up the Fraser to Hope and Yale and
thence by trail and horse-brigade through the canyon of the
Fragser and the Thompson to New Caledonia. The route along the
Fraser river was to prove of great value in the development
of the country. At first ene of the routes followed by the
.fur-traders, it became a base for the development of gold
mining which followed the discovery of gold in 1856. The same
route was followed in 1862 by the builders of the Cariboe
Road; and in 1880-1883 the builders of the Canadian Pacific
Railway built along the same highway.

"The Hudson's Bay Company failed, however, to supply
the basis of a permanent economy. In the period of its priv- -
ileged position in British Columbia there was very little
settlement, apart from the fur-trade, on either Vancouver
Island, which became a crown colony under the Company in 1849,

or on the mainland. The lack of settlement was due partly to



" the policy of the Company, which was opposed to settlement
apart from the requirements of the fur-trade, and partly, and
more fundamentally, to the fact that the Pacific North-West
waé far removed from Europe and the east of North America. It
could be reached by sea only via Cape of Good Hope or Cape
Horn. Between Cahada and the Pacific coast stood the Rocky
Mountains, a wide desolate prairie country ana the barren
country north of Lake Superior.

A more'pdwerfully'attractive force was required to
people the isolated wilderness of British Columbia than furs
and latent resources. Gold in 1858 accomplished what probably
no other agent at that time could have done. It éeopled Brit-
i;h Columbia and gave a tremendous impetus to her economic
and.political development, The influx of gold-seeking men,
principall& from the gold fields of California forced the
Hudson's Bay Company from its privileged position west of the
Rocky Mountains and led directly to the establishment of the
Crown Colony of British Columbia in 1858; it kindled the
interest: of Brifish North America and Great Britain in the
Pacific coast; and it presented the new colony with economic
problems which were largely responsible for the démand of its
inhabitants for improved communications both within her own
boundaries and with the outside world.

The gold of British Columbia in a very short time
attracted thousands of men, principally from California where
gold.had long been Becoming more difficult to find. The move-

\ment of these men up the Fraser to the éold fields'prbducéd

a multiplicity of problems. inevitably the migration of a



-6 =

large pody of men into the wilderness of the interior called
for the formation of civil goverﬁment, the enforcement of law
and order, the raising and collecfion of revenue, the con-
struction of roads, trails and bridges, and the exploration
and development of the country. Great Britain immediately
showed her interest in these new problems of the territory.
The Colony of British Columbia was prqclaimed with James
Douglas as its first Governor. And to aid the new colony in
preserving. orderly goverrmment aﬁd executing necessary public
works, such as road building, the Colonial Secretary despatche-
ed a detachment of the Royal Engineers to the new colony.

Probably the most difficult of‘the problems facing
the new-coldny was the development of adequate means of trans-
portation to the gold fields, Lines of communication were
necessary to insure the maintenance of law and order and, more
important, to insure the prosperity of the mining industry.
Lack of transportation facilities meant high prices at the
diggings, and high prices meant ruin for the minér who did not
strike én extremely rich claim. At first the only important
communications between the diggings was by way of the Fraser
River. From Victoria the miner reached the head of navigation
on the Fraser, Hope or Yale, by steamer or even by small
skiffs or cances. From Hope or Yale the miner made his way
along the canyon of the Fraser by means of treacherous Indian
and Hudson's Bay Company trails which were then the sole
means of communication.

As the miner moved north up the Fraser from the bars

below Yale to the district between Lytton and Lillooet and



then still further north into the Cariboo country.the need for
improved routes to the diggings became urgent. Douglas, who
was not slow to realize that difficulty of transport formed
the great impediment to the development of the colony's min-
eral resources, made the first improvement in 1858 by enlist-
ing the aid of the miners to connect the water stretches be-
fween Harrison Lake and Lillooet by roads and trails. The
apening of this new route to the Upper Fraser reduced the
cost of transportation and the price of food and supplies on
the bars in the vicinity of Lillooet. Yet even with this im-
provement prices remained exhorbitantly high due to the still
high cost of traﬁsport and the strgngth of demand and the
great supplies of gold in the miniﬁg area.

With the object of making the gold fields still more
accessible that they might become more profitable and extens-
ive, Governor Douglas began in 1860 a great road building
program. The Harrison-Lillooet trails were made into gqod
waggon roads and stages were placed in operation over the
whole route connecting with steamers plying on the lakes. In
1860 new gold fields were opened up in the Similkameen dis-
trict and Governor Douglas launched out on the great project
of building a road to these new fields. It is of interest that
Douglas in opening up this new highway dreamed of it passing
through one of the passes of the Rocky Moﬁntains to connect
With a road across the prairies from Fort Garry. in 1861 the
discovery of very rich gold fields in the Cariboo encouraged
Douglas to build a road north from Yale through the canyons

of the Fraser to replace the treacherous trails. The road was



built by the Royal Engineers and several independent contract-
ors. It was completed between Yale and Lillooet by August,
1863. The great need of the colony for this great road was
witnesse@ in the fact that the miners toock to the new route
with great avidity. Soon long lines of pack animals, heavy
freight waggons, six horse coaches and an army o¢f men were
seen passing along it going to and from the mines.

The opening of gold fields in the Kootenay and Big
Bend country led to further improvements in the transportation
system of the colony; and, it is worthy of notice, to surveys
and explorations which were later of value to the builders of
the Canadian Pacific Railway% ?his was fhe work of Goﬁernor
Douglas' successor, Frederick Seymour, in 1864, and of Joseph
W. Trutch, Commissioner of lLands and Works, in 1865, Trutch,
like bouglas, dreamed of developing communications with the
Bast. Following a successful exploratory expedition by Walter
Moberly, whom he had despatched tb find a route from the east=
ern end of Shuswap Lake to the Columbia, he wrote to the Col-
onial Secretary that further surveys of this district of
country seemed to him most desirable as it would "certainly
be of very great importance to have indubitable assurance of
a route by which a continuous direct line of communication
with British settlements, east of the Rdcky Mountains, can be

effected from the sea-board of British Columbia',

1, Vide infra p. 70.
2. Trutch to Colonial Secretary, Instructions, Reports and
Journals relating to the Government Exploration of country

lying between the Shuswap and Okanagon Lakes and the Rocky
Moun%ains, New Westminster, 1866, D. 13.




Gold mining and the development of transportation
routes to the va:ious parts of the colony had an inevitable
reaction on the economic life and industry. Food was needed
to support the mining population and the experience of the
Hudson'%s Bay Company in raising agricultural products around
their trading posts was put to good use. During the boom days
,of placer-mining_agriculture was very profitable. Dairying
flourished along with agriculﬁure and ranching developed,
| particulérly around Kamloops. Fishing based on the abundant
resources of the coastal waters was greatly stimulated by the
inflﬁx-of the_mining'population, but it was limited in its
development by the speed and efficiency of transportation.to
the British Columbia market and to the larger foreigh markets.,
Fresh fish was foo perishable to be shipped to any extent and
there was a limited demand for smoked salmon. Lumbering devel-
oped with_thgfﬁeéds of construction and mining in the interior
of British Coiumbia. On the coast many large mills were built'
to supply a rapidly growing export trade. The market was
world wide and transportation by water to foreign ma kets was
easy. Vesselssbringing in cargoes returned with lumber instead
of in ballast. The de#elopment of the lumbering industry was
accompanied by a rapid growth of coal mining on Vancouver
Island. The accessibility of the coast mines to water trans-
poertation and the development of shipping following the gold
rush were the main factors im this - development.

The prosperity of the colonies of British Columbia
and Vancouver Island depended solely on the productivity of

the placer mines, however, and was short-lived. As long as
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the mines were productives British Columbia enjoyed & certain
amount of prosperity. But the préductivity of placer mines
‘was an unstable base for a healthy economy. By 1865 the plac-
er mines were rapidly declining and with their decline the
colony sank into financial difficulties and general economic
~depression.

The decline of the mining industry placed in promin-
ent relief the chief economic ill of the colony, the diffi-
culty and high cost of transportation; The pick of the claims
were alone able to withstand the costs of transport and large
numbers of miners were forced to leave almost as soon as they
arrived. The mining population figuresfgiven by Macdonald1
although possibly inaccurate, are indicative of the movement
of population from the colony almost as soon as it had arrived.
The white population in 1858 is given at 17,000, In 1859, it
is less than one-half, having dropped to 8,000. In 1860 it is
7,000 and in 1861, 5,000. There was a revival of immigration.
due to the rich findings of the Cariboo. But by 1871 the white
population according to the most reliable authority was only
8,576?‘ The decline of popﬁlation was accompanied by a com~-
paréble.decline in gold production. In 1863 the output of the
mines was $3,900,000, while in 1871 it was only $1,400,000.
The productivity of the mines uhdoubtedly would have been

maintained and even increased had transportation costs not

prohibited. the development of lode mining which required.

1. Macdonald, D.G.F., British Columbia and Vancouver Island,

London, Longman, Green, Longman, Roberts, and Green,
1862, p. 80. ‘
2. Domlnion'Sessional Papers, 1872, 10, p. 22,
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large amounts of equipment and machinery and heavy transport
for ores. Lode mining did not become a feature of British Col-
umbian industry until after the completion of the Canadian
Pacific Railway.

The lesser industries of the colonies agriculture,

- fishing, lumbering and coal mining did not decline as precip-
itouslj as gold mining but they had scarcely develeped beyond
the stage of infant industries. Agriculture although stimulat-
-ed by the mining population was largely confined to the New
Westminster district, the Fraser River Delta and the south-
eastern peninsula of Vancouver Island. Fishing, lumbering and
coal mining weré‘saved from the depth of depression by their
foreign export market. But in 1865 when gold mining was defin-
itely on the decline no industry was sufficiently well estab-
lished to insure the prosperity of the colonies.

The stagnation which followed the collapse of the
mining boom was not due to any lack of enterprise. "The Brit-
ish Columbians of that day,"™ R.E. Gosnell remarks, "invested
freely, and in many instances to their cost, in anything that
looked promising"%'The reason lay in over-expansion on the
basis of a fictitious prosperity and, more fundamentally, on
the lack of opportunity of outlet for production and inlet for
productive enterprise,

Over-expansion left British Columbia with a public

works system which "excited the astonishment of every stranger

1. Gosnell, R.E., British Columbia, Sixty Years of Progress,
Pto 2’ p'o 20
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when the scanty population [was] considered". The cost of
road building was too great for the resources of the colony
and by 1864 it was greatly in debt, Véncpuver Island likewise
~bobmed and fell with the prosperity of the mines and by 1864
she too was -heavily in debt. In 1866 when the two colonies
were united in an effort to reduce the costs of administration,
the net indebtedness of Vancouver Island was $293,698 and that
of British.Columbia $1,002,983? Burdened with this debt the
two colonies struggled along under a load of taxatiqn Which
amounted to £19 a head? Moreover, the load of debt carried by
the colony was not entirely fiscal., By 1865 British Columbia
had an excellent system of roads but those who uséd the roads
had to pay for their service in the form of tolls until con-
federation with Canadé in 1871.

A more chronic problem than public debt was the iso-
lation of British Columbia from world markets and centres of
population. The inhabited regions of British North America
were 2,000 miles away. A boat to or from Great Britain had to
round Cape Horn or the Cape of Good Hope. The Surveyor-General
of Vancouver Island, J.D. Pemberton, wrote in 1860 that "the
only direct way to reach Vancouver Island and British Columbia
at present is to take advantage of any vessel sailing from

London or Liverpool that may offer. Exceeding 17,000 miles

this passage is the longest that can be taken from England to

l. Dominion Sessional Papers, 1872, 10, p. 3.

2. Journals of the Legislative Counc11 of British Columbla,
1867, Appendix, p. xvii.

3. Howay and Scholefield, op. cit., v. 2, p. 226.
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any known port, rounding either Cape, unless it be to some
place in the neighbourhood of Sitka or Petrapoulouski,..."l
This long sea voyage could be shortened after the completion
of.avrailway across the Isthmus of Darien in 1855. But even a
passage to British Columbia by this route meant a long cross-
ing of the Atlantic to Neﬁ York, a journey by boat to Panama,
a railway journey across the isthmus, and a passage by steamer
to San Francisco and thence to Victoria and New Westminster,
This route though it cut down the time spent on the journey
from England to British Columbia could noﬁ be used profitably
for a shipment of goods because of the many transfers exper-
ienced on the route, at New York, at each side of the Isthmus
and at San Francisco. Overland routes developed acrocs s the
United Stateé from the eastern seaboard to San Francisco, but
these were long and tedious routes to follow and ove them few
goods could be carried?‘ There were no practicable routes
across British soil to the Pacific. Pemberton mentions among
routes to British Columbia and Vancouver Island "the trail via
Red River, North Sascatchewan, and the Punch-Bowl Pass in the
Rocky Mountains or other similar tréils usually traelled by
the brigades of the Hudson's Bay Company"? But these he dis-
misses as being useful énd safe only for "hardy trappers

lightly equipped, and confident in their knowledge of the

passes of the country and its resources". Until the cbmple-

-1, Pemberton, J.D., Facts and Figures relafing to Vancouver
Island and British Columbia, London, Longmans, Green,
Longman and Roberts, 1860, p. 84.

2. This condition existed until the completion.of the Central
Pacific Railway in 1869.
5. Pemberton, op. cit., p. 94.
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.tion of the railway the crossing of the prairies and the Rock-
ies was a difficult and perilous task. Few attempted the pass-
age. Captain Palliser's well equipped and highly trained
exploration party of 1857-1860 found its way to the Pacific
after conducting exploration and surveys in the Rock es. Mil-
ton and Cheadle crossed Canada to the Pacific via Yellow Head
Pass in 1862 while 'exploring a route across the continent
through British territory'. But the only immigrants who came
overland to British Columbia through the Canadian Reckies

came in search of gold in 1862%

Those who remained in the colony did not accept their
depression and economic stagnation passively. They sought sol-
utions of their difficult problems. Communications with the
East by waggon road or railway and confederation with the
Canadian federation of 1867 became the most prominert solution
advocated. Trutch continued to consider his project Qf a
route to the Bast and in 1868 drew up a comprehensive minute
in which he discussed the advantages of various routes and
passes ig the Rockies for a road? The paper bears much evi-
dence that to Trutch a wagon road to the East was necessary
for the colony's development. The routes he chose as the most
practicable are of interest. His first choice fell upon the

route up the Fraser from Yale, along the Thompson and through

the Rockies by Yellow Head Pass. His second choice was given

1., Wade, M.S., The Overlanders of '62, Archives of British
Columbia, Memcir No. IX, Victoria, 1931, p. 4. A few gold
seekers came across the mountains in 1859. Ibid.

2. Dominion Sessional Papers, 1872, 10, p. 209.
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to the route along the Fréser from Yale to the mouth of the
Thompson, along the Thompson to Savonés and thence south-
easterly through Moberly's Eagle Pass to the Columbia, round
the bend of the Columbia to Blackberry River and through the
Rockies by Howse Pass. |

It was left not to Trutch but to Alfred Waddington,

the author of Fraser Mines Vindicated, however, to outline the

.most comprehensive scheme for a Trans~Canada railway, and more
important, to agitate in.British Columbia, Canada and Great
Britain for its construction. From 1861 to 1866 Waddington was
eﬁgaged in an unsuccessful effort to build an alternative
route to the Cariboo mines from the head of Bute Inlet, and
while engaged on this project he conceived his plan for a rail-
way from Canada to the Pacific at the head of Bute Inlet.
Waddington, like Trutch, thbugh§ at first only in terms of a
waggon road. This idea developed into a scheme for railways
connecting the water stretches across Canada which could be
uged for transportation, and finally into a plan for an all=-
rail route from the Bast through the Rocky'Mountainé by way of
Yellowhead Pass, along the Fraser River to Quesnelmouth (Ques-
nel) and thence across the Chilcotin plain to Bute Inlet.

In March, 1868, Waddington outlined his conception of
the failway before a meeting of the Royal GedgraphicalSoCiEﬁy
in London. He saw the railway as a means of building a prosper-
ous nation from Atlantic to Pacific. "In a political point of
view, and as a natural consequence of the late confederation
it would contribute essentially to its prosperity; for so long

as there is no overland route, any communication with British
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Columbia must remain a myth and the Red River settlement con-
tinue isqlated"}‘ He saw the railway as a means of offsetting
the advantage which would be gained by the United States which
at that time was building a transcontinental railway to San
Framcisco. "In the United States the Central Pacific Railway
veeis prggressing rapidly and the time is not far distant when
it will 5e opened. ...it is calculated td divert a great part
of the trade of China and Japan from the 0ld to the New World
and if we do not wake up we shall bitterly regrét the lost
opportunity..."2 Waddington outlined his plans for the railway
more carefully in a pamphlet entitled Overland Route through

3
British North America, published in September, 1868. He em-

phasized again the national and imperial importance pf the
railway and ennumerated fhe benefits which would come to Brit-
ish Columbia on its construction. A railway following the
Yellowhead Pass ;fchilcotin’Plain - Bute Inlet route would
offer "ready and easy communication for 280 miies by the Upper
Fraser and its valley through a comparatively open and fertile
tract of countryy it would "open up the gold mines in and
around Cariboo"; and it would "open up the Chilcotin Plain,
the only one of any extent in British Columzia and which con=-

‘tains millions of acres fit for settlement”.

It is not possible to estimate the value of Alfred

1. Journal of the Royal Geographical Society, v. 38, London,
1868, p. 128.

2'0 Ibido :

3. Waddington, Alfred, Overland Route through British North
America, London, Longmans, Green, Reader and Dyer, 1868
(1st Edition).

4, Ibid., p. 12,
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Waddington's work,in.emphasising the value of a Trans-Canada
railway to Great Britain, Canada and British Columbia. However
his words were read and heard by many who were willing to read
and hear them, In Canada the project of a transcontinental
railway joining together all British North America was any-
thing but new. Many "Fathers of Confederation™ had‘avowed
their desire to open ﬁp—the west by communications and politi-
cal federation and the Grand Trunk officials considered the
gxtension'of their road to the Pacific necessary to insure
its prospéri%ym Az early as November, 1860, Edward Watkin, an
officer of the Company wrote that the only way to improve the
property of the Grand Trunk lay "in extension of railway
communication to the Pacific.... The result to this empire
would be beyond cr:zlcula’t:ion...."zl And British imperialists,
few as they were, had dreamed of a British colony from Atlan-
tic to Pacific connected by railway from the time Major
Carmiéhael-Smyth wrote, in 1847, that a national highway from
Atlantic to Pacific was the "great‘link required to unite in
one chain the whole English race'".

The nationalist and western expansionist feeling in
Canada which developed répidly with the consummation of union

with Nova Scotia and New Brunswick came at an opportune time

for British Columbia. It formed an encouraging response to

1. Watkin, E.W., Canada and the States, Recollections, 1851 to
1886, Ward, Lock and Co., London, 1887, p. 1l4.

2. A Letter from Major Rohert Carmichael-Smyth to his friend
The Author of "The Clockmaker", London, 1849, p. 6. The au-
thor of "The Clockmaker" was T.C. Haliburton. For the inter-
est of Canada and Great Britain in western communications
D;Q% Trotter, R1824 Canadian Confederation, Toronto, J.M.

: ,"D. 248 Tt e, ———'

and Sons,

- 3 *
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demands such as Alfred Waddington's for a transcontinental
railway and to the desire which soon developed in the depress-
ed colony to &nter the Canadian federation. It developed at a
time, mofeover, when there was growing in British Columbia a
feeling for annexation to the United States as a cure for the
economic aﬂd.political ills of the colony.

The annexationist movement was largely confined to
the Victoria merchants and did not affect the ﬁainland,which
became almost entirely confederationist, but it is of great
interest in that it was a further manifestation of the troubles
of the colony. The movement, as Dr. W.N. Sage writes, "was a
counsel of despair. Existing economic conditions were unbear-
able. Britain could not or.would_not help. ...Confederation
was a dream which on;y the construction of a railway could
turn into a reality"% Up to the moment that Confederation
with Canada was decided by the British Columbia legislature,
however, the movement claimed some strong adherents. Dr, John
Sebastion Helmcken, one of the most influential men in the

2
colony, favoured annexation, and Pemberton, who, in 1860,

et T T o AT i

suggested a British immigrant route to British Columbia,

turned to annexation as a means of salvaging British Columbia's
; s
economy. In a series of three letters to the British Colonist

he pointed to the advantages of annexation. He attracted

1. Sage, W.N., The Annexationist Movement in British‘Columbia,
Transactions of the Royal Society of Canada, 1927, Pt. 2,
p. 109, .

2..Confederation Debate, Legislative Council of British Col-
umbia, 1870, p. 8. ’

3. British Colonigt, Jan. 26, 1870, Jan. 29, 1870, Feb. 1,
1870.
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attention to the fact that "an American,transcontinental rail-
way already exists [the Central Pacifiq] and another is being
planned [the Northern Pacifid] which will give access. to Vict-
oria through Puget Sound ports". |

The only important’effect of the annexationist move-
pent was that'it‘strengthened the confederationist feeling in
British Columbia and the desire of Canada to embrace the
Pacific colony in the Dominion before it Wés losﬁ to the United
States. Confederationist feeling seems to have appeared first
in 1867; In that year Governor Seymour was asked by the Legis-
lative Council to make tentative overtures to Great Britain
ooncerning the admission of British Columbia into the new
DOminion% The reply was disconcerting fof the advocates of
confederation -- and pleasing for the anti-confederationists
who numbered the annexationists and the official government
class (including Governor Seymour) which was by no means en-
thusiastic for a policy which would mean almost certainly the
intféduction of responsible government and the end of its.own
privileged and powerful position in the Colony. TherSecretary
of State for the Colonies took the ground that "whatever might
be the advantages which in the course of time might result
from the “union of British North America under oﬁe‘government;
it appears tsﬁmgrthatAthe consideratf%n of that question must

at all events await the time when the intervening territory

now under the control of the Hiadson's Bay Company shall have

1. Seymour to Carnarvon, March 18, 1867. Papers on the Union
of British Columbia with the Dominion of Canada, 1l1.
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1
been incorporated with the Confederation'.

The control of the Hudson's Bay Company over the North
West was an obstacle in the way of the inclﬁsion of British
Columbia in the Dominion. But since the 'Fathers of Confeder-
ation' were anxious to include the West they took immediatev
steps to obtain the North West Territories from the Hudson's
Bay Company. Negotiations had begun before the completion of
Confederation; one of the subjects entrusted to the delegation
which went to London from Canada in the spring of 1865 was that
of the "arrangements necessary for the settlement of the North-
West'Territory and Hudson's Bay Company claims“?' After Con-
federation the negotiations were resumed and brought to a
successful conclusion in April, 1869, by an agreement whereby
Rupert®s Land was to be transferred to the Dominion of Canada.
On July 15, 1870, Rupert's Land and the North West Territory
were formally made part of the Dominion.

While the Dominion was negotiating to acquire the
North-West Territories British Columbia continued to demand
confederation. On January 29, 1868, a committee was appointed
by a public meeting of the citizens of Victoria to draw up a
memorial in favour of immediate confederation with Canada. The
committee did its work well, reviewed the history and basis

of the confederationist feeling in the colony and suggested

conditions of union with the Dominion. Of the six conditions

1. Buckingham and Chandos to Seymour, Nov. 19, 1867, Papers on
the Union of British Columbia with the Dominion of Canada,
11. »

2. Minute of Council, March 24, 1865, Great Britain, Parlia-
mentary Papers, 1865, p. 1.




1
they enumerated one was “the construction of a transcontinen-

tal waggon road, from Lake Superior to the head of navigation
on the Fraser within two years after the time of admission".
' In May a Confederation League was formed to expedite the pro=-
posed union with Canada. The League organized a number of meet-
ings which developed into popular dembnstrationS'in favour of
union. Perhaps this union sentiment reached its ﬁeak at the
small but enthusiastic meeting of confederationists held at
Yale in September, 1868, The convention was primarily interes-
ted in the "present political condition of the coionym and
demanded "representative institutions and.responsible government!
But it also endorsed the proposal for a waggon road to the East,
extending the time limit from two to three years.

Even Governor Seymour who was unfriendly to confeder-
ation was not unaware of its advantages. "I do not suppose™,
he wrote, "that there is a single Englishman who would not
‘desire to see one unbroken Dominion under his flag from the
Atlantic to the Pacific. For all present facilities of inter-
course we are as near to Japan as to Ottawa"?_However, Seymour,
who was a well-intentioned but weak and irresponsible Governor,
was ﬁot a confederationist, and his death on June 10, 1869,
removed one obstacle to the cause of Confederation in the Col-

ony. His death also enabled Sir John A. Macdonald, who was well

aware of the official obstacle in British Columbia to union, to

1. See Gosnell, British Celumbia, Sixty Years of Progress,
. 205- - ‘
2. Seymour to Buckingham and Chandos, Nov. 30, 1868, Papers on
the Union of British Columbia with the Dominion of Canada,
p. 1l1.
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have Anthony Musgrave, whom he had already chosen to succeed
Seymour, appointed Governor of British Columbia.

Musgrave, who arrived in Victoria in August, 1869,
came with the express purpose of bringing British Columbia
into the Dominion. He was firmly convinced that the idea of
uniting British Columbia with Canada was eminently desirable.
In that he was fully in accord with Sir thn A. Macdonald and
the confederationists of the colony. He recognized at once
that the difficulties of the colony were primarily due to its
isoiated position on the Pacific seaboard. In October, 1869,
he wrote:

Frée commercial intercourse would be easier with Australia
than with Canada; and the administration of official depart-
ments could practically be conducted with equally great
facility in London as in Ottawa.

Forvthese reasons, the establishment of a line of communi-
cation at least by a Waggon Road, if not by a Railway, as a

condition og Union, will probably be brought forward in
discussion.

Sir John A, Macdonald was just as strong in his
opinion as Musgrave that transcontinental communications were
necessary to save the Canadian west for the Dominion, although
for somewhat different reasons. He was more concerned with the
danger of losing the recently acquired Hudson's Bay territory
and British Columbia to the United States than with the well-
being of British Columbia. But this fear led him to the same

conclusion as Musgrave. In January, 1870, he wrote a remarkable

1. Vide Pope, Joseph, Memoirs of the Rt. Hon. Sir John Alexan-
der Macdonald, Ottawa, J. Durie & Son, 1894, v. 2, p. 144,
2. Musgrave to Granville, Oct. 30, 1869, Ottawa Archives,
G. 365, 39.
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letter to C.J. Brydges, the managing director of the Grand
Trunk Railway.
It is quite evident...from advice from Washington that the
United States' government are resolved to do all they can
short of war to get possession of the western territory, and
we must take immediate and vigorous steps to counteract
them. One of the first things to be done is to show is-
takablely our resolve to build the Pacific Railway...
Macdonald in showing such great eagerness for a transcontinen-
tal railway advocated what the Confederationists of British
Columbia had not yet dared to suggest. At the Victoria and
Yale meetings in 1868 they had not mentioned a railway; they
merely suggested a transcontinental waggon-road. But the
colonists moved quickly from waggon-rocad to railway following
the arrival of Anthony Musgrave. When Musgrave met the Legis-
lative Council in February, 1870, he_made it quite clear that
he was anxious to expedite confederation with Canada and pre-
sented a scheme of union which he had prepared for their con-
sideration. His proposals were very similar to the propdsals
of the Confederation League but featured an advance in the
matter of eastern communications in that they contained the
first official proposal for a transcontinental railway. The
railway condition read:
Inasmuch as no real Union can subsist between this Colony
and Canada without the speedy establishment . of communication
across the Rocky Mountain by Coach Road and Railway, the
Dominion shall within three years from the date of Union,
construct and open for traffic such Coach Road from some
point on ‘the_line of the Main Trunk Road of this colony to
Fort Garry,...and shall further engage to use all means in

her power to complete such Railway communication at the
earliest practicable date, and that surveys to determine the

-

1, Sir John A. Macdonald to C.J. Brydges, Jan. 28, 1870, Pope,
Correspondence of Sir John Macdonald, p. 124.
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1
proper line for such Railway shall be at once commenced;...

Musgrave believed that the matter of communications was the
crux of the whole confederation scheme., "If a railway could

be promised," he wrote to the Secretary of State, "scarcely
2
any other question would be allowed to be a difficulty”.

Cn March 9, 1870, the Legislati#e Council began the.
debate on Musgrave's proposal of confederation. For ten days
the terms proposed.by Musgrave were debated and finally passed,
with two exceptions, as submitted. The debate was introduced
by the Attorney-General, H.P.P. Crease, who in short precise
statements summed up the case for Confederation. -

We are not prosperous. Population does not increase. Trade
and commerce languish, coal mining does not advance; agri-
culture though progressive, does not go forward as it might,.
The settlement of the country, though increasing, yet falls
short of just expectation. No public works for opening the
country are on hand, and a general lack of progress... is
everywhere apparent. And why is this?

«eo.the chief reason of all is that policy of isolation which
has left us aloof from the assistance and sympathy of a
kindred race, and left us in the infant state of one of
England's youngest colonies, to support the burdens and
responsibilities of a thickly peopled and long settled land.
Do Honourable Members ask what would Confederation do for us?

It would at once relieve us from the most if not all the
present ills from which we suffer, if properly arranged. For
Confederation -in some sense means terms. It would assume our
Public Debt. Greatly increase our Public Credit and thereby
aid in the utilization of our varied resources. It would
leave us & good balance in our Exchequer to carry on all
local works and open out the country.

It would give us a Railroad across the Continent, and a
quick and easy access to Cttawa, New York and London.

It would cement and strengthen, instead of weaken our connec-
tion with the Mother-land and ensure the protection of her

1. Dominion Sessional'Papers, 1871, 18, p. 7.
2. Musgrave to Granville, April 5, 1870, Ottawa Archives.
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Fleet and Army. It would attract population -- ever tending

in a continuous wave towards the West. It would promote the

settlement of our Public Lands, and the development of Agri-

culture._Under it Trade and Commerce would take a fresh

start...
Other supporters of Confederation followed the same theme.
Robson declared that "after fifteen years hard struggle [Brit—
ish Columbié] finds herself worse off than she was at the
beginning; Her progress has been like that of a crab -=-
backwards....No man can conceal from himself...that the con-
struction of the Railway alone would bring a very great in-
crease to our labouring and productive population“? Trutch
declared that he believed the "depression [was] attributable
to the isolated position of the colony, and to the cold shade
thrown over us by the neighbourhood of the Territories of the
United States....the railway is a means to an end, for we
cannot have real confederation without a railway“? As Mus-
grave had forseen, the railway had aroused great interest and
had become a sine qua non_ of union with the Dominion.

VQn Musgrave's proposal4>a delegation consisting of

Trutch, Helmcken, and R.W.W, Carrall,-aﬁ.ardent confederation~
ist, left for OCttawa to negotiate with the Dominion Government
on the conditions of union adopted bylthe Legislative Council

of the Colony. For the first time the confederationist feeling

of British Columbia and the desire of the Dominion to gain the

1. Confederation Debate, Legislative Council of British Col-
umbia, 1870, p. 5.

2. Ibid., p. 16.

3. Ibid., p. 19. .

4, Musgrave to Young, April 12, 1870, Dominien Sessional
Papers, 1871, 18, p. 10.
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Pacific coiony were brought in direct contact; the negotiations
were a complete sucdess, in fact so successful for British
Columbia that even Musgrave was surprised. "The result is

even more satisfying than I anticipated," he wrote. "The terms
assented to by the Goverrment of Canada are liberal towards
this colony, and as they embrace an undertaking in respect to
the.Railway, as to the possibility of which I had some doubt,

I have no hesitation in my belief that they will be accepted
: : 1
with cordiality by the community at large™. The Dominion had

agreed:

" to secure the commencement simultaneously, within two years
from the date of the Union, of the construction of a Railway
from the Pacific towards the Rocky Mountains, and.from such
point as may be selected, East of the Rocky Mountains,
towards the Pacifiec, to connect the Seaboard of British
Columbia with the Railway system of Canada; and further to
gsecure the completion of sgch Railway within ten years
from the date of the Union.

In return British Columbia had agreed:

to convey to the Dominion Government, in trust, to be appro-
priated in such manner as the Dominion Government may deem
advisable in furtherance of the construction of the said
railway, a similar extent of public lands along the line of
railway, throughout its entire length in British Columbia
(not to exceed, however, twenty (20) miles on each side of
said line), as may be appropriated for the same purpose by
the Dominion Government from the public lands of the North-
west Territories and the Province of Manitoba: Provided that
the quantity of land which may be held under pre-emption
right or by Crown grant within the limits 6f the tract of
land in British Columbia to be so conveyed to the Dominion
Government shall be made good to the Dominion from contigu-
ous public lands; and provided further that until the
commencement, within two years, as aforesaid, from the date
of the Union, of the construction of the said railway, the
Government of British Columbia shall not sell or alienate
any further portions of the public lands of British Columbia

1. Musgrave to Granville, July 28, 1870, Ottawa Archives,
G 365, 192,
2. Dominion Sessional Papers, 1871, 18, p. 27.
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in any other way than under right of pre-emption, requiring
actual residence of the pre-emptor or the land claimed by
him,
In consideration of the land to be conveyed to the Dominion by
British Columbia in aid of the construction of the railway,
the Dominion Government agreed "to pay to British Cdlumbia,
from the date of the Union, the sum of 100,000 dollars per
annum, in half yearly payments in advance".

Why the Dominion Government had been so 1ibéral in its
promises and voluntarily agreed to increase the obligations
which Bfitish.Columbia asked of her it is not possible to say.
Perhaps it was because of over-anxiety for the future political
status ‘of British Columbia. Or perhaps the promise was made
insincerely ‘as it was later believed in British Columbia when
the‘Dominion Government failed to fulfil ité obligations to tihe

Province.




CHAPTER II

RAILWAY DIFFICULTIES 1871 - 1881

As Governor Musgrave unhesitatingly predicted the
terms of union were accepted in British Columbia "with cordi-
ality by the community at large". Interest in the proposed
railway was immediate and strong; long before the proposed
surveys for the railway in British Columbia, and even before
the union of British Columbia with the Dominion was finally
éonsummated, 500 residents of Victoria petitioned the Governor-
General of Canada urging that the terminus of the railway be
fixed at Victoria or Esquimalt; Of the anticipated benefits
to accrue to British Columbia from its becoming a part of the
Dominion, the grand undertaking of Canada to construct within
teﬂ years a railway from the Pacifié to connect with the,raii-
way system of the Confederacy was regarded as by far the
greatest.

In the East, however, thevterms of union were not so
cordially received. That Canada was far from unanimous in
support of the Pacific railway became abundantly clear when
the debate on the propsed union of British Columbia and the
Dominion began in the House of Commons on March 28, 1871? The
great majority of the Liberals denounced the railway project

declaring that British Columbia had inflicted an impossible

and ruinous condition upon the Dominion. The cost of the under-

1. Musgrave to the Governor-General, Dec. 5, 1870. Dominion
Sessional Paper, 18, 1871, p. 18.
2. Parliamentary Debates, 1871, p. 660,
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taking seemed appalling. Sandford Fleming estimated that the
initial outlay would be $100,000,000 and the annual expendi-
ture in the neighbourhood of $8,000,000% This tremendous
expenditure Alexander Maékenzie, leader of the Liberal oppo-
" sition, declared meant that "in order to get some i0,000
people into the Union the people of Canada were actually
agreeing to pay $10,000 a head on their account"? Edward
Blake, one of the strongest men in the Liberal party and who
five years later was to'diétate the railway_policy of the
Dominion protested vigorously. "We are to give our land and
we are Po construct the railway; but for their lands [British
Columbia‘s] given in the same way, they are to receive
$100,000 a yearvforever. We are to buy their lands, while we
are to give our own, and build the railway besides"? In the
Senate Le Tellier de St. Just declared that n:ruJ'.;n and misery"
were facing Canada if the railway scheme were adopted%

Canadian newspapers condemned the project as vision=-

ary, unjust and ruinous. In Le Franc Parleur Adolphe Ouimet

wrote that "the experience of the past, the weakness of our
resources and the enormity of the conditions all oblige us to
~condemn the project which we consider impossible under the

circumstances? le Canadien made the declaration that in the

1. Parliamentary Debates, 1872, p. 929.

2, Ibid., March 31, 1871, p. 745.

3. Toronto Globe, April 28, 1871. .

4., Parliamentary Debates, April 5, 1871, p. 932.

5. April 6, 1871. References to Eastern newspapers and to man-

’ uscripts in the Ottawa archives are from notes made by
Margaret Ormsby, M.A. (Brit. Col.) for her Doctor*s thesis
(Bryn Mawr) on the Relations of Canada and British Colum-
bia 1871 - 1885,
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world's annals of parliamentary debates, there is nothing to
equal the duplicity, monstfous extravagance ahd stupid sub-
mission of our federal ministers and those who supported them
in propqsing the construction of the Canadian Pacific'Railway
.to effect the annexation of British Columbia% The Montreal
Herald denounced the project with an epigram: "hereafter Brit-
ish Columbia will belong to us, though we shall rather more
belong to British Columbia',

.The opponents of the raiiway.were in a very strong
position in point of fact. Clause 11 of the terms of union
was an impossible agreement and it was rightly assumed in 1871
that the cost of the railway project would be toa much for the
Dominion. Sandford Fleming had reported on the proposed rail-
way and dubbed it a "commercial absurdity"?‘ But in some res-
pects the critics were grievously in error. It was not true, as
they seemed to assume, that the railway was to be built for the
egpecial benefit of British Columbia, and-that since the rail-
way was to be built through a sparsely populated country it
would remain a perpetual burden on Canada. Macdonald's agree-
ment with British Columbia was admittedly impossible and absurd
but his firm faith in the value of the Pacific railway as a
great national and imperial undertaking was unchallengeable.

Although Mackenzie, Blake, and their supporters under-
estimated the great value of the railway to the whole of Canada,

Macdonald and the Conservatives were equally at fault in great-

1. April 14, 1871.
2. April 15, 1871,
3. Parliamentary Debates, 1872, p. 929,
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ly underestimating the enormous difficulties involved in

their vast undertaking.}The answer of the Macdonald party to

their critics was, on the whole, magnificent. To the assertion

that British Columbia was a barren mountainous wilderness,

; } Edward Langevin declared that this great western country was

"worth the sacrifice we are making to get it and the railway
which we shall be permitted to construct will be worth infin-
itely more than it cost"% Macdonald defended his party's

stand in a speech at Peterborough on July 9, 1872, declaring

“that if the railway had not been promised, the bargain with

" British Columbia would have been delayed'too long, and she

would have fallen prey by her own consent to‘either the south-
ern [American] or northern [Russian] power"? But the Conserv-
atives could find no facile answer to the charge that the
building of the railway within ten years of the annexation of
British Columbia would place a ruinous burden on Canada. In
reply they first held up the prospect of a contribution from
the imperial Government since the project was one of both

national and imperial interest. The prospect of imperial

assistance in 1871, however, was little considered, and the

l. Le Courier du Canada, Nov. 8, 1871, quoting from Langevin's
Quebec speech. '

2. Globe, July 11, 1872,

3. Miller declared in the Senate that "when the time came Eng-

. .land would do her duty, and do it generously". Parliamen-

tary. Debates, April 3, 1871, 798. An arrangement for aid
from the Imperial Government seems to have been made in 1872,
On April 26, 1872, Cartier announced in the House of Commons
that "everyone had learned with pleasure that the Imperial
Government had consented to assist Canada in building the
great railway...by an amount which was equivalent to a sav-
ing of two per cent on the whole outlay". Parliamentary Deb-
ateS', 1872’ 1750
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Conservatives, to obtain ratification of the terms of union,
defined a policy of building the railway from proceeds of the
‘'sale of public lands to be appropriated along the railway from
British Columbia, the North West Territories and Ontario,
supplemented by means of a cash subsidy from the Dominion A
treasury which would not necessitate an increase in the exist-
ing rate of taxation.

The proposal to build the railway by land sales and
'small cash subsidies without increasing the rate of taxation
was,‘to say the least, quite incongruous, which, if interpre-
ted literally meant that the Conservative policy was no more in
harmony with the terms of union than that of Mackenzie's,pafty.
When the terms of union debate was introduced Mackenzie moved
an amendment that "the House is of the opinion that Canada
should not be pledged to do more than proceed at once with the
necessary surveys, and, after the route is determined to pros-
ecute the work at as early a period as the state of the finances.
will justify,..%» The amendment, which defined the attitude
which Mackenzie was to consistently maintain towards the Rail-
way was defeated by the Conservatives 67 = 94? But rather
surprisihgly the Conservatives a little later adopted a policy
towérds the Railway which had it been literally interpreted,
would have forced them to follow the policy defined by Mackenzie,

That the policy of the Govermnment was to build the

railway -by the aid of huge grants of land, much larger than the

grant finally made to the Canadian Pacific Railway by the

1, Parliamentary Debates, 1871, p; 673.
2, Ibid., p. 730.
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1
Statute of 1881, and by small cash subsidies without increas-
ing the rate of taxation is apparent from statements made in
Parliament at the time the terms of Union were under discuss-
2
ion. To say the least this optimistic attitude of the Conserv-
ative Government regarding the building of the railway was-
rather too visionary and foolish. None coﬁld say that the
lands would produce sufficient revenue to carry the burden
assisted by small Government subsidies. When the Railway was
finally built land sales did not build itrbut Government sub-
sidies did «- much larger than were intended. When the Con-
servatives after adopting the terms of Union embodied their
railway policy in a resolution moved by Sir George Cartier,
they unwittingly, or cunningly (it is difficult to say which)
virtually placed themselves on all fours with the Liberal party
and broke their promise‘to British Columbia before they had
made any effort to fulfil it. Cartier's resolution was that
the Railway referred to in the Address to her Majesty con-
cerning the Union of British Columbia with Canada, adopted
by this House on Saturday the lst April instant, should be
constructed and worked by private enterprise, and not by
the Dominion Government; and that the public aid to be given
to secure that undertaking should consist of such liberal
grants of land, and such subsidy of money, or other aid, not
unduly pressing on the industry and resources of the Domin-
ion, as the Parliament of Canada shall hereafter determine.3
This policy, incongruous as it was when considered
with the terms of union, was embodied in the Canadian Pacific
4 _
Railway Act assented to on June 14, 1872. The preamble to the

Act recited clause 11 of the terms of union, and set forth

1. 44 Victoria chap. 1. _
2. Parliamentary Debates, 1871, 669, 680, 682, 699, 714.
3. Ibid., 1871, p. 1027.

4. 35 Victoria chap. 71.
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“the féct that the House of Commons had resolved that the rail-
way should be built by a private enterprise and not by the
Government, ahd that the public aid to be given shoﬁld consist
of such liberal grants of land and such subsidy in money as
the Parliament of Canadé should thereafter detérmine, not in-

creasing the rate of taxation. The Act then provided that the

railway should be commenced within two‘years from the 20th day
of July, 1871, the date that British Columbia became a province
of Canada, and should be completed within ten years of the same
date. For two very obvious reasons the Act was absurd. In one
and the same document the Government solemnly promised British
_Columbia to build a transcontinental railway in ten years and
then promised the people of Canada that this great undertaking
would not mean an increase in texation. The truth of thé matter
surely is that the Macdonald Government, fearing failure of
their railway project, used the taxation proposal as a
subterfuge - to which they did not intend to bind themselves -
in order to gain the support of the whole Conservative party,
some of whose members were atl one with the Liberals in fearing
the enormous cost of the Pacific railway. It is impossible to
believe that the Government was sincere in promising to build
the railway withoutvcost to Canada.‘Sécondly, the Act was
absurd because even granting that there would be no financial
difficulties, no one could say that the great engineering
problems involved would make commencement of construction
possible by July 20, 1873, and completion of construction
possible by July 20, 1881. At the time the Act was passed

surveys had been in progress in British Columbia for almost a
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year, but they were far from complete. It was most improbable

that the route would be fixed by July 20, 1873; actually it

was not defined until July 13, 1878.

The whole railway policy of the Macdonald Government
was riddled with deceit and inconsistencies, based on hypoth-
eses in which only the most sanguine could possibly believe,
Macdonald successfully hoodwinked his party and Brifish Colum=-
bia, where he was extremely popular because it was he who
promised the.reilway and promised to buiid it, but it would be
interesting to know just how much of the trouble with British
Columbia which Mackenzie experienced because of the delay in
building the railway would have been avoided had Macdonald
remained in office. This much can be said, his resolution
promising no increase in taxation provided Mackenzie with a
‘very strong weapon to use against British Columbia in the
quarrel which later developed over the -non-fulfilment of
clause 11 of the terms of union. |

Having secured adoption of the terms of union and
passed the Canadian Pacific Railway Act'Macdonald began the
work of fulfilling his engagements to British Columbia. His
first task was to charter a company to undertake the task of
building the road with a land grant of not more than
50,000,000 acres and a subsidy of 330,002,000 as provided by

the Act of 1872, After many difficulties the Government

o

1. The first survey party set out from Victoria on the day
British Columbia entered the Dominion, July 20, 1871.

2, Vide Correspondence relative to the Canadaian Pacific Rail-
way, London, 1874.
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chartered in February, 1873, the Canada Pacific Railway Company,
a group of Canadian capitalists under the presidéncy of Sir

Hugh Allan.AIt was at this  juncture that,Seth Huntingdon,

AN
. Liveral member of the House of Commons for the county of
Shefford, Quebec, made a sensational charge in the House. On
April 10, 1873, he accused the Conservative party of fraud in
the elections held in 1872, because Sir Hugh Allan had contrib-
uted generously to its campaign fund. The charges were subse-
quently proved to have been unfounded but this incident
famous in Canadian History as the "Pacific Scandal" reflected
on Sir Hugh Allan's credit in such a manner that he failed to
raise the necessary capital for his undertaking? and was forced
to surrender his charter. For Macdonald it meant defeat in the
election in the autumn of 1873 and when Parliament met in Feb-
ruary, 1874, Mackenzie was Prime Minister, the leader of a
Liberal Government.

When the Liberals came to power the promise to begin
constructibn of the railway two years from the date of union
had already been broken; surveys in British Columbia had not
discovered a practicable route and British Columbia had sent
her first protest to thé non-fulfilment of the termé of union
to Ottawa? This situation placed Mackenzie face to face with

most formidable difficulties. In the first place he and his

party were regarded with great suspicion in British Columbia

1. Charter for the Construction of the Canadian Pacific Rail-
way, with papers and correspondence, Ottawa, 1873. _

2. Macdonald to Trutch, Sept., 19, 1873, Letter Book 20,690,
Ottawa Archives.

3. Trutch to Aikens, July 26, 1873, Dominion Sessional Paper
19, 1875, p. 2.
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and the circumstances of Macdbnald's fall from power on an
issue involving clause 11 éf the terms of union had augmented
this suspicion, Secondly,.there was no .longer any company
~ willing to-undertake the cpnstruction of the railway under the
Act of 1872. Nothing was more certain than that the promise of
completion of the railway within ten years would not be kept.
Thifdly, the Macdonald Government éeemingly as parf of its
policy of expedient deceit with regard to its obligétions to
British Columbia had made upwise commitﬁents about the Westernl
terminus of the.railway which were t6 increase and complicate
the difficulties of Mackenzie's position.

The proclamation of the Macdonald Government of June
7,’1873, "that Esquimalt in Vancouver Island be fixed as the
terminus of the Canadian Pacific Railway and that a line of
railway be located between the harbour of Esquimalt and Sey-
mour Narrows on the said island"l was as absurd as the Canad;
ian Pacific‘Railway Act of 1872. In fact Macdonald seems to
have been ready to go to any length of absurdity in his pre-
tense of fulfilling the terms of union to the satisfaction of
British Columbia. Haﬁing fixed the terminus at Esquimalt, in
July, 1873, when the two years within which railway construct-
ion was to begin in British Columbia was about to lapse, he
carried out the formality, which Amor de Cosmos denounced as
a "disreputable farce", of having a gang of men clear a few

hundred yards of the line and drive a few stakes at intervals

1. Order-in-Council, June 7, 1873, Dominion Sessional Paper
21, 1880-81, p. 26.

- 2., Island Railway Papers, compiled by Amor de Cosmos, Ottawa,
1880, p. 136. .
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at Esquimalt. The work proceeded no further and Within‘a week
British Columbia made her first protest to the Dominion% The
order-in-council fixing the terminus at Esquimalt was no less
absurd than this empty formality . The terminus was fixed at
Esquimalt without any definite knoﬁledge of where the main
line would run ianritish Columbié. Further the_pr@clamation
.if interpreted liberally was predicated on the doubtful prac-
ticability of two difficult and costly engineering feats. At
thé time it was thought that the line would reach the Pacific
when finally located at Burrard Inlet oer at a more northerly
point at Bute Inlet? The act of fiiing the terminus at Esquim-
alt and providing for an island railway meant that the Macdon-
ald Governmeﬁt, in order to satisfy the citizens of Vancouver
Island,who were anxious to have the railway terminate on the
Island, propsed to adopt Bute Inlet and carry the line to Van-
couvef Island by a series of spans resting on the Véldes Islan-
ds énd across the Seymour Narrows. Bridging the Straits was,
in Sandford Fleming's words a project "of a most formidable
character"3 which would cost twenty million dollars.'But this
did not worry the Macdonald Government nor the citizens of
Vancouvér'Island.

Not only was the terminus proclamatibn indefensible
from an engiheering point of view but it also unnecessarily

increased the commitments to British Columbia beyond those made

in clause 11 of the terms of union and further embarrassed

1. Vide supra p. 36.
2. Dominion Sessional Paper 10, 1872, p. 49.

3. Canadian Pacific Railway, Report of progress in the explor-
ation and surveys up to 5an. 1874, Ottawa, 1874, p. 23.
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Mackenzie since it gave Vancouver lsland a more substantial

ground upon which to base agitation for the railway than it

had before possessed. It is necessary to understand that Van-

o

couver Island was in wealth and population the dominant sec-
tion of British Columbia. Clause 11 of the terms of union
promising a :ailway'only to the Paéific Coasf fhreatened the
dominance of the Island. Therefore if the line were carried to
Esquimalt by means of a bridge between Mainland and Island its

continued dominance would, it was thought, be assured. The

‘Island consequently pressed Mac@onald to fix the terminus on

the Island and finally won from him the order-in-council of

" June 7, 1873, Having won this declaration from the Dominion

it was more than ever anxious for the transcontinental railway

and very annoyed when Mackenzie quite justly denounced the
railway policy of liacdonald in his first public ahnbuncement
on the Pacific railway at Sarnia late in November, 1873.

| - Mackenzie's definition of railway policy was somewhat
vague, but he madé'it quite clear that he would attempt to
obtain from British Columbia modification of clauée 11 of the

terms of union. "Such a bargain,® [as.that made with British

| Columbié] he declared,"was made to be broken". But not absol-

utely, for he announced his intention of keeping faith with the

Province in spirit, if not to the letter. In his pre-election

‘manifesto delivered to the electors of LamBiBn Mackenzie

3
further defined his position.

l., Vide supra p.28.
2. Globe, Nov., 26, 1873.

-3, Ibid., Jan. 9, 1874.



- We must meet the difficulties imposed upon Canada by the
reckless arrangements of the late goverrnment with reference
to the Pacific Railway.... That contract [clause 1I] has now
been broken., Over a million has been spent on surveys, but
no part of the line has yet been located, and the bargain is,
as we have always said it was, incapable of literal fulfil-
ment. We must, therefore, endeavour to arrange with British
Columbia for a relaxation of its terms as may give time for
the completion of the surveys and the acquisition of the
information necessary té an intelligent apprehension of the
work, for its subsequent prosecution with some speed, and
under such arrangements, as the resources of the country will
permit without too largely increasing the burden of taxation
on the people. : '

There is no denying‘the strength. of Mackenzie's policy. It
suffered from none of the pretense and deceits of Macdonald's;
it was honest and sincere. Mackenzie sought a conciliatory
policy becaﬁse he felt the responsibility of answering the
proteSts of British Columbia, and because he realized that the
terms of union were a formal pbligation which the Dominion
government was honour bound to carry oﬁt or-to secure its
modification.

| When the seésion,opened in February, 1874, Mackenzie
announced his intention of obtaining modification of the terms
" of union and of utilizing water stretches for transport across
the continent wherevgr possible instead of building an all-rail
route to the Pacific%v This policy was embodied in the Canadian
Pacific_Railway Act2 of 1874 which repeaied the Act of 1872.
The Act was similar to the Act of 1872 in that it stated that

the railway should be constructed by private enterprise and

that the public aid to be given should consist of such liberal

1, Vide Dominion Sessional Paper 51, 1874, for report of A.H.
Vaughan regarding the practicability of using water trans-
port from Fort Garry to the Rocky Mountains,

2. 37 Victoria chap. 14
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grants of land and such subsidy in money not increasing the
rate of taxation as the Parliament of Canada should determine. -
But in one important'respect it was different. The Governor-
in-Council was given power to construct the railway, or any por-
tion,thereof,as a public work if it were found more advantage-
ous to do so. Since the 'Pacific Scandal' had forced Sir Hugh
Allan to give up his charter no Company had appeared to under-
take the progect, and it was very doubtful at the time the Act
- of 1874 was passed whether the Government would be successful
in procuring the construction of the road by private enter-
prise. ‘

While the Canadian Pacific Railway Act was being
debated in the House, J.D. Edgar, a Toronto barrister whom
:Mackenzie had sent to British Columbia,was trying to arrange a
modification of the terms of the union, Edgar, under instruct-
ions from Mackenzie, offered in place of clause 11 of the terms
of union, to commence immediately a line of railway from Es-
quimalt to Nanaimo, to push the surveys on the mainland on with
all possible speed;ahd when the line was finally'lecated to
spend et least $1,500,000 annually on construction. In the
meantime constrﬁction would begin on a transcontinental waggon
road and telegraph line? Ihe negotiations on these terms got
'ﬁowhere and even ended in a quarrel for which Premier Walkem
of British Columbia was to blame. This unsatisfactory result
was not unexpected for with the increesed,suspicion of the
Dominion government in British Columbia following Macdonald's

;ix
g

3
4

1. Ed%ar to Walkem. May 8, 1874, Domlnlon Sessional Paper 19,
18 s Po 22.
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fall from power the British Columbia government was demanding
~a literal fulfilment of the terms of union%v The failure of
the negotiations, however, left Mackenzie in a much stronger
positioh, They had failed because of the sharp practices of
Walkem who had instigated a quarrel by refusing to recogﬁize
BEdgar as a fully qualified representative of the Dominion
Government. Walkem discussed railway difficulties with Edgar
but refused to discuss anything regarding a new contract be-
tween the Dominion and British Columbia because he doubted
Edgar's “official authority for appearing in the role of an
agent contracting for the Dominion of Canada"?-Since Edgar
enjoyed the complete confidence and support of ﬁackenzie the
failure of the negotiations under these circumstances left
British Columbia with the responsibility of reopening the
discussion of the terms of union. Walkem had now, it appe;red,
to approach Mackenzie as a suppliant. | J
Walkem'did not approach Mackenzie. He &ppealed direct-
ly to the Imperial Government for compensation for the grievanceé
inflicted on his province by the Dominioﬂ? He was probably

thinking of this line of action when he refused to discuss the

1, Hitherto British Columbia seemed not inclined to hold the
‘Dominion to clause 11 as a hard and fast contract. Trutch
on his mission to arrange the terms of union in 1870 had
declared that "he had been accused of making a very Jewish
bargain; but not even Shylock would have demanded his

*pound of flesh' if it had to be cut from his own body".
Order-in-council July 8, 1874. Domlnlon Se331ona1 Paper 19,
i875, p. 25.

2. Walkem to Edgar, May 18, 1874, Ibid., b. 24.

3. Trutch to Carnarvon, June 11, 1874 (received July 22)
Correspondence re C.P.R. Act so far as regards British Col-
umbia, London, 1875, p. 23.
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terms offered by Edgar. Constitutionally the act of a.provin-
cial govefnment appealing to the Imperial government for re-
dress from the Dominion government may not have been a sound
‘one, but it got Walkem out of a difficulﬁ position and annoyF
ed and embarrassed Mackenzie. A happy coincidence from Walkem's
point of view was the fact that Lord Carnarvon, Secretary of
Staté for the Colonies, a strong imperialist and supporter of
the Canadian Pacific Railway project, offered himself as arbi-

trator between the Dominion and British Columbia even before

the petition of British Columbia had reached London%> Macken-
zie, who was loa£h to let controi of his railway policy slip

. from Ottawa to_London, refused to admit that British Columbia
had any grievances to arbitrate. He was ready to build the
Pacific railway as quickly as the resources of Canada would
allow. He therefore rejected Carnarvon's offer of arbitration
stating that there.were."no diffefences to submit to arbitra-
tion“? A month later under the>persuasion of Lord Dufferin,
the Govefnor-General, a very able man and one who did not
hesitate to take a hand in shaping Government policy, Macken-
zie grudgingly accepted Carnarvon's offer of arbitration?
British Columbia accepted the offer a few days later%

\ Carnarvon absolved the Dominion Governmént from all

1. Carnarvon to Dufferin, June 18, 1874, Correspondence re the
C.P.R. Aet so far as regards British Columbia, p. 23.

2. These words were used in a telegram sent by H.C. Flecker,
the governor-general's secretary, to the Colonial Office on
June 18, Maxwell, J.A., Lord Dufferin and the Difficulties
with British Columbia, 1874-7, Canadian Historical Review,
v. 12, Toronto, 1931, note p. 369.

3. Order-in-Council, July 23, 1874, Correspondence re the

C.P.R, Act so far as regards British Columbia, p. 72.
4, Trutch to Carnarvon, Aug. 3, 1874, ibid., p. 69.
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blame in not fulfilling the terms of union -- as any sensible
man would have done -- and recommended‘terms which were not

unlike those already offered by Edgar. Carnarvon submitted his
1 ,
conclusions to Dufferin on November 17, 1874. His recommend-

ations, which became known as the Carnarvon Terms, were:

(1) That the railway from Esquimalt to Nanaimo shall be
commenced as soon as possible and completed with all prac-
ticable despatch, _ .

(2) Tnat the surveys on the mainland shall be pushed on with
the utmost vigour. On this point, after considering the rep-
resentations of your ministers,? I feel that I have no
alternative but to reply, as I do most fully and readily,
upon their assurances that no legitimate effort or expense
will be spared, first to determine the best route for the
line, and secondly, to proceed with the details of the
engineering work....

(3) That the waggon road and telegraph line shall be
immediately constructed....

(4) That $2,000,000 a year and not $1,500,000 shall be the
minimum expenditure on railway works within the Province
from the date at which the surveys are sufficiently completed
to enable that amount to be expended on construction. In
naming this amount I understand that, it being alike the
interest and the wish of the Dominion Government to urge on
with all speed the completion of the works now to be under-
taken, the annual expenditure will be as much in excess of
the minimum of 2,000,000 dollars as in any year may be found
racticable.

5) Lastly, that on or before the 31lst December, 1890, the
railway shall be completed and open for traffic from the
Pacific seaboard to a point at the western end of Lake
Superior, at which it will fall.into connection with existing
lines of railway through a portion of the United States, and
also with the navigation on Canadian waters. To proceed at
present with the remainder of the railway extending, by the
country northward of Lake Superior, to the existing Canadian
lines, ought not, in my opinion, to be required, and the
time for undertaking that work must be determined by the
development of settlement and the changing circumstances of
the country. The day is, I hope not very distant when a
continuous line of railway through Canadian territory will
be practicable, and I therefore look upon this portion of
the scheme as postponed rather than abandoned.

1. Carnarvon to Dufferin, Nov. 17, 1874, Correspondence re the
C.P.R. Act 80 far as regards British Columbia, p. 92.

2. The Dominion government maintained that the surveys were
"already being accomplished with the utmost despatch™.
Order-in-Council, Sept. 17, 1874, ibid., p. 80.




In drafting these proposals Carnarvon declared that
his conclusiqns upheld in the main the policy of the Mackenzie
government. This was quite true. They differed with Edgar's
proposals in only two respects: the amount to be spent annu-
ally on construction in British Columbia was increased from
$1,500,000 to $2,000,000 and a date, December 31, 1890, (which
the Dominion govermnment was not anxious to accept) was set for
the completion of‘the western section of the line from Lake
Suﬁerior to tﬂe Pacific. However Walkem who had abruptly dis-
miésed Edgar accepted the Carnarvon terms% The Dominion
accepted the terms remarking that "the conclusion at which
his Lordship has arrived 'upholds', as he remarks, in the
main, and subject only to some modificatioﬁs of detail the
policy‘adopted by this Government on this most embarrassing
question'. | |

At this point it appeared that a concord had been
reached between Canada and British Columbia. But liackenzie's
acceptance of the Carnarvon termsiled to a political crisis in
Canada which resulted in the repudiation of Carnarvon's work
by the Dominion. The reason for .this difficulty was that Mack-
enzie accepted the Carnarvon terms without the support of his
whole party. Important men in the party, of whom Edward Blake
was the leader, were hostile even to the obligations placed on

the Dominion by Carnarvon. In March, 1875, when Mackenzie

1., For a discussion of Walkem's part in the railway dispute
vide Gosnell, R.E., British Columbia, Sixty Years of Pro-
ress , Pt. 2, pp. 57=-71. :
2. Order-in-Council, Dec., 18, 1874, Correspondence re C.P.R.
Act so far as regards British Columbia , p. 95.
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‘introduced'a Bill to provide for the immediate construction

of the Esquimalt and Nanaimo railway he met with the opposition

of this faction of his party. Blake declared that the Govern-

ment had no constitutional authority to enter into a contract

with British Columbia to build the Esquimalt and Nanaimo Rail-~

way which would be binding on the House of Commons by whom the”

necessary funds for carrying out the contract would have to-ber

1l .

supplied. He went on to declare that
The engagement made at the time of union was ruinous to the
people of Canada, and in order to obtain relief from the terms
of that bargain he was willing to pay a reasonable price. He
did not believe that the price proposed to be paid was a
reasonable one.... It was a question whether this Parliament
was not running a risk in assenting to the Carnarvon terms
and breaking up the policy which was laid down last session
that the burden of this country should not be further in-
creased in constructing this railroad. :

The Esquimalt and Nanaimo Railway Bill, in spite of
the opposition, passed the House of Commons 101 to 62, most
of the votes being cast against the Bill by the Conservatives
who had in the first place promised the Island railway. In the
Senate however two Liberals joined with 22 Conservatives to

. S '
defeat the Bill 24 to 21.

The defeat of the Esquimalt and Nanaimo Railway Bill
in the Senate virtually marked the end of Mackenzie's concili-
atory railway policy. Mackenzie still avowed to British Colum-
bia his intention of carrying out "the letter and the spirit"

of the Carnarvon terms. He seems to have had no doubt that the

Esquimalt and Nanaimo Railway Bill would be introduced again

1. House of Commons Debates, 1875, p. 955.
2. &bid., p. 956.

3. Journals of the Senate, 1875, p. 283.
4. Maxwell, loc. cit., p. 374.
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in the House, but actually the Bill was dead for all time and
with it the Carnarvon terms. The defeat of the Bill had been
a victory for Edward Blake and his wing of the Liberal Party,
and before long Blake and not Mackenzie was in éontrol of the
whole party.

Mackenzie soon realized that to insist on the fulfil-
ment of the Carnarvon terms would lead to a serious disruption -
of his party% He chose to give way to Blake rather than to
take the risk of breaking his pérty. This he was nét altogether
loath to do as a matter'of policy, for, it must be remembered,
he, like Blake, had attacked the terms of Union, and had
accepted the Carnarvon terms grudgingly and largely because
he felt the responsibility of pacifying British Columbia.

On May 19, 1875, Blake entered the Mackenzie govern-
ment as Minister of Justice on the distinct understanding that
the E, and N, Railway project should be drbpped and that the
fulfilment of the Carnarvon terms, at least those that remained,
should not be construed to render it obligatory on Canada to
raise the rate of taxation in order to fulfil them. This is |
apparent from a letter from Blake to Mackenzie on May 18, 1875?

The result of our discussion this morning is that I agree to
join your Government on the understanding...that ‘the Govern-
ment should negotiate with Columbia for the payment of a
cash subsidy in lieu of the agreement to construct the Van-
couver Railway; that the Government shall propose to Parlia-
ment a measure for the carrying out of the old terms as

modified, providing for the payment of the cash subsidy, in
case that is agreed to; otherwise for the construction of

1, Dufferin in his speech at Victoria in 1876 said: "I very
much doubt whether he (Mackenzie) could have succeeded in
carrying it (the E. and N, Railway Bill) a second time even
in the House of Commons™. St. John, Molyneux, The Sea of
Mountains, Hurst and Blackett, London, 1877, v. 2, p. 204.

2. Blake to Mackenzie, May 18, 1875, Mackenzie Letfter Book, I.
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the Vancouver rallway, and providing that the obllgatlons to
secure an annual expenditure of two millions and to complete
the line from the Pacific to Lake Superior by 1890 shall not
be construed to render it obligatory on Canada further to
raise the rate of taxation. in order to their fulfilment.

The new railway policy inspired by Blake was made
public on September 20,'1875;by an order-in-council which was
to be the centre of the railway controversy for the next two

_ 1 :
years. As a fundamental statement of railway policy the order-

in-council placed the Government firmly on the Conservative

taxation résolution of 1871.

" It must be borne in mind that every step in the negotiations
were necessarily predicated upon and subject to the condit-
ions of the Resolution of the House of Commons, passed in
1871 contemporaneously with the adoption of the Terms of
Union with British Columbia, subsequently enacted in the Can-
adian Pacific Railway Act of 1872, and subsequently re-enact-
ed (after a large addition had been made to the rate of taxa-
tion) in the Canadian Pacific Railway Act of 1874; that the
public aid to be given to secure the accomplishment of the
undertaking "should consist of such liberal grants of land
and such subsidy in money or other aid, not increasing the
existing rate of taxation, as the Parliament of Canada

should thereafter determine".

Public opinion the order~in-council declared was in sympathy

with this declaration and

it cannot be too clearly understood that any agreements as
to the completion by a fixed time, must be subject to the
condition thrice recorded in the’ J ournals of Parliament, that
no further increase of the rate of itaxation shall be requlred
in order to their fulfilment.

The Island railway was written off Dominion obligations to

British Columbia. The Island railway the order-in-council

declared -- quite correctly -~ "was not a portion of the main

line of the Pacific railway'™.

1. Order-in-Council, Sept. 20, 1875, B.C. Sessional Papers,
1876, p. 565,




it was intended to benefit local interests, and was proposed
as compensation for the disappointment experienced by the
unavoidable delay in constructing the Railway across the
Continent.
There were no "obvious reasons" why the Dominion should under-
take to build the line. In place of the Esquimalt and Nanaimo
Railway the order-in-council provided for a cash subsidy for
any delays which might take place in the construction of the
Pacific railway.
It would seem reasonable that the people of British Columbia
should construct this work themselves, or (if they should
think other local works more advantageous) should, in lieu
of this, themselves undertake such other local public works,
and that the compensation to be given them by Canada for any
delays which may take place in the construction of the Pacif-
ic Railway should be in the form of a cash bonus to be
applied towards the local Railway, or such other local works
as the Legislature of British Columbia may undertake....
The cash bonus or compensation offered was $750,000.
Cn the receipt of this order-in-council in British
Columbia the railway controversy began again with renewed
vigour. Walkem sent back a reply "unhesitatingly but respect-
1
fully declining" the Dominion government's proposals. The
British Columbia government maintained that the Xsquimalt and
Nanaimo Railway was a portion of the Canadian Pacific Railway
and that the Dominion had hitherto considered it as part of
the Pacific railway and not a compensation for the disappoint-
ment eXxperienced because of the unavoidable delay in construct-
ing the Railway:across the Continent. Further it maintained
that the taxation resolution so carefully paraded in the

Dominion order-in-council had never been binding on British

1. Order-in-Council, Dec. 6, 1875, B.C. Sessional Papers,
1876, p. 568.
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Columbia, and even if it had been, since the rate of taxation
had been raised and since the Mackenzie government had changed
the Dominion obligations to British Columbia, it no longer had
any effect%A The proposed bonus of $750,000 was regarded as
"a proposed indemnity for a contemplated indefin;te postponement
of the construction" of the Pacific railway. ;
An acceptance of this proposed bonus would be equivalent to
a surrender of these guarantees [the expenditure of
$2,000,000 annually and the promise of completion by December
31, 18907 and an abandonment by British Columbia for all time
to come of her right to protest against fubure delays,
however protracted. ‘
British Columbia also pointed out that the order-in-council
made no mention of the waggon road and telegraph line promised
in the Carnarvon terms, and that the waggon road, though prom-
ised 12 months ago had not been commenced, that work on the
telegraph line though begun in the spring of 1875 had been
abandoned indefinitely. |
| An impé.sse had ggain been reached and 1876 ushered in
another year of strained relations between Province and Domin-
ion. Cries of secession were raised iﬁ the Province and the
man in control of the Dominion government, Edward Blake, thought
the Dominion would be well advised to let the Pacific province
go. "If", he declared, "under all these circumstances, the Col~-
umbians were to say, 'You must go on and finish thié railway
according to the terms, or take the alternative of geleasing us

from Confederation," I would take the alternative".

British Columbia again petitioned the Imperial Govern-

1, Order-in-Council, Jan. 4, 1876, B.C. Sessional Papers,
1876, p.569.
2. Senate Debates, March 20, 1876, p. 1bH5.
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ment to ihtervene;‘Lord.Qarnarvon was asked "to cause the
Dominion government to be immediately moved to carry out the
terms of the settlement“% Carnarvon again showed his willing-
ness to arbitrate? Thét he was displeased by the course of
events -in the Dominion is clearly revealed by a letter he
wrote to Lord Dufferin. ™I should, of course, have great
difficulty in believing,“ he Wrote, "that 2 Government which
only a year ago had undertaken specific obligations could con-
template -any departure from...them”? In answer Mackenzie, who
was again opposed to subjecting the policy of his government to
Carnarvon's arbitration declared that Carnarvon evidently "had
failed to appreciate efforts we [the Government] had made to
implement an impossible bargaln". The policy of his Govern-
ment as defined in the order-in-council of September, 1875,
would not be altered. Because of.Mackenzie‘s strong stand no
decision was taken by Carnarvon to enforcé his views on the
Dominion. He decided to wait until after a projected visit of
Lord Dufferin to British Columbia had been cémpleted before
making any specific suggestions? |

- - Lord Dufferin arrived in British Columbia in August,
1876, at a time, as he well realized, when British Columbia

was deeply discontented and annoyed with the Dominion Govern-

ment, His visit was informal and connected with no official

|

Trutech to Carnarvon, Feb. 2, 1876, B.C. Sessional Papers,
1876, p. 637.

Carnarvon to Trutch, April 27, 1876, ibid., p. 737.
Carnarvon to Dufferin, May 4, 1876, Blake Papers 71, 11
Ottawa Archives.

Maxwell, Loc. cit., p. 38L.

Carnarvon to Dufferin, May 23, 1876, B.C. Sessional Papers,
1877, p. 378.

O (S}
L N




- 52 -

business of the Dominion gqvernment, but it was generally
known that it was inspired by the railway difficulties., His
journey of goodwill has been deséribed often énd has been
acclaimed for allaying the bitter feeling on the Island and
Mainland and for creating a better spirit towards the Domin-
ion,which made possible;once again,an amiable settlement of
the railway controversy%- He spent about two months in the
Province visiting many points on the.coast and even journeying
into the interior as far as Kamloo?s. Wherever he went he
found the railway question always to the front, and in Victor-
ia he found a strong movement for secession from the Dominion.
On his reception in the capital he was invited to pass under
an arch bearing the bitter caption "Carnarvon Terms or Separa-
tion" =-- which he diplomatically refused to do? In the same
spirit he refused to accept a secession address which had
been prepared for him? he chose to assure the citizens of
Victofia of the goodwill of the Dominion government assuring
them that the Carnarvon terms would be implemented or a satis-
factory equivalent offeréd. He exposed the secession movement
on Vancouver Island as én absurd act of 'political suicide.
Great Britain would not allow the Island to go; and as a
Pacific naval base it "would be ruled as Jamaica, Malta, Heli-
goland‘and Ascension are ruled, through the instrumentality of

4
some naval or other officer".

1., Vide St John, The Sea of Mountains; Gosnell, British Col-
umbia, Sixty Years of Progress, Howay and Scholefield,
British Columbia.

2. St, John, op. cit., p. 155 et seq.

3. 'Ibid., p. 192 et seq.

4, Ibid., p. 217.
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Lord Dufferin left the Province with the firm belief
that the railway difficulties should be settled once and for
all by appeal to Lord Carnarvon's arbitration, He feared that
if the Dominion as the strongest party in the controversy
H-Should determine to settle the dispute as.it chose, the Prov-
ince,at least Vancouver lsland,might implement its threat to
secéde; In any case, he wrote to Mackenzie, a discontented
provinceAwas "an inconvenience and a scandal"% The subject
of the Esquimalt and Nanaimo Railway should be referred to
"Lord Carnarvon; in place of a bonus of $750,000 he might induce
British Columbia to accept $1,000,000? Dufferin likewise
wished Mackenzie to allow Carnarvon to settle the larger ques-
tion of the mainline.

"I think I see my way to an arrangement which might be reached

if only it could be pressed on the Province from without, that

is to say from England, and under which British Columbia might

be brought to acquiesce in the indefinite postponement of the

western section of the line without much trouble and without

our fair fame being again assailed.
The Dominion had made tﬁo agreements with British Columbia and
had broken both of them; Dufferin feared the consequences if
such action were to continue. He could "not find language to
express the shame and humiliation'" which he should feel if he
had to go back to England and say that a province had been lost
under his administration.

Mackenzie, however, remained obdurate. He intended to

- do nothing more; the order-in-council of September, 1875, was

final, Dufferin continued in his efforts, even stepping beyond

1. Dufferin to Mackenzie; Oct. 9, 1876, cited by Maxwell, loc.

cit., p. 383.
2. Tbid. :
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his constitutional privileges as Governor-General, but Macken-
zie, supported by his Ministers, replied’that Lord Carnarvgﬁ
"should not have‘pressed his interference‘upon Canada and
that he [Mackenzie] never would consent to make another mis-
take of the kind by again appearing before Lord Carnarvon as
a jUdge..."2
Mackénzie carriéd‘his point and Lord Carnarvon after
a silence of seven months answered the petition of British
Columbia ﬁrging them to have patience and accept for thebtimé
being the railway policy of the Dominion government? VﬁNo
vhasty action should be pressed upon the Canadian Government,"
he wrote, "whom, I need hardly saj, I believe to be thoroughly
sincere, in their desire to construct the mainline of railway
with all the expedition of which the resources of the country )
énd the engineering problems remaining yet unsolved will admit.
It was unreasonable, he urged upon British Columbia, to expect
commencement of the mainline of the railway when so much work
had yet to be done in locating the route and western terminus.
For this reason he urged the Provincé to await with patiencé
the completion df the surveys,
BetWeen the coming spring...and the spring of 1878 it may
fairly be expected that many points now surrounded with doubt °
will have become more clearly defined, and I fully hope and
believe that after the very limited delay of a single summer

the Province of British Columbia will find that there is no

longer any obstacle to the active prosecution of the under-
taking....

l. Vide Maxwell, loc. cit., pp. 386-88.

2, Memorandum on Conversation with Lord Dufferin on British
Columbia Affairs on Nov. 16 and 18, 1876, MlMackenzie Papers
I1, 779, Ottawa Archives.

3. Carnarvon to Dufferin, Dec. 18, 1876, B. C Sessional Papers
1877, p. 381.
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Cérnarvon diplomatically avoided a discussion of thé
Esquimalt and Nanaimo Railway aﬁd the proposed @750,000 cash
bonus, stating that he was at the moment "unable to pronounce
an opinion as to the course which should be taken, either with
regafd to the Esquimalt and Nanaimo Railway or with regard to
the delays which have occured, or which may yet occur, in the
construction of the mainline"., He did say however that it
would "be a source of much satisfaction to [him] to learn
that the Province were willing to accept the principle of a
money equivalent for the line in question, the construction
of which [he Waé] bound to say [@id] not appear to[hi@lto
be the most judicious exﬁenditure of capital'.

British Columbia was thus coufteously but fidrmly
rebuffed by Carnarvon, who clearly enough had gone back on his
own terms., In March, 1877, British Columbia drafted her reply%
They deeply'regretted"that-HisﬁLordship should have been un-
able to feel himself in a position to urge upon Canada the
necessity of carrying into éffect at once the terms of the
agreement entered into in 1874," but they, however, felt "that
they [were] bound to accept the recommendations of Lord Carn-
arvon to concede td the Dominion Government the short delay of
another summer...." With regard to the Esquimalt and Nanaimo
railway and thé cash bonus no decision was made. The conclus-
ion of the reply was bitter.

They [desired] particularly to report that the succession of

failures on the part of the Dominion Government to fulfil
the several Railway agreements, solemnly entered into with

1. Order-in-Council, March 26, 1877, B.C. Sessional Papers,
1877, p. 431,
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the Profince, [héd]-produced a feeling of disappointment and
distrust so widespread and intense, as.to séverely-and injur-

iously affect the commercial and industrial interests, and
seriously retard, the general prosperity of this portion of
the Dominion.,

In November, 1877, since the year of waiting proposed
by Lord Carnarvon had practically elapsed and since railway
construction had not commenced in British Columbia, the Pro-
vincial government again petitioned the Dominion government
and Lord Carnarvon% The Dominion was asked for the result of
the year's surveys in order that the Executive Couhcil might
lay before the Provincial Legislature definite information with
reference to the intentions of the Dominion government to-
carry out its railway obligations to the Province under the.
Carnarvon terms of 1874. Lord Carnarvon was urge& to be "care-
ful to discountenance any further unnecessary delay in the
commencement of railway construction within the Province®,

The report of the Chief Engineer in charge of the
surveys, Sandford Fleming, had been delayed longer than Mack-
‘enzié had anticipated and as a result the route in British
Columbia had not been determined. The Dominion was therefore
obliged to reply thaf‘

...the delay:deémed necessary before advertising for tenders.
was conseguent upon the manifest necessity of making a care-
ful instrumental survey of the Fraser Valley route, upon
which an exploratory survey only had been made in previous
%ﬁ:i?.as early as the season [1877] permitted a large staff

of engineers was sent to perform this work...
That the field work was finished about the beginning of Nov-

ember, and in the course of that month the engineers returned

to Ottawa, where they are now engaged plotting the resultis
of the season's work.

1. Order~-in-Council, Nov. 8, 1877 Dominion Sessional Paper 21,

1881, p. 30.



- 57 -

That it will take some time to accomplish this and to report

in such detail as will enable the Government to come to a

decision as to the value of the route.
Because of these circumstances the government'found it imposé-
ible to make a definite decision on the route to be followed.
British Columbia would have to wait for definite assurances
until the report of the engineers was complete.

For three months British Columbia waited. By March,
1878, no more information regarding the route and coﬁmencement
of construction had been received from Cttawa and on larch 18
British Columbia sent another dispatch té OCttawa asking if
construction wouid be commenced in the Province as early as
possible.in the spring of 1878? The Province received little
satisfaétioﬁ. She was again informed that the engineers had not
finished their work, but that as sooﬂ as this Work were done
the Government would endeavour to decide upon the best route to
e taken through British Columbia, when tenders would be
invited in accordance with the terms of the Railway Act of 1874?
Shortly after this exchange of notes between Province

and Dominion the Dominion government reached a decision on the
route to be followed in British Columbia., On May 23, 1878, the
order-in-council of June 7, - 1873, fixing Esquimalt as the
western terminus of the railway was rescinded% And on May 29,

1878, British Columbia was informed that "Burrard Inlet would,

in all probability, be adopted as the western terminus and that

1. Order-in-Council, Dec. 24, 1877, Dominion Sessional Paper 21
- 1881, p. 32.

2. Order-in-Council, M¥arch 18, 1878, ibid., p. 33.

3. Scott to Richards, March 27, 1878, ibid.

4. Order-in-Council, May 23, 1878, ibid., p. 34.
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in consequence of this it was deemed advisable
that a strip of land should be reserved for the conveyance
to the Dominion Government, in accordance with the 1llth para-
graph of the terms of Union, along the said line of railway,
beginning at English Bay or Burrard Inlet and following the
River Fraser to Lytton, thence up the valley of the North
Thompson, passing near to Lake Albreda and Cranberry to
Téte Jaune Cache, thence up the valley of the Fraser River
to the summit of Yellow IHead, or boundarX between British
Columbia and the FNorth-West Territories. :
The choice of the Burrard Inlet-Fraser Valley-Yellowhead Pass
2
route was confirmed by an order-in-council July 13, 1878, and
on September 3, 1878 British Columbia was formally requested
to convey to the Dominion the lands specified in clause 11 of
_ _ ]
the terms of union along the railway line in British Columbia.
The end of the acrimonious dispute between the Prov-
ince and the Dominion, however, had not been reached., In June,
- 1878, the Hon. George A. Walkem again became Premier of Brit-
ish Columbia and with his return to power British Columbia
renewed her attacks on the Dominion. The Elliott government
which had been in power since January 25, 1876, had adopted a
conciliatory policy on railway matters., Elliott had accepted
Carnarvon's advice to await patiently the completion of the
surveys in the Province. Walkem's policy, on the other hand,
was to fight the Dominion. On July 29, he told the Legislative -
Assembly that the "railway question was sStill in a very
unsatisfactory condition....I would remind you that the time
has come when delay in construction of the work, both on the

4
Mginland and 1sland can no longer be justified...."™ Drastic

1. Braun to Richards, May 31, 1878, Dominion Sessional Paper
21, 1881, p. 35.
2. Ibid., p. 36.

3, Ibid., p. 37, . ‘s .
4. Journals, Legislative Assembly of British Columbia, 1878,

p. 78.
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action, Walkem belleved, was necessary. On August 29 he moved
a resolutlon that unless the Dominion began construction by
May, 1879,

British Columbia shall thereafter have the right to exclus-
ively collect and retain her customs and excise duties and
to withdraw from the union; and shall also, in any event, be
entitled to be compensated by the Dominion for losses sus-
tained by reason of past delays and the failure of the
Dominion Government to carry_out their railway and other
obligations to the Province.
2
The resolution was carried 14 to 9 and forwarded to the
. ' 3
Secretary of State for Canada for transmission to London.
4
The secession resolution had no serious consequences,

but it was a clumsy and ill-judged piece of statesmanship. At
the time it was passed Mackenzie was making active preparation
to begin construction. In 1874, in view of the Carnarvon terms
and the proposed immediate construction of the Island railway
he had obtained some 5,000 tons of ralls and shipped them to
Hsquimalt and Nanaimof.) In August, 1878, in preparation for
work on the mainland he entered into a contract.for their re-
mdval to Yale? He proposed to begin construction at Yale, and
tenders were invitéd for the portion of the line from Yale to
Kamloops Lake.

At this point in the history of the Canadian Pacific

Railway Mackenzie fell from power as a result of the elections

1. Journals, Legislative Assembly of British Columbia, 1878,
p. 105.

2. 1bid., p. 110.

3. Richards to Secretary of State for Canada Sept. 26, 1878,
B.C. Sessional Papers, 1879, p. 251.

4, It was "lost" in Ottawa and did not reach London till

March 1879, by which time a better feeling had arisen and

no action was therefore taken. Howay and Scholefield, op.

Clt. V. )y . 5960 )

T5Tand Raliway Papers, compiled by Amor de Cosmos, p. 157.

Dominion Sessional Paper, 43 E, 1879.

o o

o m
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of September 1878. Tﬁe elections. of Canada strongly endorsed
Macdonald's "National Policy"l and the Conservatives returned
to power with é strong majority. The return of Macdonald
resultéd in a remarkable change of feeling in British Columbia.
Secession was forgotten., Trutch wrote to Macdonald that 1878
marked the renewal of the "entente cordiale™ between Province
and Dominion? Victoria was particularly jubilant, for on Sep-
tember 17 when Kingston failed to elect Macdonald she held out
her hand to him and elected him as one of her own representat-
i#es . Much good, it was thought, might be expected when the
Prime Ministervof Canada Was the senior representative of the
capital city of British Columbia%

Construction, however, was not begun immediately on
the opening of the season of 1879. The new government was not
satisfied with the Burrérd Inlet-Fraser Valley route and decided
on further surveys. On April 22, 1879, an order-in-council was
adopted which stated that in the absence of satisfactory reasons
having been given fof_cancelling the order-in-council of June 7,

1873, which named Esquimalt as the western terminus of the rail-

way, it was decided that the order-in-council of May 23, 1878,

1. "National Policy" was principally the policy of high pro-
tective tariffs although other features such as opening up
the west and developing canals and railways were coupled
with it to give it the form of a great national program.
The victory of a high tariff policy of course was due to
the six gloomy years of depression which followed the panic
of 1873. :

2. Trutch to Macdonald, Oct. 15, 1878, Macdonald Papers, Trutch
Letters, I, 472, Ottawa Archives.

3. Judge Gray to Macdonald, Oct. 26, 1878, Macdonald Papers,
General Letters, 399, Ottawa Archives. "It seems providen-
tial Kingston should have thrown you over",




- 61 -

which annulled the order-in-council‘of June 7, 1873, should be
annulled and the former one renewéd%’ This action immediately
produced a query from British Columbia. On November 5, 1878?
the Provincial government, on the_réquest of the Dominion, had
fully reserved the lands lying in the railway belt from Burrard
Inlet to Téte Jaune Cache. Should this reservation in view of
the order-in-council of April 22, nbw be cancélled?s In reply
the Dominion Govefnment informed British Columbia that the
order-in-council of April 22 was siﬁply to rescind the order-
in-council of May 23, 1878, so as to leave the Government free
to adopt whichever route might appear in the public interest
the most eligible. There was no need "to release the reserva-
tion of land on any route4 as it was felt that this would
result in no serious inconvenience for the short period which
would elépse before the location of the railway would be finally
established? After further surveys the Macdonald Government
finally endorsed the Burrard Inlet route defined by Mackenzie?
Sandford Fleming had reported in favour of a northern route
from Port Simpson through Peace River_Pass, but Colonel R.C.

Moody had sent in a strong recommendation of the Burrard Inlet

l, Order-in-Council, April 22, 1878, Dominion Sessional Paper,
21, 1881, p. 43.

2. Order-in-Council, Nov. 5, 1878, ibid., p. 39.

3. Order-in-Couneil, May 14, 1879, ibid., p. 44.

4, British Columbia had reserved a twenty mile strip of land
along the east coast of Vancouver Island for the E. and N,
Railway, B.C. Sessional Papers 1873-4, no paging. Macdonald
probably was still considering the possibility of using the
Island railway and bridging the straits to the mainland at
Bute Inlet or some other point, Vide infra pp. 106-107.

5. Order-in-Council, June 12, 1879, Dominion Sessional Paper
21, 1881, p. 45.

6. Order-in-Council, Oct. 4, 1879, ibid., p. 46.




- 62 -

route% On December 16, British Columbia was asked to convey to
the Dominion Government the land for twenty miles on each side
of the railway line as defined in the order-in-council of July
13, 1878?

The railway controversy, as far as the mainline was
concerned, for the Esquimalt and Nanaimo line, with which we
are not concerned, was to continue a thorny.question in Brit-
ish Columbia and Dominion politics, was at a close. Two days
before the Macdonald government fixed the route along the
Fraser to Burrard Inlet Walkem had addressed a telegram to Ott-
awa stating that "delay in commencing Railway construction
causes great dissatisfaction"? Macdonald replied, "One huhdred
and twenty-seven (127) miles from Yale to Kamloops to be con=-
structed forthwith. Tenders to be received till seventeenth
(17th) November. Work to be vigorously prosecuted“% Construc-

tion began at Yale May 15, 1880.

1. Vide infra pp. 107-108. ,
2. Order-in-Council, Dec. 16, 1879, Dominion Sessional Paper
21, 1881, p. 47.
3. Walkem to Macdonald, Oect. 2, 1879 B.C. Sessional Papers,
1880, p. 337.
4, Macdonald to Trutch, Oct. 6, 1879, ibid., p. 338.
5. Inland Sentinel, Sept. 23, 1880.




CHAPTER III
THE LOCATION OF THE MAIN LINE OF THE CANADIAN PACIFIC
RAILWAY IN BRITISH COLUMBIA

Clause 11 of the terms of union between British Col-
 umbia and the Dominion of Canada has already been‘critiéized;
it placed a seemingly impossible financial burden on the Domin-
ion; the time limit of ten years was an obvious mistake. Yet
even if the Dominion had been so wealthy that the railway
would not have embarrassed her, or even if she had been given
an unlimited time to build the railway, the railway bargain with
British Columbia would still have been a surprisihg‘obligation
for the Dominion to assume, for in 1871 no one could say with-
out fear of contradiction that a practicable line for a rail-
way could be built through the mountains of British Columbia to
the Pacific.

It is true that Alfred Waddington had defined what he
considered a feasible route for a railway through British Col-
umbia.,l that Walter Moberly and Joseph Trutch had discovered a
good route,2 that Milton and Cheadle as a result of their trans-
continental journey in 1863 had come to the conclusion "that a
road might be constructed by the Yellow Head P.ass,“’3 but the

reputedly best opinion on railway communications in British

Columbia had declared that to build a railway through the Rocky

1. Vide supra pp. 15-16,

2. 1bid., pp.14-15.

3. Viscount Milton and Cheadle, W.B., The Northwest Passage by
Land, London, Cassell, Petter and Galpin, 1867 (7th ed.),
P. 323,
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Mountains to the Pacific was impracticable. This was the opin-
ion of Captain Palliser, who was sent to Canada in 1857 by the
Imperial Government to ascertain "whether one or more practic-
able passes [for a railwail exist over the Rocky Mountains
within the British territory™. Palliser did not say definite-
ly that a railway could not be built across the Rockies, but
he clearly intimated that the project would be impracticable
2
and prohibitively costly. In 1863 in his report to the British
Government he made the profound statement that
The knowledge of the couhtry on the whole would never lead
me to advise a line of communication from Canada across the
continent to the Pacific exclusively through British terri-
tory. The time has for ever gone by for effecting such an
object, and the unfortunate choice of an astronomical bound-
ary line has completely isolated the central American
possessions of Great Britain from Canada in the east, and
also almost debarred. them any eligible access from the Pacif-
ic coast on the west.
Palliser was an eminent authority and his conclusions were
naturally taken seriously. The best evidence we have of this
is that Sandford Fleming, who was appointed Engineé}-in-Chief
-of the Canadian Pacific Railway in 1871, has recorded that
Palliser led him to believe it was needless to seek a route
for the railway in British Columbia and that he consequently
approached the task of locating a practicable line in British
Columbia with the purpose of obtaining all the facts he could

4
in order to prove Palliser wrong.

1. Instructions from the Secretary of State to Captain Palliser,
Papers relative to the Exploration of Captain Palliser,
London, 1859, p. 1.

2. Further Papers relative to the Exploration of Captain Pall-
iser, London, 1860, p. 5.

3. Great Britain, Parliamentary Papers, London, 1863, (3164) p.1l6.

4. Report of the Canadian Pacific Royal Commission, Ottawa,
1882, p. 1308,




On examining the geographic features of British Colum-
bia =-- or on travelling over the main line of the Canadian
Pacific Railway in British Columbia as it exists today =-- no
one can wonder why Captain Palliser advised against building
a railway across the Province, or why Sandford Fleming approach-
ed his task in 1871 with the heroic determination of disprov=-
ing Palliser. At the time BritishAColumbia entered the Union
it was generally known in the Kast as a "Sea of Mountains".

The description was only a little exaggeratéd. But far.more
important than the magnitude and extent of the mountains of
British Columbia, from the point of view of east and west
»communiqations,is-the unhappy physical fact that they run from
north to south in two massive chéins, thé'Coast Chain, and the
Rocky Mountain Chain% Each chain is composed of several dis-
tinct mountain ranges not always continuous but very irregular
and broken. The Coast Chain is an alpine region-about.lOO
miles in width running parallel to the coast. North of the
mouth of the Fraser River its slopes come sheer down to the
waters of the Pacific. The Rocky Mountain Chain,apparently
running parallel to the Coast Mountains Eut'really converging
towards the north till it forms with the Coasf Chain one chain,
consists of four distinct mountain ranges. Thé first and great-
est range is the Rocky Mouniain Range which forms the first
great barrier to communications from the east, its mountains

'rising to massive heights -- some of its peaks reach 12,000

1. The Selkirk Range, which I have considered as part of the
Rocky Mountain Chain, is geologically a separate chain of
mountains being much older than the Rocky Mountains proper.
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feet above the sea -- above the eastern prairie. Fortunately
the Rocky Mountains are in places broken by great lateral
spurs between which rivers of the great central plain of Cana-
da take their rise. Through these gashes the builders of the
Canadian Pacific Railway found practicable routes to the west.
Immediately to the west of the Rocky Mountains, however, stand
the three other great ranges of the Rocky Mountain Chain in
British Columbia, the Selkirk, the Cariboo and Gold Mountains.
They are separated from each other and the Rocky Mountains
ohly by narrow valleys, Often they block the approaches to the
Rocky Mountain pasees from the west rendering it necessary to
find routes over their‘summits or to take a circuitous route
around their flanks. \

Betweeh the Coast and Rocky Mountain Chains there
extends an elevated plateau averaging from a little under
3,000 to fully 4,000 feet above sea level. It is a remarkable
irregular plateau; it is grooved by deep river channels,
broken by rocky ridges and inferior mountain masses; it has
many lakes occupying deep depressions in its surface; it is
intersected in many directions by numerous broad sheltered
and undulating va;leys; in some quarters it is heavily timber-
ed, in others scantily timbered; in some districts there is
open prairie country.

On the western side of the Rocky Mountain Range in
the Rocky Mountain "Trehch? three great rivers of British
Columbia take their rise, the Columbia, the Fraser and the
Kootenay. The course of each is necessarily irregular as each

has to find a course to avoid the massif barrier presented by
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the Cariboo or Selkirk Mountains. The Columbia flows north
round the Selkirk range then due south; the Fraser north round
the Cariboo Mountains and then south. Both flow south for the
greater part of their course then west to the seé. The Kooten-
ay flows south from its source around the Selkirks and then
north into Kootenay Lake whence it flows to join the Columbia.
The big bends in thése three rivers rendered it impracticable
.to follow their courses from the west side of the Rocky Moun-
tains; ways had to be found through the mountain ranges. More-
over two of the great rivers, the Kootenay and the Columbia
early found their way into the United States.

Other rivers of British Columbia take their rise in
the great central plateau, the majority of which flow westward
and southwest c«cutting their way through the Coast range to the
sea. The Peace River,and far to the.nofth, the %gird River,
alone of the rivers which rise in British Columbia flow throﬁgh
the Rocky Mountains. Of those flowing westward the principal
are the Naas, Skeena, and Bella Coola,which flow into Bentick
Arm, and the Homathco which flows into Bute Inlet.

Presumably these rivers flowing westward to the Pacif-
ic might be expected to offer a good route for a railway to
the Pacific once it had surmounted the barrier of the Rocky
Mountain Chain. But unfortunately they invariably possess
objectionable physical features which makes construction of a
railwéy in their valley of tremendous difficulty. Marcus Smith,
the engineer in charge of the C.P.R.. surveys in British Colum-
bia, wrote in May, 1873:

Though the rivers (especiallyrthe Fraser) descend with toler-
able uniformity, the valleys in British Columbia -- every-

.



- 68 -

' where narrow -- do not leave much margin between the rivers
and the foot of the slopes of the hills or high plains that
bound them; and as the river rolls onward to the ocean,
cutting deeper into the earth, this margin becomes more and
more contracted till, on entering the foot hills of the Cag-
cade Chain, it entirely disappears...

In passing through the mountain ranges the river sometimes
rushes in a torrent for miles between perpendicular walls of
solid rock, from twenty to thirty to several hundred feet in
height....

-The Rocky Mountain Chain was not the only, or, as it proved,

“the greatest obstacle to a practicable railway line in British

Columbla. A feasible pass was found in the Rocky lountains dur-
ing the flrst year of the Canadlan Pacific Railway SUrveys, but

eight years were spent -- although not necessarily -- before a

,rbute across the Coast Mountains to the Pacific was adopted.
Knowledge of the topography of British Columbia when

~the Canadian Pacific Railway surveys began in July, 1871, was
uncertain.'Severél paéses were known to exist through the Rock-
ies, but little was known of them with scientific precision.

Alexander Mackenzie,in 1793, crossed the Rocky Mountains by way
of the Peace River. David Thompson discovered'the Howse Pass in
1807, and in 1810 he crossed the Rocky Mountains by the Atha-
basca Pass, which became the regular route between east and
west for the North West and Hudson's Bay Company fur-traders.
The first recorded departure from this route was made in 1841

‘when Sir George Simpson on his journey round the world crossed

the Rocky Mountains by Simpson Pass.

The knowledge of the mountains of British Columbia

1. Canadian Pacific Railway, Report of Progress on the Explor-
ations and Surveys up to January, 1874, Ottawa, 1874, p.1l40,

2. For the early journeys across the Rocky Mountains vide
Wheeler, A.O.,, The Selkirk Range, Ottawa, 1905, and Flemlng,
Sandford, Voyages to the Pacific, Transactions of the Royal
Society of Canada, 1889, Section II, p. 89.
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supplied by the early explorers, fur-traders and travellers,
was valuable, but scanty. Thus, in 1857, when Great Britain was
considering the project of east to west communications across
Cénada, she was obliged to send Captain Palliser to explore the
country west of Fort Garry and the passes of the Rocky Moun-
tains. Palliser's adverse opinion on the practicability of
constructing a railway across the Rocky Mountains we have
already mentioned. Assisted by Dr. James Hector he examined
-six passes in the Rocky Mountains by the end of 1858. Two
crossed the mountains from the South Saskatchewan to Kootenay
River, the Kananaskis and Vermillion Passes; two crossed from
the Kbotenay to Columbia Rivers, Lake Pass and Beaver ¥oot
Pass; one crossed from the South Branch .of the Saskatchewan

to the North Branch, thé Little Fork Pass, and one from the
gouth branch of the Saskatchewan to the Colurﬁbia9 Kicking
Horse Pass% Another member of Palliser's party, Captain Thom-
as Blakiston made independent explorations in the Rocky Moun-
tains,. His report dealt with eight passes across the Rocky
Mountains -- the Leather (Yellow Head), Athabasca, Howse,
Kicking Horse, Vermillion, Kananaskis, Crow's Nest and Kooten-
ay. It is of interest that though three of the passes he men-
tioned are now used by railways, he concluded with the remark
that "at present no pass in British territory is practicable

2
for wheeled carriages',

Two years after Palliser had laid his report before

1. Palliser, Further Papers, p. 36.
2, Ibid., p. 61. The italics are Capt. Blakiston's.
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the British Government, in 1863,Mr. Walter Moberly set out on
his Columbia River Expedition. Moberly was sent out by Joseph
.Trutch, Chief Commissioner of Lands and Works of the Colony
of British Columbia, "to lay out the best line for a Waggon
Road from the Lower Fraser to the Columbia River"% His "first
main object" was to ascertain "the best route from the Eastern
end of Shuswap Lake to the Columbia". On September 10, 1865,
Moberly reported that he had discovered a practicable route
across the Gold kKountain Range connecting the valley of the
Fraser, Thompson and Shuswap waters with those of the Colum-
bia River by means of a low pass,which he had named Eagle Pas;%
It was suitable,he reported,for either a waggon road or a rail-
way .

Having discovered a route from Shuswap lLake across
the Gold Range tq the Columbia,Moberly was faced with the
problem of findihg-a pass through the Selkirks if he were to
avoid the>1ong route round the bend of the Columbia to the
Rocky Mountain passes, Howse or Vermillion. Acbordingly in
the autumn of 1865 Moberly commenced his explorations in the
Selkirks. He, himself, proceedéd up the valley of the Ille-
cillewaet River; one of his assistants, Green, explored the
valley of the Gold Creek; another assistant, Tufnbull, entered
the valley running east from the head of Upper Arrow Lake.

Unfortunately owing to the lateness of the season and the im-

possibility of getting Indians to go far into the mountains

1. Instructions, Reports and Journals relating to the Govern-
ment BExploration of ccuntry lyving between the Shuswap and

Okanagan Lakes and the Rocky Mountains, 1866, p. 1.
5. Hoberly to Trutch, Sept. 10, IB65. i1bid., p. 2.




these explorations were not completed. Mober;y; however,

reported that

judging from the character of the mountains, on both sides
of Gold Creek...and that of the Ille-cille-waut, that should
further exploration of them result in the discovery of a
pass at low level, I think it very problematical indeed if
it would be advisable to adopt either of them as the line
for the main thoroughfare to Vermillion pass in the Rocky
Mountains, as the valleys in places are very narrow, and the
mountiins on both sides steep and subject to heavy avalanch-
€S+

Moberly Waé not destined to discover the pass through the Sel-
kirks.which.was to be used by the Canadian Pacific Railway?

It was noﬁ till sixteen years later that Major A.B. Rogers
“acting on the suggestiﬁn contained in Moberly's report traced
the Illecillewaet to its source in the Illecillewaet glacier,
ascended Mount Avalanche and gazed down on the route through
the Selkirks which the railway was to follow? But Moberly, by

1866, had mapped out generally the whole route of the Canadian

l, Instructions, Reports and Journals relating to the Govern=-
ment Exploration of the country lying between the Shuswap
and Okanagan Lakes and the Rocky Mountains, p. 5.

2., Moberly claims that one of his assistants, Albert Perry,
made an exploration of the Illecillewaet River and its
southeasterly branch and Rogers Pass in 1866. (Moberly, W.,
Early History of the C. P. P. Road, Art, Historical and
Scientifiec Association, Vancouver, B.C., p. 5). There is
much disagreement on the question whether Perry or Rogers
discovered Rogers Pass. The important point, however, is
that Moberly in 1866, and later in 1871, was of the opinion
that no practicable pass existed through the Selkirks. He
states in his Early History of the C.P. R. Road (p. 5)
that he considers the location of the C. P. R. in the Sel=
kirks "a very serious mistake'™., It is interesting to note,
however, that in 1885 Moberly wrote that he gave Major
Rogers "the information that has led to the final adoption
of the line for the railway by the route I so long and
anxiously struggled for...." (Moberly, W., The Rocks and
Rivers of British Columbia, London, H. Blacklock and Co.,
1385, p. 100). The two statements are hardly reconcilable.

5. Vide infra pp. 158-159. :

v
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1
Pacific main line in British Columbia. In 1858 he had made an
exploration through the canyons of the Fraser between Yale and
Lytton, concluding that though this route presented great
nafural difficulties it presented in both directions and
grades a good line for either waggon road or railway? S0 at the
gompletion of his Columbia River explorations in 1866 '“he was
fully coﬁvinced that a remarkably good line for a railway could
be - obtained from Burrard Inlet via Eagle Pass, the valley of
the Columbia River and the Howse Pass through the Rocky Moun-
tains? When the route was finally fixed for the railway it
didn't follow the Golumbia but went over the Selkirks by
Roger's Pass and over the Rocky Mountains by Kicking Horse Pass,
but.Moberly had fixed the route with admirable approximation
and had made an important contribution to the solution of the
problem of crossing the Selkirks. The work of one other British
Columbia explorer is of interest in the story of the location
of the Canadian Pacific Railway in British Columbia. Alfred
Waddington,like Moberly, carried on explorations in British Col=-

umbia to discover a feasible route for a road or railway,and

like Moberly,he chose to refute Captain Palliser by defining a

1. Possibly the earliest suggestion of the route across the
mountains now followed by the C. P, R, is that made by a
map "To illustrate a paper on the means of communication
with the Pacific Ocean"™ by Capt. M.H. Synge R.E., drawn by
John Arrowsmith and published for the Royal Geographical
Society by John Murray in 1852. The route follows the Bow
River, which is named, crosses the mountains and goes round
the Big Bend of the Columbia, crossing the Gold Range north
of Shuswap Lake and following down the Fraser. Proceedings
of the Royal Geographical Society, 1852, v. 22, p. 174.

2. Moberly, W., Barly History of Canadian Pacific Railway, p. 4.

3. Ibid., p. 6.

°
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practicable route. The route he chose has been already describ-
ed. It ran from Yellow Head Pass through the Cariboo country
to Quesnel Mbuth on the Fraéer, thence over the Chilcotin
Plain to Bute Inlet. This route was cérefully examined by the
Canadian Pacific survey parties, and had the difficulty of
bridging fhe Seymour ﬁarrows to connect the main line with an
Island railway not been so great, and Bute Inlet offered a
bettef'harbour, it might have been selected.

Preparations for the Canadian Pacific Railway surveys
in British Columbia began‘soon after the drafting of the terms
of union between Canada and British Columbia. In the spring of
1871, Sandford Fleming, who was serving at the time as Engineer-
in-Chief of the Intercolonial Railway,was appointed Engineer-
in-Chief of the Canadian Pacific Railway in charge of surveys
and construction,with the simple instructions to fulfil the‘
railway clause of the terms of union with British Columbia% No
instructions were given him regarding in what general location
the Government wished the railway to run. "No point on the
whole of theAintended line was fixed -- not even the termini,"
Fleming testified before the C. P. R. Royal Commission in 1885?
His task was simply to find the most: feasible route and begin
construction in‘British Columbia by July 20, 1873.

The first survey parties set out from Victoria on

July 20, 1871, the day that British Columbia entered the Domin-

ion -- at least one section of clause 11 of the terms of union

1. Report of the Canadian Pacific Railway Royal Commission,
Ottawa, 1882, p. 1305,
. 2. Ibid., p. 1638,
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was fulfilled by the Dominion. Walter Moberly, who, because
of his explorations in British Columbia, had beenisummoned to
Ottawa to advise the Dominion Government and Fleming on the
route to be followed in the Province} was in charge of two
parties to survey a suitable line from Kamloops to Howse Pass.
Two parties were placed in charge of Roderick McLennan to sur-
- vey a line from Kamloops via the North Thompson'River and
Albreda and Cranberry Lakes to T&te Jaune Cache and Yellow
Head Pass. Two other partiés, under John Trutch, were given
.the task of making an instrumental survey of the Fraser River
from Lytton to New Westminster and of the Thompson River from
Lytton to Kamloops.
The results of the work of these survey parties in
1871 was gréfifying -- 30 much so that the Canadian Pacific
~ Railway could have been located, had it been necessary, with-
out further surveys other than the necessary location surveys
to find the exact line for the railway. McLennan reported
that the route from the Yellow Head Pass crossing Canoe
River by Albreda Lake, thence along the valley of the north
Thompson River, is singularly favourable for the c onstruct-
ion of a line of railway, of easy gradients and moderate
curves, and in addition comparatively light work. On this line
no grade will exceed fifty feet per mile, and for great dis-
tances will range from fifteen to Bwenty feet per mile.
Trutch declaréd that the result of his work might be consider-
ed‘satisfactory since it had established that an easy gra@e cguld

be obtained from the Pacific Ocean to the mouth of Eagle Pass.

Hence, putting the work of McLennan and Trutch together a line

. Moberly, op. cit., p. 7.

2. Progress Report on the Canadian Pacific Railway Exploratory
Survey, Ottawa, 1872, p. 47.

3. Ibid., p. 24.
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qf easy grades had been discovered from Yellow Head Pass to
Burrafd Inliet. Trutch's report, ﬁowever, contained important
gqualifications. Although the section by the Fraser and Thompson
" River valleys.showed a very easy grade,and large portions'of
the éountry were favourable for a railway, particularly from
Spence's Bridge to Shuswap Lake, serious difficulties would be
encountered in the Fraser Canon between Lytton and Spence's
Bridge. The first twenty-one miles from Yale, Trutch reported,
was"bne*continuous succession of precipitous rocky points and
side hills..."l

Moberly, going over much of the country he had already
explored sent in a favourable report of his work. His examina-
tion of Howse Pass was not completed, but he had found the route
from Kamloops via Eagle Pass, thé Columbia and Howse Pass, en-
tifely feasible. He did "not think that a shorter practicable
line could Dbe found than that via Eagle Pass the Columbia and
Howse Pass“% Moberly, however, had failed again to find a prac-
ticable pass over thé Selkirks., After abandoning work in HowseA
Pass because of the arrival of winter weather, he returned on
his way to Victoria directly over the Selkirks in his last
effort to find a way through them for the railway. His crossing,
whicﬁ was north of Rogers Pass, was the first recorded crossing
of the Selkirks, but was without practicable results. "I found“,
he reported to Fleming, "there was no practicable pass through

3
the Selkirk Range..."

L. Progress Report on the Canadian Pacific Railway Zxploratory
Survey, Ottawa, 1872, p. 47%

Ibid., p. 37.

ibid., p. 34.
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On the result of the surveys of Moberly, Mclennan and
Trutch,the Dominion Government on April 2, 1872, adopted the
Yellow Head Pass "as the gate to British Columbia from the easé
‘McLennan had found a line of easy grades from Yellow Head Pass
to Kamloops, and because of this fortunate discovery Yellow Head
was adopted and all further ﬁork on the route via Howse Pass to
Kamloops was abandoned. No pass had been discovered over the
Selkirks to avoid the bend of the Columbia. The ascents to Howse
Pass had proved to be more precipitous than those of the Yellow
Head Pass. The distance from Kamloops to a common point near
Bdmonton House via YellOW'Head, moreover, was found to be no
greater than by the Howse Pass and a very much better and less
costly lihe could Dbe had by the former than by the latter rout;?

The adoption of the Yellow Head Pass in April, 1872,
greatly simplified the survey work in British Columbia. The
first object had been attained: a.good vrass had been found over
the Rocky Mountains from Edmonton. Henceforth the task of the
survey parties was to discovér the most feasible route from
Yellow Head Pass to the Pacific.|From the Passg, itself, only
two courses were open for the railway line, One ran in a north-
westerly direction by the valley of the Fraser; the other, which
was surveyed in 1871 by McLennan's party, ran due south by the
Albreda and Thompson Rivers? Both these routes flanked the

lofty Cariboo lountains which barred the way to a direct west-

erly course from Yellow Head Pass to the Pacific. Several

1. Progress Report on the Canadian Pacific Railway Exploratory
Survey, Ottawa, 1872, p. 1ll.
. Ibid. :
3. Both these courses were followed by the Grand Trunk Pacific.
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efforts were to be made to find a direct route through the
Cariboo Mountains -- one of lMclLennan's parties in 1871 tried
to locate a direct line from Guesnel Mouth through the Cariboo
country to Tete Jaune Cachel»-- but no attempt was successful.

One feasible route to the Pacific from Yellow Head
Pass was located in 1871, és we have noted, but Fleming did
not cbnsider the route by the Fraser and Thompson River valleys
to the Pacific altogether practicable if a better one could be
found. Trutch pointed to great difficulties in construction
along this route and Fleming in his report in April, 1872,
echoed Trutch's warning.

The question of the terminus on the Pacific had also
to be carefully considered in projecting a route to the Pacif-
ic from Yellow Head Pass. In 1871, Burrard Inlet and Esquimalt
on Vancouver Island were the most talked of places for the ter-
minus. The citizens of Vancouver lIsland were particularly
anxious to have the terminus at Esquimalt2 while the citizens
of the Lower Mainland were equally anxious to have the road
terminate at Burrard Inlet. Vancouver Island early got the
better of the argument for the Macdonald government soon fav-
oured Esquimalt. In March, 1872, for example, fhe Hon. H.L.
Langevin, Dominion Minister of Public Works, in a report on
British Columbia stated that only "if it were found impractic-
able for the Railway to cross from the mainland to Vancouver

3
Island" should the railway terminate at Burrard Inlet.

1. Progress Report on the Canadian Pacific Railway Exploratory
Survey, Ottawa, 1872, p. 17.

2. Vide supra p, 28, ' ,

3. Dominion Sessional Paper 10, 1872, p. 49.
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Fleming, as the Macdonald Government, or probably becéuse of
the lMacdonald éovernment, gave his ear principally to the Isl-
and. Yellow Head Pass was selected by Fleming partly because it
gave more direct access than Howse Pass to Bute Inlet, where it
was proposed that the railway should terminate on the mainlandv
and thence be carried by bridges to Vancouver Island in the
neighbourhood of Valdes Island, and in his report in April,
-1872, he laid down that it was necessary to find out the prac-
ticability of bridging the straits and to ascertain how Bute
Inlet could easiest be reached from Téte Jaune Cache%

Besides Burrard Inlet and Esquimalt bther harbours
accessible from the Pacific had been spoken of for the terminug.
Of these two were on the Island, Alberni, at the head of Barclay
Sound, and the harbour of Nootka Sound. The adoption of either
of.these‘harbours,like the adoption of Esquimalt, would necess-
itate running the line tO'Bﬁte Inlet and bridging the Straits
of Georgia at Seymour Narrows. On the Mainland, Bentinck Arm
and Port Essington, or some harbour at the mouth of the Skeena
Rivér, were considered. In 1872, however, little or nothing was
xnown of these harbours or their accessibility from Té8té Jaune
Cache.,

The seasons of 1872 and 1873 were spent in surveying
several projected foutes to the Pacific from Téte Jaune Cache.

These operations were under the charge of Marcus Smith, C.E.,

who was appointed Chief Resident Engineer in British Columbia

1. Progress Report on Canadian Pacific Railway Exploratory Sur-
vey, 1872, pp. 11-12.

2. Vide Lan§ev1n s Report, Dominion Sessional Paper 10, 1872,
PP.
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by Sandord Fleming on March 30, 18721 The general objective

of all explorations and surveys was to reach the Pacific Coast
at some eligible harbour, south of the 53rd parallel of létit-
ude, the latitude of Yéllow Head Paés, To take the railway north
of this latitude_Would pergeptibly lengthen it. By the end of the
1873 season seven routes, of which four were surveyed, had been
projectéd to the Pacific, although they all didn't reach the
Pacific south of the 53rd parallel,and it may be questioned if
all reached.eligible harbours?

The routes were numbered in the Report of 1874 from 1
to 7, not in the order they were surveyed, but according to their
location from south to north in the Province.

Route No. 1 began at Burrard Inlet, near New Westmin-
ster, followed the Lower Fraser to Hope, passed across the Coast
Mountains up the valley of the Coquihalla, and thence reached
Kamloops by way of Nicola lake. From Kamloops it reac¢hed the
Yellow Head Pass via the North Thompsbn, Albreda and Cranberry
Lakes., This route had been suggested by John Trutch in his
report to Fleming~in March, 1872? because of tﬁe heavy work
which he found on the Fraser valley route. The difficulties to
be met on the Coquihalla route, however, were found to be great-

er than those in the Fraser valley. It suffered from the fur-

ther disadvantage of having much steeper grades than the Fraser

1. Moberly left the service shortly after Smith's appointment.
He had fallen out of favour with Fleming over an alleged
costly mistake he made in shipping supplies to the Howse
Pasgss country after surveys in that region had been abandoned.
Royal Commission Report, 1882, p. 1682.

2. C. P. R. Report of Progress on the Explorations and Surveys
up to January, 1874, pp. 17-22.

3. C. P."R, Progress Report, 1872, p. 22.
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1
River line.

Route No. 2 was the route surveyed by Trutch and Mc-
Lennan in 1871, Starting at Burrard Inlet it followed the Fra-
ser to Lytton, the Thompson to Kamloops, and thence reached
Yellow HeadAPassﬂby the same route as Route No. 1.

Route No. 3 began at Howe Sound,crossed-the Coast Moun-
tains by Anderson and Seton Lakes to the Fraser at Lillooet?
thence it crossed ﬁhe central plateau by the Marble Canyon and
Bonaparte Valley to the North Thompson, near the mouth of fhe
Clearwater Ri#er,and followed routes No's. 1 and 2 to T€te Jaune
Cache. From Howe Sound to the North Thompson, a distance of
284 miles, it passed over four main summits ranging in eleva-
tion from 1,610 to 3,847 feet.

Route No. 4 commenced at Waddington Harbour at the
head of Bute Iﬁlet, ascended the valley of the Homathco through
the Coast Chain to Lake Tatla, thence it passed over the Chil-
cotin plains to the River Fraser. It crossed the Fraser about
16 miles below Scda Creek and continued easterly to Lac la
- Hache and Lake Canin to the Thompson near the mouth of the
River Clearwater. From that point it followed Routes No's. 1,

2, and 3 to Téte Jaune Cache. From Bute Inlet to the North Thanp-
son fhe distance by this route was 378 miles. In that distance
three summits were passed over, all of which were over three

thousand feet, and one, on the Chilcotin Plain was about 3700

1. The Coquihalla Pass is now used by the Kettle Valley branch
of the C. P. R. It has been none too successful,

2. This route was followed by the Pacific Great Eastern Rail-
way to Lillooet.
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feet. There were long stretches on this route where the work
would be light but in some sections it would be very heavy.
Ascending the Homathco for a distance of 15 miles a continuous
uniform gradient of 110 feet per mile would be required involv-
ing work of an increasingly heavy character.

Route No. 5 was a projected modification of route No.
4. The proposed change lay between the Chilcotin Plain and the
Thompson valley above Blue River. It was based on an explora-
tion made in 1873, Surveys of the whole route had not been made
but it was confidently expected that a line involving lighter
work and easier gradiéntS'would be obtained.

Route No. 6 began aléo at Bute Inlet. It was destined
‘to become the most prominently.conéidered of all the routes
projécted to Bute Inlet., It crossed the Chilcotin Plain to Fort
George and thence followed the Upper Fraser Valley to Téte
Jaune Céche. The route was not surveyed by 1874 but it was ex-
pected that in crossing from Bute Inlet to Fort George a high-
er elevation than Yellow Head Pass (3760 feet) would be obtain-
ed, but from Fort George to Té&te Jaune Cache there was no doubt
that a favourable line could be had. This route, Fleming sugges-
ted might be shortened by using the Smoky River Pass through’
the Rocky Mountains north of Yellow Head Pass.

Route No. 7 passed from Yellow Head Pass down the
valley of the Upper Fraser to Fort George, and thence to the
Pacific by the valley of the Skeena River% Very little was

known of this route,or of the value of the Skeena mouth as a

1. The route followed by the Grand Trunk Pacific to Prince
Rupert.
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harbour. What informétion was compiled was generally adverse.
The Report stated that "all parties who have visited the River
Skeena...seem to unite in an adverse opinion respecting the.

- eligibility of the River Skeena as a route to the seaboard"%
To cross the Coast Chain to the Pacific via the Skeena it
appeared from all information that it Would be necéssary to
ascénd a height some 6QO feet greater than the elevation of
Yellow Head Pass. In spite of these disadvantages, however,
this route was prominently considered when the selection of
the route in British Columbia was made in 1878 and 1879,

An eighth route was projected, but not surveyed or
explored, on the results of an exploration made by Lieut..H.S.
Palmer, R.E., in 1862, in the country at the head of Bentinck
Arm. Palmer discovered a route up the Bella Coola through the
Coast Mountains and on the basis of his reportz, Fleming pro-
posed a route starting at the head of Bentinck Arm crossing
the Coast Mountains by the Bella Coola to the Fraser and thence
by the Giscome Portage and Fort McLeod to the Peace River. This
route was approximately that followed by Aleiander Mackenzie
on his journey to the Pacific in 1793. Fleming recognized this
and included extracts from Mackenzie's Journal in his report of
1874?

On the whole Fleming commented with greatest favour on

Route No. 5 to Bute Inlet. The route to Bute Inlet was natural-

ly considered of primary importance for the Dominion Government

1. C. P. R. Progress Report, 1874, p. 21.
2. Ibid., appendix L, p. 218.
5. Ibid., appendix M, p. 231.




- 83 -

at that time, for the Dominion, as we have already related,
adopted Esquimalt as the western terminus of the railway by
order-in-council on June 7, 1873. If that order-in-council was
to have any effect a feasible line had to be found to Bute In-
let, as it appeared to be the only point on the mainla nd which
could be connected with the Island by bridging the Straits of
Georgia. Fleming's comment on the Bute Inlet route was there-
fore of some importance.
This route (No. 5) commands attention. Although a very heavy
expenditure will undoubtedly be required the railway for the
first forty-four miles easterly from the Pacific Coast it is
thought that the average cost per mile, through the whole of
the Mountain Region, with this exception will be moderate. It
will be quite possible, if present expectations be realized
to obtain a line, east of the great Canyon, for the railway,
on this route, with as faveurable gradients as those WhiCE
obtain on the existing railways in the Bastern Provinces.

The project of taking the line to Esquimalt however
broke down over the problem of bridging the Straits o Georgia.
A survey was carried out in 1873 along the northwesterly shore
of Bute Inlet across Valdes Island and Seymour Narrows to the
Island. The results were almost discouraging enough to prove
the utter impracticability of carrying the line from Wadding-
ton Harbour to the Island. Along the shore of Bute Inlet excess-
ively heavy work would be required iﬁ§51ving a great number of
tunnels and unusually sharp curvature. To bridge the Straits

by Valdes Island and Seymoﬁr Narrows seven spans would be re=--

quired, six of which would be from 1100 to 1350 feet long and

1. C. P. R, Progress Report, 1874, p. 20. Actually Fleming's
.expectations of Route No. 5 to Bute Inlet were not fulfilled.
It was abandoned in 1875 (vide infra p. ) and Fleming's
preference of the three Bute Inlet routes shifted to the
route via ¥ort George.
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the seventh 640 feet. The channels to be bridged, moreovér,
were found to be of great depth and the tide flowed through
them from four to nine knots."Taking everything into consider-
ation," Fleming wrote, "the works of construction, on-these
eighty miles lying between Waddington Harbour and Vancouver
Island would be of a most formidable charactér"% It was a
project, he considered, which would best not be undertaken
until the traffic be to some extent developed and the pros-
pect justify the outlay...."™ In the meantime ifvthe railway
had to be carried to the Island."a steam ferry, suitable~for
railway traffic [could be] established between Vancouver
Island and the terminus on the main shore...."
| As a result of the survejs in British Columbia up to
January, 1874, Fleming, on Jénuary 1, 1874 «- just a few weeks
before he submitted his Survey report (January 26, 1874) --
sent a confidential memorandum to the Dominion Government
advising them to take no hasty action but to await the results
of fufthér surveys in British Columbia? The memorandum is of
great interest for its recommendations dovetailed completely
with Mackenzie's cautious policy, and, indeed, strengthened
Mackenzie's position. Fleming wrote:
In British Columbia a.éreat‘deal has been done, and a vast
amount of information has been accumulated, but the field
of inquiry is so exceptionally difficult that the subject,
is not, as yet, by any means fully understood. True, a
favourable passage through the Rocky Mountains has been dis-
covered, by which a Railway can be carried from the North

Saskatchewan to the central plateau of British Columbia,
with gradients as light as those on Railways in Ontario, and

1. C. P. R. Progress Report, 1874, p. 23.

2. Fleming, Sandford, Confidential Memorandum on ‘the Canadian
Pacifié Railway, bttﬁWa, 1877
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with works of construction scarcely heavier than on the Inter-
colonial Line; we are thus enabled to project a satisfactory
route from the Railway system of the Atlantic Provinces to a
point within two hundred miles of the Pacific tide water;

but the great "Cascade [Coast] range" of mountains inter-
venes and presents formidable obstacles, It must not be
understood .that the difficulties met with are insuperable,
“but they will without doubt prove costly to overcome. The
Cascade Mountains have indeed been pierced by four lines of
surveys extending from the central plateau to the coast,
showing that at least two lines within the limits of practic~
ability have been found, but the question of construction on
either of these lines is one which will involve such an
enormous. outlay that more exhaustive surveys should undoubt-
edly be made, before anything more is done. The undersigned
could not advise a hasty decision., The most recent explora-
tions we have been able to make indicate that a large expend-
iture, even a considerable length ¢f time in the final com-
pletion of the Railway may be saved, by postponing a selec-
tion of the route and the commencement of construction,
through the Cascade range, until more information of a def-
inite character has been obtained, and the difficult problem
more satisfactorily solved.=

The Mackenzie government of course.was not unwilling
~to adopt the cautious policy advised by Fleming. Surveys in
British Columbia continued in 1874 while the Dominion Govern-
ment sought to obtain a modification of the terms of union
from British Columbia. Efforts were made to improve routes
already defined and to discover new ones, generally in the
country north of Yellow Head Pass and Bute Inlet.

An examination was made of the country between the
Clearwater and Thompson Rivers in the general direction of the
Blue River in order to test the practicability of Route Na. 5,

upon which Fleming had commented so favourably in January. The

1, Fleming, Confidential Memorandum, pp. 6-7. Judging by this
Memorandum Fleming appears to have inspired the Edgar pro-
posals of 1874, He warned the goverrment that it would be
inadvisable to push on the work of construction more rapid-
ly than expenditure could advantageously be made. Secondly
he proposed the construction of the transcontinental waggon

road and telegraph line pending construction of the railway:
both these projects were embodied in the Edgar proposals
and later in the Carnarvon terms.
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1
exploration proved the route to be unsatisfactory. A line was

found-to be possible but with gradients so unfavourable and
with works of construction so heavy, thét any further expendi-
ture on this section of the country was considered inadvisable.

Another attempt was made to solve- the imbortant prob-
lem of crossing the Cariboo mountains due west from Yellow Head
Pass, bu£ wiﬁhout success? "The information obtained from this
exploration set positively at rest the question of a direct
practicable route across the Cariboo range from the Yellow
Head Pass to the coast"?

Further to the south a re-examination was made of the
line between Kamloops and Hope.by the Coquihalla Pass, and an
attempt was made to find a new route across the Coast Mountains
to the south of the Coquihalla via the Similkameen valley. On
the Coquihalla route first judgements were confirmed; gradientﬁ'
would be severe and works 6f construction heavy. The explora-
tion in the Similkameeh valley resulted in a failure. No prac-
ticable route was found% Following this failure a final effort
was made to find a route through this section of the Coast
Mountains by a branch of the Coquihalla and the valley of the
River Tulameen. This course proved still unsatisfactory, the
way being completely barred by mountains?

The failure of all attempts to find a direct westerly

course across the Cariboo Mountains to the coast and the unsat-

1. C. P. R. Report on Surveys, 1877, Appendix D, P. 101,
2. Ibid., Appendix F, p. 107,

S Ibid., p. 21.

4, Ibid., Appendix E, p. 105.

5. Ibid., p. 22,

[
Q
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isfactory character of the lines already surveyed to Burrard
Inlet, Howe Sound and Bute Inlet, led to an instrumental sur-
vey of the route from T€te Jaune Cache down the valley of the
Fraser to Fdrt George, and thence acfoss the country to the
line previously surveyed to Bute Inlet -- Route 6 projected by
Fleming in his 1874 report. Fifty to sixty miles of the route
remained unexplored by the end of the season, but the knowl-
edge acquired gave promise that a practicable line with fav-
ourable gradients and light work could be obtained%

Because of the difficulties already experienced in
crossing the Coast Mountzins it was considered advisable to
extend the'explorations‘and surveys in a northerly direction.
Scarcely anything was known of the country between Bute Inlet
and the Skeena River. The‘coast had been explored and mapped
by Captain Vancoﬁver but inland from the coast for some 260
miles was virtually a blank dn the_mép. The Various inlets on
the coast were examined and the country inland from them expl-
ored, some knowledge of its general features being obtainéd?
This examination, Fleming reported, "furnished information
which justified the expense of a survey the year following
from Fort George to Dean Channel, and gave foundation for the
impression,'that, with the exception of difficulties on thé
extreme western section of twenty miles, a favourable line
might be secured to Gardner Inlet from the northern bend of

, 3
the River Fraser near Fort George".

2. Tbid., Appendix G, p. 137.
3., Ibid., p. 24. .

i
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The work of the 1875 éeason was largely confined to
the northern countfy exPlOred in 1874, Exploratory surveys, as
fleming suggested, were carried out from Dean Channel and Gard-
her Inlet to intersect with the line from Bute Inlet td Fort
" George. The work on the Dean Channel line up the valley of the
Salmon River gavebpromisé of a comparatively favourable line
some 50 miles shorter than the line to Bute Inlet% The work
on the line to Gardner Inlet, however, gave unsatisfactory
results?

The movement of operations northward resulted in an
effort to find a practicable pass through the Rocky Mountains
north of the Yellow Head Pass. Three such passes were reported
to exist, Smoky River, Pine River and Peace River. Barly in
1875 == in mid-winter -- a party was sent due east from Fort
George to cross the;Rocky Mountains by Smoky River Pass? By
this exploration it was found that a railway might be carried
through the Smoky River Pass. However, Fleming concluded "that
no.object would be accomplished" by using it "which could not
be more easily and better attained by the Yellow Head Pass."4
An exploration was likewise made of the Pine River Pass which
was reported by Indians to exist some 50 to 60 miles south of
the Peace River. It was found to be of no great altitudes"and

of sufficient importance to justify further examination". The

Pine River Pass received great prominence in later surveys.

1. C. P. R. Report on Surveys, 1877, p. 26.
2. Ibid.

3. Ibid., Appendix H, p. 145.

4. Ibid., p. 24.

5., 1bid., p. 26,
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The major operation of the 1875 season was a trial
location of the route from Yellow Head Pass to Fort‘George and
across country by the Nazco valley to the Homathco River and
Bute Inlet. The surveys on this route (No. 6).in 1874 had
greatly pleased Fleming. The result of this work upon which
five pafties were engaged fulfilled all Fleming'ts éxpectations%

With several routes projected and surveyed to several

harbours on the coast, the majority of which were little known,

work in 1876 began with a winter survey of the coastal waters

"~ and harbours by steamer. It was considered especially -import-

ant to obtain some éonception of climatic conditions in the
northern inlets during the winter. A harbour which was ice
bound during the winter would be of little value as a terminus.
The 1876 winter was unusually severe and much ice was encount-
ered in Gardner Inlet. Dean -Inlet was fouhd to be frozen for

a short time, but no ice had formed in Bute Inlet?

Work of the survey parties during 1876 was again
largely confined to the north. Fleming considéred -that the
south of the Province had been pretty well exhausted as a
field of survey. An unsuccessful effort was made to cross the
Coast Mountains from Dean Inlet up the River Kitlope. The
trial location of the Yellow Head - Fort George - Bute Inlet
route, which had been left incomplete in 1875, was completed.
A further trial location was made of the line from Dean Channel
by the Salmon, Blackwater and Iscultaesli Rivers to a point

the
of intersection withﬁBute Inlet route to Fort George. The Dean

1. C. P. R. Report on Surveys, 1877, p. 26.
2. Tbid., Appendix V, p. 177 ff.
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Inlet line cut 55 miles from the route to Yellow Head Pass
via Fort George, but gradients and works of construction were
found to be much heavier than on the Bute Inlet route% During
the same season an exploratory survey was made of an alterna-
tive route from Dean Inlet to Fort George. It left the Salmon
River about 45 miles from tide water and crossed a "divide"
to follow a north-easterly course by the Rivers Iuchu, Nechaco
and Stewart, to & point near Fort George. With some exceptions
thebgradients and works of construction were found to be easy
but the line was 15 miles longer thaﬁ the more southern route
to Dean Inlet?
On thé completion of the surveys in 1876, Fleming
was able to réport that "the information was tolerably com-
plete as regards the greater part of the country between the
southern boundary of British Columbia and the 56th pérallel....
The only portion respecting which our information is deficient
is the district bordering on and drained by the River Skeena
and its tributaries“? Six passes thréugh the Rocky Mountains
had been examined, the\Peace River, the Pine River, the Smoky
River, the Yellow Head, the Athabasca and the Howse. Of these
the Yellow Head was considered by Fleming as the best.
| The advantages of the Yellow Head Pass -- every considera-
tion being taken into account, =-- outweigh those of any of
the other passes; ... the opening at that point offers
superior facilities for carrying the line of railway through
the main range of the great mountain chain; ... the Yellow
Head Pass, better than any other opens the way to every

harbour on the coast from the Straits of Juan de Fuca to the
latitude of Dean Inlet.4

R. Report on Surveys, 1877, p. 29.

sy P. 30,
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It was still possible, howéver, that the Pine or Peace River
passes would be better for routes to the northern harbours ==-
if the terminus were selected at Gardner Inlet or Port Essing-
ton further examination of these passes would be necessary.
But,

While the question of the Pine River and Peace River passes
in connection with the lines to the two most northern harb-
ours is yet undecided, it is undoubtedly established that the
main Recky Mountain Chain can be crossed with ease by the
Yellow Head Pass. The major problem is accordingly satisfact-
orily solved, and it remains to consider how the minor ranges
of mountains, and the other physical obstacles which present
themselves, may be surmounted or avoided.

Fleming offered several solutions to this problem. From Yellow
Head Pass he reported that eleven different routes had been
surveyed. These he divided into three main groups, geographic-
ally, the Southern, the Central, and the Northern?
SOUTHERN GROUP
Route No. 1l.....From Yellow Head Pass, via Lake Albreda,

River Thompson, Lake Nicola and Coquihalla
Valley to Burrard Inlet.

Route No. 2.....From Yellow Head Pass, via Lake Albreda,
River Thompson and Lower River Fraser to
Burrard Inlet.

Route No, 3.....From Yellow Head Pass, via Lake Albreda,
River Thompson, Bonaparte and Lillooet and
Lake Anderson to Howe Sound..

CENTRAL GROUP

Route No. 4.....From Yellow Head Pass, via Lake Albreda,
River Thompson, River Clearwater, Lac-la-
Hache, River Chillicotin, and East branch of
River Homathco to Waddingten Harbour.

Route No. 5.....Alternative route to No. 4. Discussed in 3
former progress reports but now abandoned.

1. C. P. R. Report-on Surveys, 1877, p. 30.
2. Ibid., pp. 33-34.
3, Vidé supra pp. 85-86,.
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Route No, 6.....From Yellow Head Pass, via River Fraser, Fort
George, River Chilacoh, River Nazco, and East
Branch of River Homathco to Waddington Harb-
our,

NORTHERN GROUP
" Route No. 7.....From Yellow Head Pass, via River Fraser, Fort
George, River Chilacoh and Bella Coola, to
North Bentinck Arm,

Route No. 8.....From Yeilow Head Pass, via River Fraser, Fort
George, River Chilacoh, River Blackwater and
Salmon River to Dean Inlet.

Route No. 9.....From Yellow Head Pass, via River Fraser, Fort
George, River Nechaco, River Blackwater and
Salmon River to Dean Inlet.

Route No., 10....From Yellow Head Pass, via River Fraser, Fort
George, River Stewart, River Nechaco and Kem-
ano, to Gardner Inlet.

Route No. 1l....From Yellow Head Pass, via River Fraser,
Fort George, River Stewart and River Skeena,
to Port Essington.

The two last routes on the list (No's. 10 and 11) were but im-
perfectly known, but enough knowledge had been obtained of
them to justify the belief that further and more accurate sur-
veys would result in obtaining feasible railway lines.

To these eleven routes, (reduced to ten bylthe aban-
donment of No. 5 in 1875) which terminated at the coast at
seven distinct harbours, Fleming stated, might be added two
more running west from the two most northern passes, Peace
River and Pine River, to Port Essington and the Skeena Mouth.

In making a choice of the route to be followed across
British Columbia, Fleming intended to be guided by the engin-
eering features and probable cost of each line and the poten-
tial traffic which each would offer when the railway was con-

structed. The best line would be the shortest, the least diffi-

cult to construct, the least costly to maintain and operate;
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it would offer the greatest facilities for cheap transporta-
tion. It would be the line which would offer the most traffic
in the future. That traffic would depend on the local resour-
ces and population and industry of the country through which
the line ran; it would depend on the facilities of the termin-
al harbour and the opportunities of obtaining "through traffic®
from the Orient.

" With regard to length of the ten lines running from
AYéllow Head Pass, the one terminating at Port Moody on Burrard
‘Inlet via the Coquihalla River (Route No. 1) was the shortest
-=- 461 miles. The Fraser Valley route to Port Moody (No. 2)
was 493 miles 1Qng% Routes 4 and 6 to Bute Inlet were 550 and
546 miles respectively. Routes 8, 9, and 10 to Bentinck Arm
-aﬁd Dean Inlet were 480, 488, and 506 miles respectively. The
route to Gardner Inlet (No. 10) was estimated at 560 miles,
and the length of route 11 to Port Essington was unknown.

In 1877 data for estimating the cost of construction
of every route was not Sufficientvbut Fleming ventured estim-
ates on the most important of the ten routes. The cost of a
railway by route No. 2, following the Fraser to Port Moody,
was estimated at $35,000,000; by the Howe Sound Route (No. 3)
at $39,000,000; by ;oute No. 4 to Bute Inlet at $38,000,000;
by route No. 6 to Bute ‘Inlet, $33,000,000,and by route No, 8
to Kamsquot; Dean Inlet, $29,000;000? Of the two routes to
Bute Inlet it should be noticed that route No, 6, via Fort

George, was not only shorter by 4 miles than route No. 4,but

1. C. P. R. Report on Surveys, 1877, p. 59.
2. Ibld.’ P. 620
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was estimated therless costly by $5,000,000.

Considering costs of maintenance and operation the
Fraser valley route to Burrard Inlet, as it offered the easiest
gradients and a permanently solid road bed,was easily the
cheapest. The two routes to.ﬁéan Inlet came next in line, foll-
owed by the two routes to Bufe Iﬁiet';:’No.‘G again being
superior to No. 4 -- the Coquiﬁalla ;outé to Burrard, and last
the Howe Sound route%A The other roufes, Not's. 10 and 11 could
not be classified as they were not sufficiently known.

Considering local advantages and resources the route
terminating furthest to the south (at Burrard Inlet) would
give the greatest satisfaction to the existing population in
1877, which was small and concentrated in the south. However,
Fleming considered that existing population and industry should
not dnduly influence the choice of the route., It was more ime
poftant to consider where industries were most likely to devel-
op in the future. To ascertain with reasonable probability
where industry and population would best develop, the Dominion
Geological survey had been instructed to examine different sec-
tions of the Province? notiﬁg their mineral wealth and value
for agriculture and stock-raising.

The question of a terminal hafbour was of first class
importance in the problem of choosing a route. Not only had
the facilities and climatic conditions of the harbour itself

to be considered but also its position in relation to commer-

cial shipping. A favourable line for construction and mainten-

1. C. P. R. Report on Surveys, 1877, p. 63.
2. Ibid., Appendix R, p. =218 ff.
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ance might lead to a harbour deficient in facilities and loca-
tion. On'the other hand a desirable harbour might not be access-
ible except by a line so unfavourable as to render its selec-
tion inexpedient.

‘To obtain reliable information of the terminal harb-
ours at which Fleming's several lines reached the Pacific,
-application was made through the Colonial Office to the Admir-
alty for whatever information they péssessed, on the harbours
of British Columbia% In applying for this information Fleming
stressed the importance of the consideration of "through traff-
ic", not to best serve the existing'population in British Col-
unbia, but to obtain "such a route and western terminus as

would afford the greatest possibilities for successfully com=-
peting with foreign routes for ocean-borne traffic”? No harbour
on the Island was considered, as Fleming evidently considered
that the project of taking the railway to thé Island had died
with his report on bridging the Straits in 1874. The Mainland
harbours were considered from the point of view of their prox-
imity to the Crient, the approach to them from the Pacific, the
length of towage for sailing vessels required, their'general

harbour and anchorage facilities and their strategic position.

Port Essington and the other northern harbours, Gard-

1, Fleming to the Colonial Office, London, ¥Nov. 29, 1876, C.P.R.
Report on Surveys, 1877, Appendix J, p. 282. Fleming was
criticized by the C. P. R. Royal Commission of 1882 for not
securing information from the Admiralty regarding the harb-
ours of the British Columbia coast before surveying his sev=
eral routes. "No expense should have been incurred in runn-
ing lines to those points which from their nature were im-
possible as termini®", C. P. R. Royal Commission Report, v.3,
Conclusgions, p. 86,

2. C. P. R. Report on Surveys, 1877, p. 282.
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her Inlet, Dean Inlet and Bella Coola, were found to be some
three to six hundred miles closer to Yokohama in Japaﬁ than
the southern harbours, Bute Inlet, Howe Sound.aﬁdeurrard
Inlet%»WaddingtOn‘Harbour, Buté.lnlet,'was at the greatest
disadvantage in this respect. Port Essington was aléo found to
e the most favourable harbour with regard to the length of
towage needed for sailing vessels -- 49 miles. English»Ba&,
Burrard Inlet, demanded 70 miles of towage. Waddington Harbour
was again at the greatest disadvantage requiring 156 miles of
fowage.
. The evidence submitféa{ﬁy_the naval authorities, how-
ever, did not favour Port Essingﬁon‘or any northern harbour.
Opinion was generally mpst favoﬁréble to an extreme sputhern
harbour at Burrard Inlet. Of'the‘seven officers who answered
Flemingfs queries regarding the harbours of British Columbia
foﬁr eipressed a preference for Burrard Inlet% Burrard Inlet
offered a deep, clear entrance and fair‘anchorage. It was near
the coal'of Nanaimo and it was free from adverse climatic con-
ditions. Burrard Inlet as a terminal harbour, however, was
found to suffer from two disadvanteges. Staff Commander Pender
was of the opinion that "the risksvattending,havigation with
large steamships, amongst the islands lying between Juan de
Fuca and the Strait of Georgia are very great,"4 and all were

agreed that vessels on their course to Eurrard Inlet -- Howe

Sound and Bute Inlet suffered from this disadvantage too --
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would be exposed to the guns of the United States in the event
of hostilities and that the ngvigation of the channel would
Lgfeatly depend on the force of the United States in the local-
ity%

Since Burrard Inlet was objectionable because of the
vulnerability of the route from the Pacific via Juan de Fuca,
and since none of the other coast harbours were deemed prace
ticable by the naval authprities?_ Fleming reached the con-
clusion that the railway might best terminate at an harbour
on the west coast of Vancouver Island.

An unbroken line of railway from the railways of the eastern
Provinces of the Dominion, to one of these harbours on the
outer coast of Vancouver Island, would be exceedingly desir-
able. All the difficulties of navigation to be encountered
in reaching the mainland from the ocean would be avoided.d
The surveys, however, had proved that bridging the Straits was
impracticable -- although the exigencies of the future might
render a continuous line of railway to the outer shores of
Vancouver Island indispensable at whatever cost. Fleming there
fore proposed that the connection between Mainlénd and Island
could be made by steam ferry running from Bute Inlet tolElk
Bay on Vancouver Ilsland, a distance of 64 miles}of from Freder-

ick Arm (51 miles from Waddington Harbour) through Nodales

Channel to Otter Cove. From Elk Bay or Otter Cove the railway

1. Langevin objected to Burrard Inlet for this reason in 1872.
Dominion Sessional Paper 10, 1872, p. 49.

2. Captain Caton approved of Waddington Harbour, but the
approach to it was also via Juan de Fuca. The route round
the north end of Vancouver Island through Seymour Narrows
to Bute Inlet (Howe Sound and Burrard Inlet) was considered
impracticable, C. P, R. Report on Surveys, 1877, p. 69.

3. 1bid., p. 71. '
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could be carried to Esquimalt or to Alberni, Nootka or Qﬁat-
sino Sound, on the west coast%

Fleming in 1877 did not advise the adoption of any
oné route. By a process of elimination on the basis of the
‘information he had compiled he reduced the number of possible
routes to be fo;lowed td three, of which one was imperfectly
known and would require further surveysz. He selected Route
No. 2, the route via the Fraser to Burrard Inlet; No. 6, thé
route via Fort George to Bute Inle£ and No. 11, the route via
Fort George to Port Esgssington, which was not well known., Route
No. 6 would have to be chosen if it were considered of para-
mount importance to carry an unbroken line of railway to one
of the western harbours of Vancouver Island or to Esquimalt.
If, on the other hand, the object was to reach the navigable
waters of the Pacific simply by the most eligible line leading
to a good terminal harbour the Bute Inlet route would have to
give way tolthe Fraser Valley - Burrard Inlet route, as Wadd-
ington Harbour had all the disadvahtages of Burrard Inlet in
addition to many more. Moreover if the railway followed the
Fraser valley roﬁte, althoﬁgh costly, it would undoubtedly be
less costly to operate. It offered better gradients; a firmer
road bed, and it was 53 miles shorter. The only serious objec~
tion to the Burrard Inlet route -- in addition to the vulnera-
bility of Juan de Fuca -- was that for some 60 miles it ran

close to the American boundary, leaving it open to the risk of

being impeded on occasions of hostilities with the United

« R. Report on Surveys, 1877, p.72.
.’ p. 740
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1
States. In this opinion he was supported by Major-General
Selby Smyth? Smyth, however, pointed out that this strategic
weakness should not be allowed to outweigh the general excell-
ence of Burrard Inlet as a harbour. If the necessity arose the
route could probably be well defended.

Fleming also suggested in favour of Burrard Inlet
thét if necessity arose Juan de ¥Fuca could be avoided by runn-
ing a steam ferry to Nanaimo (23 miles) to connect with an
Island railway to the west coast. Burrard Inlet was thus in-
vested with all the advantages of Waddington Harbour as well
as its owﬁ excellence as a terminal harbour.

With regard to Route 11 and Port Essington Fleming
expressed no opinion, It possessed the advantage of being far
enough from the United States to be gquite invulnerable, and
Port Essington was several hundred miles closer to the Orient
than Burrard Inlet and Waddington Harbour? Thé naval authori-
tiés, however, had commented unfavourably on Port Essington
and little was known of the route via the River Skeena to

Prince George. He considered this route, however, worthy of

further surveys, and these surveys were accordingly carried

1. C. P, R, Report on Surveys, 1877, p. 75.

2, lbid., Appendix W, p. 312,

3. It is of interest that Fleming in searching for the harbour
which offered the best location for commercial shipping
only considered the Orient. No reference is made to traffic
from Europe or from the west coast of the United States nor
to the possibility of carrying freight east for United
States consumption. In 1877 there was no Panama Canal. Trade
round the Horn or Good Hope and with the United States was
small., Had the circumstances been those which followed the
opening of the Panama Canal in 1914 Burrard Inlet would
probably have been chosen as the western terminus without
any hesitation.
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out in 1877.

| The exploration of the Skeena River route to Prince
George was not'very satisfactory. Gradients and works of con-
struction were heavy; climatic conditions were unfavourable,
" Moreover the only practicable line discovered made the distance
from the coast to Yellow Head Pass 690 miles. Port Essington
was found to be a poor harbour but Port Simpson at the northern
end of Tsimpean Peninsula was found to "answer all the require-
ments of a terminal harbour"%

A route explored through the Rocky Mountains by the

Pine River Pass to Fort George, thence to Bute Inlet in 1878
was given a great deal of prominence in the report of Marcus
Smith to the Government in 1878. In 1877 Marcus Smith was
Acting Engineer-in-Chief of the Railway, as Sandford Fleming
was in England on leave of absence. Smith therefore wrote the
report of the surveys for 1877? He reported that the explora-
tion of the Pine River Pass to Fort George had proved very
favourable. The gradients were generally easy; the works of
~ construction light. Moreover -- and this seemed very important
to Smith -~- the route passed through the great fertile country
of the Peace River district and through the great mineral dis-

3 ‘
tricts of Omineca and Cariboo. To Smith this route was prefer-

1. Canadian Pacific Railway, Reports and Documents in reference
to the Location of the Line and a Western Terminal Harbour,
Ottawa, 1878, appendix C, p. 38.

2. Ibid., appendix A, p. 17.

3. In the 1870's the Omineca and Cassiar districts were promin-
ent as placer mining districts. Vide Trueman, A.S., Placer
Gold Mining in Northern British Columbia, 1860 to 1880,

M. A, thesis, Library of the University of British Columbia,
1935,
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able to any projected by Fleming%
Smith's preference for the Pine River Pass route to

Bute Inlet did not please Mackenzie, who seems by this time to
have picked out the Burrard Inlet rbute. Fleming was sent for
from London to submit a report. His report ignored Smith's
preference for the Pine River route and recommended the adbp-
tion of the Burrard Inlet route?

| Fleming arrived with a great deal of difficulty to
his conclusion that the Fraser River - Burrard Inlet route
should be adopted. In April, 1877, the Dominion government had
applied for further information from the Admiralty regarding

the harbours of British Columbia, particularly the harbours

3
about the mouth of the Skeena. In December, Fleming received

~—

an answer from the Colonial Cffice in the form of a report by

4
Admiral De Horsey respecting the Pacific Terminus, based on all
information that was available and a personal inspection of the

British Columbia coastal waters. De Horsey based his conclus-

ions on three major considerations: the engineering character-

1, Smith testified before the C.P.R. Royal Commission in 1882
that "it appeared to him that the route chosen by the Yell-
ow Head Pasg was altogether wrong". C.P.R. Royal Commission
Report, p. 1596,

2., Vide Marcus Smith's testimony before the C.P.R. Royal Comm-
ission of 1882. "On his (Fleming's) arrival here (Ottawa
from London) he says, "You have written a report". I said,
"Yeg", "Well," he says, "the Minister has asked me to write
a report™, Smith stated that Fleming refused to use all the
information he had acquired in 18%77. He was satisfied with
what he had. He also stated that he had accompanied his re-
port with a map of his Pine River route detailing the re-
sources and character of the soil along it which evidently
was suppressed as it did not appear in the published report.
C.P.R. Royal Commission Report, v. 2, p. 1594. Cf. Smith to
Tupper, Apr. 12, 1879, Dominion Sessional Paper 19 Q,1880,p.5

3. Order-in-Council, Dominion Sessional. Paper, 20, 1878, p. 62.

4. Report of Admiral De Horsey, 1ibid., p. 66.




- 102 -

istics of the route to the terminus, as described in Fleming's
reports, the suitability of the line and terminus to the inter-
est of thé populated parts of British Columbia, and lastly,
the ability of the terminus to command commercial shipping
from Australia, China and Japan. He rejected the mouth of the
Skeena because of "fog ice and other climatic causes" incident
to a high latitude and narrowed the choice to Burrard Inlet
and some port on Vancouver Island. He then condemned Burrard
Inlet. The approach to it fromlthe sea via Juan de Fuca was
dangerous to navigate, and it would be vulnerable in time of
war with the United States. Burrard Inlet itself, althéugh

"~ possessing a safe port in Coal Harboﬁr and a good anchorage in
English Bay, was objectionable because the narrow entrance to
‘Coal Harbour through the First Narrows was hardly safe for

. large steamers and because English Bay, although affording a
good anchorage, was not smooth enough during north-westerly

"~ gales for ships to lie at wharves.

Having condemned Burrard Inlet, De Horsey concluded
that the railway should be carried to Vancouver Island either
by steam ferry from Burrard Inlet to Nanaimo, by bridging Sey-
mour Narrows,or by steam ferry from Frederick Arm to Otter
Cove. He recommended the latter course, Having carried the
line to the Island it should terminate, he thought, at Esquim-
alt, Quatsino Sound or Barclay Sound. V

Fleming did not allow himself to be much influenced
by De Horsey's strongly expressed opinions. The rejection of
the northern terminus by De Horsey particularly displeased

him. In February, 1877, Commander Perry had expressed a
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1
favourable opinion of Port Simpson and surveys in 1877 had
substantiated this opinion? "A terminus at Port Simpson,"
Fleming thought, "would have the advantage of possibly the
best harbour on the mainland"? Of all the mainland harbours it
was most conveniently situated for the Asiatic trade. The route
terminating at Port Simpson, however, had still not been thor-
oughly surveyed. If this northern route were to be seriously
considered it would be indispensable that a thorough survey be
made of it. Fleming was in favour of this course, and if the
Government entertaingd this view he suggested that during the
1878 geason continuous explorations should be carried out be-
twgen Port Simpson and a point as far east as Lake Winnepegoos-
is% |
If the Government however deemed it essential to
carrive at an immediate decision the northern route could not be
considered. In this contingency the line would have to follow
the Bute Inlet route via Fort George, or the Burrard Inlet
route via the Lower Fraser. Burrard Inlet, Fleming considered,
not so eligible a terminal point as Esquimalt. It could not be
approached directly from the ocean and it was, as the Admiralty
pointed out, strategically weak. Fleming, since he was finally
to come to a decision in favour of Burrard Inlet, answered
‘these two objections for himself. The first objection he an-

swefed by pointing to the fact that other harbours in the world,

with an enormous amount of commerce, had entrances where

C. P. R. Report on Surveys, 1877, appendix U, p. 295.
Vide supra p. 100.

C. P. R. Report, 1878, p. 1l.

ibid., pp. 11-12,
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shipping was not entirely free from delays and risks -- New
Yopk, Glasgow, lontreal. The second objection seemed to him a
forcible one, but others -- he was probably‘thinking of Major-
General Selby Smyth -- had made light of it% Fleming finally
came to a decision in favour of Burrard Inlet because the route
to the east from Burrard Inlet vis Yellow Head Pass was 150
miles shorter than by the Esquimalt - Bute Inlet and Yellow
Head Pass route -- and 200 miles shorter if the Pine River Pass
were adopted, aé Smith had suggested, for the Bute Inlet route.
Even if the wide channels at Valdes Island were bridged and
the Railway carried to Esquimalt ordinary passehgers would lose
in time and money and a great loss would be sustained in carry-
ing freight. The cost of extending the Railway to Esquimalt
even without bridging the Straits would add 15 to 20 million
dollars to the cost of the line. The cost of maintenance would
be greater, and the anhual loss (which would be realized on
any route for some years) would be much greater. These same
arguments applied not only to Esquimalt but to any harbour on
Vancouver Island.
In concluding his report, Fleming stated:

The line located from Lake Superior to Burrard Inlet commands

generally more than ordinarily favourable gradients. If the

railway be constructed on this route in  the manner which I

have recommended, cheapness of transportation will be assured

and a@yangages will accrue in the future of the most import-

ant kind.

On this recommendation the lMackenzie Government adopted the

Burrard Inlet - Fraser valley - Yellow Head Pass route by

1. C., P. R. Report, 1878, p. 13.
2. Ibid., p. 15.
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order-in-council July 13, 1878l and in August advertised for
tenders for the construction of that portion of the line be-
tween Bmory's Bar, a few miles below Yale on the Fraser, and
Savona's Ferry on Kamloops Lake.

| The location of the line, however, was not finally
settled. The adoption of the Burrard Inlet route, as Sandford
fleming remarked in 1879, did not give "general satisfaction
in British Columb@a”? The citizens of the Lower Mainland were
naturally very pleased, but Vancouver Island was greatly disa-
ppointed that Eéquimalt was not seiecfed as the terminus and
the line carried from Bute Inlet, if not by bridges, at least
by steam ferry, to connect with an Island railway from Seymour
Narrows to Esquimalt. An acrimonious dispute had veen carried
on over the terminus between Lower lMainland and Island from
the time the railway was first projected in 1870? To pacify
the.Island, Macdonald in June, 1873, as we. have noted, fixed
Esquimalt as the terminus. When he returned to power in Sept-

ember, 1878, he again decided to pacify the Island, and re-

established Esquimalt as the terminus of the railway, in order,

1. Order-in-Council, July 13, 1878, Dominion Sessional Paper
21, 1881, p. 35.

2. Report in reference to the Canadian Pacific Railway, Ottawa,
1879, p. 18. ' ‘

3. The nature of the dispute may be witnessed by reference to
Victoria newspapers, particularly the Victoria Standard, ed-
ited by Amor de Cosmos and the New Westminster British Col-
umbian. BE.g., in Januvary, 1877, a letter appeared in the
Victoria Times written by a 'Mainlander' who signed himself
"0ld Settler" praising the "magnificent harbour of Burrard
Inlet". The letter immediately provoked a reply from an
'Islander, which was also published in the Times, who stated
that it was necessary to bring the line to Esquimalt to
"effectually promote immigration to that beautiful, salub-
rious, far spreading and fertile land British Columbia. ."
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as he explained to the British Columbia government, to leave his
government free to choose whichever route it consideredAbest%

Macdbnald's reasons for taking this action can hardly
be explained. Fleming was asked to state his views on the term-
inus question in the House of Commons? He repeated the reco-
mméndation contained in his report of 1878 that further sur-
veys should be made in the north to ascertain the absolute
feasibility of a route to Port Simpson, if postponement of
construction for this further examination could be admitted.
In April, 1878, the Hacdonald Government decided to postpone
construction in British Columbia to admit of these further
surveys recommended by Fleming.

The northern line projected by Fleming was to run
from Port Simpson along the Skeena and aéross Nérthern British
Columbia to Peace River or Pine River Pass. Fleming, himself,
seems to have been anxious to find a feésible line for the
railway along this route. The fact that Port Simpson was a good
harbour and aboﬁt 500 miles closer to Japan than Burrard Inlet
were important considerations. The ability of Port Simpson to
command traffic from the Orient could not be doubted. Moreover
the line acrosé northern British Columbia passed through the-
rich Peace River district and a wealthy mineral district. The
examination of this route in 1879, in Fleming's estimation
"really involved the determination of the problem whether the

choice of the Burrard Inlet route should be sustained or aban-

doned; and if construction should be immediately commenced on

1. Vide supra p. 61.
2. C. P. R. Report, 1879, p. 17.
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the southern or on a northern line”% However, the Macdonald
Government can hardly have considered the surveys of the north-
ern route in 1879 in the same way. Esquimalt, which they fixed
as the terminus, had no place in either the Burrard Inlet route
or the northern,route to Port Simpson. It is possible that Mac~
donald may have used the extra surveys as an excuse to delay
constructibn for another year, in order to give himself time
to chérter successfully a company to build the railway, which
coqld take over construction right across Canada. In any case
the surveys of 1879 disclosed three practicable routes from
Port Simpson: one leaving the Province by the Peace River; one
by Pine River, and one by Yellow Head Pasé. Sandford Fleming
received informatioﬁ regarding these routes on September 24,
1879, by télegram from Hay Lake, near Edmonton? and on Septem-
ber 30, he advised the Government to adopt the route from Port
Simpson through the Peace River country to Edmonton? "I have
no hesitation in saying," he wrote to Tupper, "that, consider-
ed apart from the question of climaté, the route to Port Simp-
son presents itself with so many advantages that, to my mind,
it opens up an excellent prospect of securing the most eligi-
ble route from the prairie region to the FPacific coast". The
line by the northern route was from 160 to 190 miles longer,
but Fleming believed that this disadvaﬁtage was more than off-

set by the fact that the northern line would pass through and

accommodate the Peace River coﬁntry. On the samed ay that

-1, Report and Documents in reference to The Canadian Pacific
Railway, Cttawa, 1880, p. 6.

2. Dominion Sessional Paper, 19 K, 1880, p. 14.
3. Ibid., p. I6.
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Fleming submitted his report, however, the Government received
from Colonel R.C, Moody a strongly worded recommendation of the
Burrard Inlet route. The Burrard Inlet route, as we have noted,
was considered objectionable mainly because it was feared to be
open to éttack from the United States. quonel Moody pointed
out that because it was near the south this route would be
-most valuable in defeﬁse of the Province. The northern roﬁte
was so far noith that it would be of comparatively small avail
in defence of the Province. Further, the northern route was
‘just as vulnerable to attack from the United States as the Burr-
ard Inlet route, since Port Simpson adjoined Alaska. Moody, un-
like Fleming, in choosing Burrard Inlet also éonsidered the
United States from a commercial point of view. Because Burrard
Inlet was close to the United States some addition to overland
traffic might be gained from the United States' side of the
frontier. The Government followed Moody's advice, rejected the
northern route, the Bute Inlet - Esquimalt route, and by order-
in-council, October 4, 1879, ratified the adoption of the

1 ‘
route by Yellow Head Pass to Burrard Inlet. Fleming was diréct-

1, Order-in-Council, Oct. 4, 1879, Dominion Sessional Paper 21,
1881, p. 46 . Fleming's comment on the abandonment of the
northern route is of interest. "Should it be desirable to
construct a branch to Peace River from some point on the
main line, east or west of Edmonton, the late examinations .- .
(of 1879) have established that such a line is perfectly - .7~
feasible™, A line now runs from the Canadian National Rail-
way mainline from Edmonton by the Peace River into the Peace
River district., The northern line had made ardent supporters,
Two pamphlets appeared in 1880 criticizing the Government
for abandoning it. Horetzky, C., Some Startling Facts Relat-
ing to the Canadian Pacific Railway and the Borth-West lLands,
also a Brief Discussion regarding the Route, the Western
Terminus and the lLands Available for Settlement, Ottawa,
1880, and Hewson, General Ii. Butt, The Canadian Pacific Rail-
way, Toronto, Patrick Boyle, 1880,
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ed to take steps for immediately placing under contract the

127 miles of the most difficult portion of the line -~ the same
portion for which Mackenzie had sought tenders in August, 1878
-- Emory's Bar to Savona's Ferry.

Nine years and over $3,000,000 of Dominion money was
spent on the surveys in British Columbia. Strangely enough the
route which was finally selected by both the Mackenzie and Mac-
donald governments was established as practicable in the first
yvear of the surveys. In the succeeding years the survey was
merely a hunt to discover a route which would offer an easier
and less costly line to construct and terminate at a more feas-
ible harbour. For six years this search was based on the entran-
ce to British Columbia from Edmonton via Yellow Head Pass. In
1878 and 1879 the search went northward to the Pine River and
Peace River Passes. When all was over the route surveyed by Mc-
Lennan and John Trutch's pérties in 1871 was adbpted. The long
years of surveys however caﬁhot be considered as a waste of
time or money ~- though they were lacking in practicable
results, Flemingwas right in concluding that if a better rdute
than the Fraser valley route could be fouhd.it was his job to
find it. No one could say in 1871 that he would not be success-
ful.

The great shock to all Fleming's work in British Col- "
umﬁié caﬁe.three years after the adoption of the Yellow Head
Pass -~ Burrard Iﬁlet route by.the Macdonald Government. In 1883
the Yellow Head Pass which had been the basis for practically

all Fleming's work was abandoned. Edmonton was abandoned, and

the line carried south to Calgary and into British Columbia by
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Kicking Horse Pasé, thence across the Selkirk and Gold Moun-
tains to Kamloops. Only Fleming's work on the Thompson and
Fraser valleys to Port Moody on Burrard Inlet was maintained.
The story of this reversal by the Canadian Pacific Railway Com-
pany chartered by Macdonald in 1881 must be left for another
chapter. At this point the Yellow Head - Fraser River route is
of greatest importange, for on this route at Yale the Dominion

began construction of the Railway in British Columbia.




CHAPTER IV

GOVERNMENT CONSTRUCTION -- PORT MOODY TO SAVONA'S FERRY

On the day before the Order-in-Councilvof Oétober 4,
1879,_adopting'the Yellow Head Pass =-- Fraser valley route to
Port Moody at the head of Burrard Inlet, the Dominion Govern-
ment advertised for tenders for the construction of the Can-
adian Pacific Railway in British Columbia from Emory's Bar to
Savona's Ferry, on Kamloops Lake% On the advice of Sandford
Fleming, this 127 miles of the line was divided into four sec-
tions: Emory's Bar to Boston Bar, Section "A", (29 miles) Bos-
ton Bar to Lytton, Section "B"™, (29 miles) Lytton to Junction
Flat, Section "C", (28} miles) and Junction Flat to Savona's
Ferry, Section "D", (404 miles) and individual tenders were
invited for each section to be received by noon November 17,
1879. The whole line from Emory's Bar to Savona's Ferry was
justly considered by Fleming to be a very heavy piece of work.
He consequently feared that few contractors would submit tend-
ers for the whole undertaking and advised the division of the
line into four sections to obtain greater competition among
the contractors and lower tenders? Contracts were to be given
to the lowest bidder for each section.

For Section "A", Emory's Bar to Boston Bar, 16 tenders

3
were received, of which the lowest, $2,727,300, was submitted

1. Report of the C. P. R. Royal Commission, 1882, Hvidence,
V. 25 DP. 1436.

2. Ibid., p. 1297.

3. This figure did not include the cost of rails, fish plates
and spikes, which were supplied by the Government.
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by Duncan Macdonald and Co?‘They were notified that the con-
traﬁt, which called for éomp;etion by December 31, 1883? had
been awarded to them on November 25? Duncan Macdonald and Co.
also submitted the lowest tender, $2,056,950, for the section
between Lytton and Junction Flat, Section "C", and were like-
wise awarded the contract for this section? The contract called
for completion of the line by December 31, 1884? For Section
npw betﬁeen Boston Bar and Lytton, 14 tenders were received,
the lowest being that of P. Purcell and Co., for $2,573,640.
They were duly awarded the contract? which was to be completed
by June 30, 1884? The contract for Section "D", from Junction
Flat to Savona's Ferry, which called for completion by June 30,
1885? was awarded to Messrs., T. and I, Kavanagh? They submitted
a tender of $1,809,150, the lowest of the 11 received by the
Government,

Fortunately the three contracting firms who received
the contracts for the railway in British Columbia from Emory's
Bar to Savona's Ferry were not destined to fulfil their contra-
cts.rfhe nature of the country along the railway line along the
Fraser and Thompson River valleys was such that it would have
been practically impossiblevfor the contractors to do their

work simultaneously in a profitable and expeditious manner. The

Dominion Sessional Paper, 19, 1880, p. 52.

ibid., p. 53.

Braun to D. Macdonald and Co., Nov. 25, 1879, ibid., p. 113.
Ibid.

Ibid., p. 88,

Braun to P, Purcell and Co., Nov. 25, 1879, ibid., p. 188.
Ibid., p. 157.

Ibid., p. 119. '
Braun to T. and M, Kavanagh, Nov. 25, 1879, ibid., p. 147.
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line would have to be laid from Emory's Bar, which was access-
ible by steamer up the Lower Fraser River, to Boston Bar before
the section from Boston Bar could profitably be constructed .
‘Similarly, the line along the Thompson River could not well
be constructed without the aid of the railway between Emory;s
Bar and Lytton. The difficulties of transport for the heavy

- railway supplies by other means than rail would have been
enormous. Moreover, the construction of the line would require
great supplies of skilled and unskilled labour; and laﬁour in
British Cplumbia, where the population was small, was very
scarce. A competition for labour among the three contracting
companies would have inevitably resulted in difficulties.
Labour costs would undoubtedly have risen and possibly forced
the weakest contractor to abandon his contract. The scene of
construction was isolated, and the work to be done excessively
heavy. Construction supplies would have to be transported long
distances either from Great Britain or across the United States
to San Francisco. Others =-- those'which could -- would have to
be manufactured by the contractor himself on the scene of con-
struction. Large works and plants would be required for this
work, which could only profe profitable on a large undertaking.
Taking all things into account the construction of the line
from Emory's Bar to Savona's Ferry could most efficiently --
and perhaps, only -- be carried out as one complete work in
the hands of a finahcially strong and able contractor,] This
fact was well recognized by Sandford Fleming and Charles Tupp-
er, who filled the new>and important office of Minister of

Railways and Canals in Macdonald's government. They were very
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pleased when the three contracting firms, to whom they had
awarded the contracts, asked to have their contracts trans-
ferred to Andrew Onderdonk, a contractor whom they had good
reason to believe had unlimited financial resources and great
ability.

Andrew Onderdonk, an American centractor and engineer,
as representative of a powerful American syndicate consisting
of himself, Darius 0. Mills, a millionaire banker of New York
and San Prancisco, H.B. Laidlaw, banker of New York, M.P. Mor-
ton of the New York banking house of Morton Bliss and Co. and
3.G. Reed, vice=-president of the Oregon Railway and Navigation
Co., Portland, Oregon} had submitted tenders for each of the
four sections of the line in British Columbia, but his tenders
were among the highest submitted. Onderdonk, however, had come
to Ottawa to obtain the contracts for the whole line from Em=-
ory's Bar to Savona's Ferry, and with the aid of his great
financial resources he proceeded to buy the contracts from the

2
successful bidders. To Duncan Macdonald and Co. he paid $100,000

1. Dominion Sessional Paper 19, 1880, p. 196.

2. Vide Report of the C. P. R. Roval Commission, 1882, Evidence
v. 2, p. 1297. D.0O, Mills: "Mr Onderdonk, as an engineer,
presented this work to a few of his friends of which I was
one; and having full confidence in Mr. Onderdonk as an en-
gineer, an able worker, and practical man to carry out the
works, we consented to go in and form what we called a syn-
dicate to avoid the name of partners. We formed a syndicate
and Mr. Onderdonk came to Canada to procure those contracts.
e+ At the same time we instructed him that we did not think
it was desirable to have one of them; that it was important
all these contracts should go into the hands of one party,
and if that should prove impracticable, why we did not think
it so desirable to have anything to do with the work".
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for the contracts for'seétions "AW and "C"l; to P. Purcell and
Co. he paid $100,000 for the contract for section "D”? He also
bought out Messra. Kavanagh, but the price he paid has not been
revealed. Each of these three contracting firms requested the
Government to transfer their contracts to Onderdonk? The Gover-
nment, since they realized that the work could be more eXped-
itiously executed by one contractor than by three, and since
they had received ample evidence thap Onderdonk was an able
and reliable engineer and contractor? gladly complied-in their
request, By Order-in-Gouncil, March 17, 1880, the contracts
for sections "A"™, "C"™ and "D" were assigned to Andrew_Onderdonk
and D.O. Mills, and, on the advice of Fleming and Trutch5 the
contract for section "B" was likewise assigned to Onderdonk
and Mills?

The Dominion Government gained by these several trans-

actions., Cnderdonk took over all the contracts at the lowest

l. Report of the C. P. R. Royal Comm1851onl 1882, Evidence, v.2,
p. 983.

2. Ibid., p. 1009.

3. Dominion Sessional Paper 19, 1880, pp. 116, 190, 1l61.

4. On introducing himself to Tupper in Ottawa Onderdonk brought
with him a letter from the Bank of Montreal stating that he
was a gentleman of the highest respectability and consider-
able means. He also brought letters of recommendation from
A,N. Towne, Superintendent of the Central Pacific R. R.,

H. Schuisler, Chief Engineer of the Spring Valley Water
Works, San Francisco, and the Harbour Comm1531oners of San
Francisco. Ibid., pp. 150-151.

5. Ibid., pp. 190-191.

6. I have been unasble to find the order -in-council awarding
gsection "B" to Onderdonk. It was awarded subsequent to the
other three sections for the reason that one member of the
firm of P. Purcell and Co. held out against selling to
Onderdonk. Report of the C. P. R. Royal Commission, 1882,
Evidence, v. 1, p. 953, Trudeau testified that Section "B"
was awarded by order-in-council in June, 1880, but does not
give the exact date. Ibid., Evidence, v. 2, p. 1205.
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price tendered for each of the four sections. The Government
was thus to have the line constructed at the lowest possible
price by an able and soiidly‘backed contractor. 3ir Charles
Tupper stated, in 1882, that by placing the whole Work in the
hands of Onderdonk who, besides being an able man, had command
of great resodrces, it was thought the work woqld be executed
.in a more satisfactory manner and procbably at less cost to the
country than it would have been if the original contractors,
whose means were not very large, had themselves undertaken the
Work% The Report of the Royal Commission of 1882 supported
Tupper's judgment: "The evidence leaves no doubt that the
arrangement by which the work on these four sections was placed
ih the hands of one firm of contractors was a very desirable
one in the public interest, and that it was secured without
paying an extra price on that account“%

Although in point of time the contract for the section
of the railway between Emory's Bar and Port Moody was not let
“until some two years after the original four contracts in Brit-
ish Columbia, it may well be mentioned'at this point, since it
also wés to be assigned to Andrew Cnderdonk. The Government ad-
vertised for'tenders for this section of 85 miles on October
24, 1881? mainly on the advice of Collingwood Schreiber, Flem-

ing's successor as Engineer-in-Chief, who believed that the

completion and putting undér traffic of the section between

1. Report of the C. P. R. Royal Commission, Evidence, v. 2,
p. 1292. '

2, Ibid., v. 3, Conclusions, p. 445.

3. Dominion Sessional Paper 48, 1882, p. 1l; Victoria British
Colonist (hereafter cited as Colonist) Nov. 13, 1881,




- 117 -

Emory's Bar and Savona's Ferry would not be of the same bene-
fit towards the development of the resources of the country,
as if the whole line from tide-water to Kamloops Lake was in a
condition to be operated. Further, the construction of the sec-
tion east of Kamloops fhrough the Rocky Mountains could not be
conducted with the_same advantage without rail communication
with the sea coast% Schreiber advised the Government to let
the work_as a whole in one contract, for three reasons: first,
vecause the rails and fastenings would have to be transported
over the line from Port Moody; second, because such a course
would very largely reduce the competition for labour, and third,
because the work was of such a character that it Wodld necessi-
tate the employment of a large amount of plant and rolling
stock which only a large contract could justify? Tupper con-
curred in the views of the Chief Engineer and recommended the
Government to give authority for the calling of tenders -- Phe
work to be let in one contract and upon the "Lump sﬁm" system?
The Government accordingly, by order~in-council, Cctober 19,
1881, authorized the advertisement for tenders for the con-
struction of the railway between Emory's Bar and Port Moody.
Fourteen tenders were receiﬁed, of which the lowest
was submitted by D. McDonald and A. Charlebois of Montreal%

The price named was $2,277;OOO, several hundred thousand dollars

below the Government estimate of the cost of the line made in

1. Schreiber to Braun, Oct. 15, 1881, Dominion Sessional Paper
48, 1882, p. 1.

<. ibid.

3. Ibid., p. 3.

4, Ibid., p. 30.
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December, 1880, of $5,506,0001; The McDonald and Charlebois
tender, however, was denounced as irregular, since the required
cheque for $20,000 which accompanied it was mistakenly marked
"good for 2 days only" by the Bank of Montreal? The next low-
est tender, $2,486,000, submitted by Onderdonk, was declared
‘to be the lowest tender in conformity with the regulations, and
Onderdonk was awarded the contract? McDonald and Charlebois
protested vigorously% stating that the "good for 2 days only"
mark on their cheque was a mistake of the‘Bank of Montreal and.
could have been easily corrected -- which was quite true -- but
the Goverrnment made no change in their decision. Actually they
had seized upon the little irregularity in McDonald and Charle-
bois's tender as an excuse to award the contract to Onderdonk,
whom Tupper had recommended as "having the necessary skill and
resources to carry out the undertaking". Onderdonk thus became
the builder of the C. P. R. in British Columbia from Port Moody
to Savona's Ferry. A few years later, evén before he finished
this section of the line for the Government, he became contractPI
or for the Canadian Pacific Railway Company and constructed the
line from Savona's Ferry to Craigellachie where he met the
steel from the East on November 7, 1885.
T&here can be no guestion that Andrew Onderdonk was a

brilliant young engineer and contractor at the time he was

awarded the Canadian Pacific Railway contracts in British Col-

umbia, He took out his original four contracts to construct,

1. Dominion Sessional Paper 23f , 1881, p. 23.
2. Dominion Sessional Paper 48, 1882, p. 47.
3. Order-in-Council, Feb. 8, 1882, ibid.

4, 1Ibid., p. 49.
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personally, the railway through the difficult Fraser and Thomp-
son river valleys -- a work which was generélly believed to be
as heavy as could be found énywhere - at the age of 31. But
his youthfulness, considering the great works he was to under-
take, was no doubt a great asset. He was a man of great courage
and ability, and though young when he entered on the railway
project in British Columbia, he was not without a great deal

of experience in work which involved heavy construction and

the command of engineers and labouring men.

Very little information is available concgrning his
life. Only a bare outli?e of some of the important events in
his career is available. He was born in New York City on Aug-
ust 30, 1848. His father's name was John Remsen and his
mother's, Sarah Trask. On his father's side he was a direct
descendent of Adrian van der Donk, who came from Holland and
gsettled in the United States in 1672, and from whom Onderdonk
evidently derived his curious name. On his mother's side his
ancestry was pure Iinglish, From both sides of his family Onder-
donk inherited a fine tradition of culture and ability. Four-
teen members of his family held Columbia Universify degrees;
some had distinguished careers in the diplomatic service;
several were bishops; some were doctors.

Onderdohk received his education at the Troy Institute

of Technology”at Troy, New York. On graduating he went to work

1. Letter of Mrs. Gladys Onderdonk (Bradford G.) Weekes to Dr.
W, Kaye Lamb, Provincial Librarian and Archivist, Victoria,
B.C., March 5, 1935; and Gibbon, John Murray, Steel of Em-
pire, Toronto, McLelland and Stewart, 1935, p. 186 ff.

Gibbon draws most of his information from lMrs. Weekes'
letter to Dr. Lamb.
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as a surveyor and civil engineer on the New Jersey Central Rail-
roéd, building roads and laying out townsites.

On May 10, 1871, he married Sarah Delia Helnan, of
Plainfield, New Jersey. lMrs. Onderdonk was to become well-known
as a gracious hostess ét Yale during railway construction days.
FProm his position with the New Jersey railway Onderdonk wentl
west to become general manager of contracts financed by Darius
Ogden Mills, the millionaire banker of California who was to
head the syndicate which financed Cnderdonk's contracts on the
Canadian Pacific Railway in British Columbia. He spent three
yvears in San Francisco building ferry ships and sea walls for
San Francisco harbour, "completing all his contracts in time
in spite of fierce opposition from Dennis Carney, the notorious
labour agitator of the Pacific coast"% By 1880 he was a well
established éontractor of San Francisco. A.N. Towne, the Super- .
intendent of the Central Pacific Railway, described him as one
of the largest contractors on the Pacific Coast, "thoroughly
competent to perfomm ghatever he might feel disposed to under-
take as a contractor™. To point to Onderdonk's succegs in Brit-

ish Columbia is ample comment on Towne's warm praise.

1. Gibbon, op. cit., p. 187.

2. Dominion Sessional Paper 19, 1881, p. 151.

3. On the completion of his work in British Columbia Onderdonk
went East, where he was engaged on several large construct-
ion works. Among other great works, he built the Entre Rios
Railroad on the Wegt Coast of South America, nine miles of
tunnel of the Chicago water-works, the double track rail-
road tunnel for T.H. and B.R.R. in Hamilton, Ontario, the
Northwestern Elevated road in Chicago and parts of the Trent
and Soulange Canals., He became half owner of the Union Bridge
Company. He died at Oscawana-on-the-Hudson, N.Y., on June
21, 1905. He is buried in the Episcopal Church Cemetery at
Mount Rose, N.Y. Mrs, Onderdonk died December 10, 1931.
Onderdonk had five children: Sherly, Eva, Percy, Arthur and
Gladys. Sherly, Percy and Arthur are dead. Eva, Mrs. Henry
T. Prudy of San Jose, Costa Rica, and Gladys, Mrs. Bradford
G. Weekes of Oyster Bay, Long Island, survive.
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To Mrs. F.W. Vincent of Victoria, who knew both Mr.
~and Mrs., Onderdonk while they were in British Columbia, we are
indebted for this short sketch:
Mr. Onderdonk was téll, fair and very good-looking, was prob-
ably of Dutch-American origin, very steady and clear-headed,
but not of much polish. Mrs. Onderdonk was also fair, but
short and very pleasant-looking. They were in a way a happy-
go=-lucky couple, very fond of enjoying themselves and used
to entertain a good deal. lMr. Onderdonk always dressed like
a city man even in the small uncivilized place that Yale was
during 1881 - 84.
Mrg. Vincent and Onderdonk's daughter, Mrs. Weekes, are agreed
that Onderdonk enjoyed life in British Columbia. In her letter
to Dr. Lamb, Mrs. Weekes writes: "I know my parents entertain-
ed many distinguished people at their headquarters at Yale,
British Columbia, that they had many adventures and loved their
lives in British Columbia; in fact I am sure they were the
happiest years of their existence".
Preparation for the commencement of construction in
British Columbia began soon after the letting of the contracts
in Ottawa. Early in January the Dominion Government made in-
quiries in Victoria to ascertain the capacity of British Col-
2
umbia to furnish supplies for the railway construction, and
in March the Government warned all those who possessed lands
~which the railway would have to cross, that they would have to
sell them to the Bominion at prices irrespective of their en-
3
hanced value due to the construction of the raiilway. On April
2, a party of Government engineers arrived in Victoria en route

4
to the scene of construction. The party consisted of several

1. Onderdonk file, Provincial Archives, Victoria, B.C.
2. Colonist, Jan. 11, 1880. '

3., Ibid., March 2, 1880.

4, Toid., April 3, 1880.
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men who were to play important parts in the construction of the
railway in British Columbia -- H.J. Cambie, G.A. Keefer, L.B.
Hamlin, T.H. White, G.C. Carmon, W.C. Mitchell, Melchior Eberts,
J.P. Howe, J.W. Heckman and H.B. Smith. Ten days later they
were joined in Victoria by Onderdonk, and on the 16th, Engin-
eers and Onderdonk, accompanied by the Hon. Joseph Trutch,
whom the Government had appointed as their confidential agent

in British Columbia to aid in the administration of the rail-
1
way lands, proceeded to Yale to make preparations for the
2 .
commencement of construction.

At 1 o'clock, Saturday, May 15, 1880, the firing of
the first blast at the first tunnel above Yale marked the be-
ginning of construction of the Canadian Pacific Railway in
Britiéh Columbia. The event was well described by one of those
present in the Iontreal Gazette.

The memorable day was showery, which did not interfere with
the gathering of interested spectators. After some congrat-
ulatory remarks for the Conservative Government and the
Pacific Province by persons present, Mr. Onderdonk, at the
request of Hon. J.W. Trutch, ordered the foreman to light
the fuse == a grand success; the loud noise resounded in the
Fraser Valley some distance, besides causing a downpour of
rain....
After the blast Captain John Irving, cf Fraser and Thompson
River fame used the whistle of his sternwheel river bvoat,
the 'Enterprise' to add to the ceremony. Again after the
blasted rock was removed from the waggon road, close to the
railway line in the tunnel, Mr. Stephen Tingley, memorable
for his mountain rcad driving with the mail and special up-
. country coaches, appeared with covered special, holding the
reins of six lively horses, and with the consent of the
tunnel foreman was allowed to go up the road .o

1. Order-in-Council, F¥eb. 25, 1880, Dominion Sessional Paper
21, 1881, p. 48.

2. Colonist, April-1l6, 1880.

3. Quoted by Gibbon, op. c¢cit., p. 189. Gibbon gives the date

of the event as May 14, 1880, but the Inland Sentinel, Sept.
%3, 1880, and the Colonist, May 16, 1880, are agreed on
May 15.
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Although Emory's Bar was chosen as the western term-
inus of Onderdonk's linef because of the riffle in the Fraser
River at that point which impeded navigation to Yale at cer-
tain seasons of the year, Onderdonk fixed his headquarters -at
Yale; In a very short time Yale became one of the most active
towns in British Columbia. Hotels and boarding houses, which
had remained almost idle from the days of the gold rush, sudd-
enly acquired a lively business as men moved up the river to
work on the railway. "This time," wrote the editor of the

Inland Sentinel (the former Cariboo Sentinel) M. Haggan, who

2
opened his office at Emory on June 10, 1880, "surpasses the
3
best mining days of '58 = 9 etec." The centre of greatest

activity -- after the saloons and hotels -- was probably Onder-
donk's house, which he used both as a home for his family and
his principal assistants and for storage and office spéce.
Apart from his headquarters in Yale, Onderdonk erected a hds-
pital to take care of those injured on the works of construct-
ion. Dr. E.B.C. H‘cnnington4 was appointed to administer the
hospital, assisted by Dr. A.H. Sheldon? Dr. Hannington and his

staff were to lead a very busy life during the four years from»

1880 to 1885, and if the Inland Sentinel and Colonist can be

believed, at times they were quite inadequate to give proper

1, Actually the terminus was fixed by Schreiber and Cambie one
mile below Emory's Bar. Colonist, July 28, 1880.

2. The Inland Sentinel was published at Yale, June 10, 1880 to
May 15, 1884, It renewed publication at Kamloops July 31,
1884, ’

3. Inland Sentinel, June 17, 1880.

4. Dr. Hannington was succeeded in April, 1885, by Dr. H.E.
Langis, who at present resides in Vancouver, B.C.

5. Inland Sentinel, June 17, 1880.
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attention to the many injured who came to them for relief}

Life in Yale during construction days defies descrip-
tion. While work in the Fraser Canyon and below Yale to Port
Moody was in progress Yale was thronged with 1abourihg men of |
almost every nationality. Chinese, French Canadians, and English,
Scotch and Irish, who came principally from the United States,
were most prominent, Over this motley crowd very little effect-

ive restraint was exercised. The Editor of the Inland Sentinel

complained on more than one occasion that the police force, one
man, was inadequate, and the Colonist reported in May, 1881,
that "the condition of affairs at Yale ([was critical. A feel-
ing of insecurity [pervaded] allAclasses"? Pay day in Yale,
which came on the 10th of each month, seems to have been invar-
iably aécompanied by drunken brawls., Sunday was élso a popular
day for celebration. One whovwas there in 1880 describes a Sun-

day in Yale with vivid brutality in the Inland Sentinel of lay

29, 1905.

The town of Yale was en fete that day, in a 'wild and woolly'
sense, and the one long main business gtreet, fronting on the
river, presented a scene and sounds at once animated and gro=
tesque, bizarre and risque. The shell like shacks of saloons,
whereof every third building, nearly, was one, fairly buzzed
and bulged like Brobdignagian wasps' nests, whose inmates, in
a continual state of flux, ever and anon hurled in and out,
in twos and threes, or tangled wrangling masses. Painted and
bedizened women lent a garish colour to the scene., On the hot
" and dusty road-side, or around timbers, rails, and other con-
struction debris, men in advanced stages of intoxication roll-
ed and fought, or snored in bestial oblivion.
3
Judge F.W. Howay, who quotes this passage, beélieves from person-

al experience that this picture of a Yale Sunday is uncoloured.

1. Vide Inland Sentinel, Oct. 7, 1880; Aug. 16, 1883; Colonist,
ay 18, 1881; lay 28, 1881.

2, Colonist, May 18, 1881, _

3, Howay and Scholefield, op. cit., v. 2, p. 418.
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On July 27, 1880, Yale suffered a temporary setback
when the whole town was consumed‘by fire% Onderdonk lost his
fine house despite a water tank he had erected to protect it.
The town, however, was soon rebuilt. Onderdonk built a new
building for his headguarters, this time at the West_end of
Front Street (which ran parallel to the river) isolated and
comparatively free from fire? Thié building served Onderdonk
throughout his work in the Province. It still stands at Yale,
having escaped the ravages of an even greater fire than that
of July 2?,1880, which destroyed Yale on August 18, 1881?

At Emory's Bar a town sprang up which has been charac-
terized by Judge F.W. Howay as 'epheméral'. Emory, as the
western terminus of the lige on the Lower Fraser, became the
point of traﬁs-shipment of railway supplies from the river

steamers to the railway. At Emory also disembarked the men en

route to the works of construction. The Inland Sentinel report-

ed, on September 23, 1880, that Emory was "a booming™. "Three
steamers to-day -- Hotel crowded , railroad tents all around --
work at the bridge and grading in earnest -- parties after
choice lots, etc."

Naturally the major business of Yale and Emory centred
around the production and handling of construction supplies for
the railway. At Emory Onderdonk built a dock to receive con-
gstruction supplies -- rails, fish plates, spikes, provisions,

timbers (and occasionally a locomotive) -~ whence they were

1. Inland Sentinel, July 29, 1880.
2. Ibid., August 5, 1880.

3. Ibid., August 25, 1881,
4., Howay and Scholefield, op._cit., v. 2, p. 418,
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trangsported by rail or road to the rail-head andvcampS»above
Yale. Rails, fish plates and spikes were brought to New West-
minster by sailing ships from England. Here they were unloaded
and trans-shiﬁped to thé river steamer for Emory's Bar -- or
if they were intended for use on the Port loody -— Eméry's Bar
liine they were carried to convenient points along the Fraser,
.Port Haney, St Mary's Mission, Harrison River, Mgriaville aﬁd
“the Indian village opposite Hope. When the line from Port Moody
to Yale was completed supplies were shipped to Port Moody and
thence by rail up the line above Yale,

Onderdonk established his warehouses at Yale and Em-
ory. At Yale he built machine shops, for servicing the loco-
motives which he imported from San Francisco, and for the man-

ufacture of railway cars. The Inland Sentinel reported on

April 21, 1881, that the Railway Machine Shop was in full ofer-
ation under the operation of Mr. Henry McGowan, and that it had
one of the finest lathes in the province. Close by the Machine
Shop Onderdonk erected, early in 1882, his car shop which by
May, 1883, was turning out a flat car a day% An Engine House
was builté complete with turn-table, to houée three locomotives
at a time.

Besides building his own flat cars Onderdonk manu-
factured at Yale, at Emory, and along the line, whatever he
could of value in the works 6f construction. His.principal

operations were the manufacture of explosives, great quantities

of which were required to blast a line through the rocks of

l. Inland Sentinel, May 3, 1883.
2. Ibid., June 19, 1882.
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the Fraser and Thompsen River canyons, and the cutting of rail-
way ties and bridge timbers. He erected his ekplosives plant at
Yale. After an expenditure of $20,000 the plant was feady by
January, 1881, for the manufaoture of 2,000 1lbs of Dean's
Safety Nitro-Glycerine daily% At Texaé Lake, a few miles below
Emory, Onderdonk operéted a steam saw-mill, day and night,
cutting ties and bridge timbers? Two more mills were operated
further up the 1line.

Onderdonk was never able to cut all the ties and tim-
bers he needed. He.purchased great quantities of ties and bridge
timbers from the saw-mills of New Westminster and Burrard Inlet.
On April 5, 1882, for example, he advertised for tenders for
232,000 cross ties for the line from Emory's Bar to Port Moodj?
with the result that ties for the railway were soon drawn from
Pitt River, Harrison Lake, Boundary Bay and Salt Spring Island,
and the saw-mills of New Westminster and Burrard Inlet, as the
Columbian remarked, enjoyed a 'boom'.

The problem of transport for construction supplies and
ﬁrovisions was a continual source of trouble to Onderdonk. Trans-
port for the heaviest of the railway supplies -~ rails and ties
-- was easily arranged, for once the track was laid they were
merely carried to the rail-head over the finished line. But
transport for the supplies of food, tools and explosives, which

had to go beyond the rail-head to the gangs engaged on the

grade, was often difficult, and always very costly. The Cariboo

1. Colonist, Jan. 20, 1881, Vide Chittenden, Newton H., Guide
or Travel Through the Cascade Mountains, Victoria, 1882.

2. Inland Sentinel, April 5, 1883,
3. New Westminster Brltlsh éolumbian, April 5, 1882.
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road;”of course, was the only means of transport up the Fraser
valley above Yale, and along this road many of Onderdonk‘s
supplies were carried. The construction of the railway, however,
often impeded traffic along the road, for often the railway
crossed or followed the foad. Deléys occurred while the road
was repaired or built in another location. But the main diff-
iculty of transport, as far as Onderdonk was concerned, was

the cost. "In addition to other transportation charges," Chitt-
enden observed, "Mr. Onderdonk pays $10.00 for every ton of
his freight passing over the Yale-—Cariboo Wagon Road, except-
ing for the production of the.Province".

As construction advanced further and further up the
river transportation costs became heavier, and Onderdonk final-
.ly decided to build a small river steamer to be used on the
navigable stretches of the Fraser above Yale, Construction of
the little steamer began in December, 1881? on the river 15
miles above Yale near the "Big Tunnel", and was completed early

in May, 1882. It was launched on Tuesday, May 9th, an account

of the event appearing in the Inland Sentinel on May 1llth.

The time was fixed at 11 a.m., and a little before Mr. and
Mrs. Onderdonk, Mrs. Bacon, and some others arrived by the
cars, Mr. Dalton gave orders to remove the blocks, and five
minutes before time away the boat slipped into the water,
receiving her name, we believe from Mrs. Onderdonk, "The
Skuzzy" (the name of a little stream above the Big Tunnel).

Having successfully launched the "Skuzzy" fifteen miles above
Yale the next difficulty to meet was getting the little steam-

er up the river through the treacherous Hell Gate to Boston

l. Chittenden, op._cit., p. 35
2. Inland Sentinel, Dec. 8, 1881.
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Bar, whence she was to ply to Lytton With supplies in advance
of the rail. Chittenden has left this interesting account of
the Skuzzy's treacherous journey to Boston Bar.

Then came the difficulty of finding a captain able and will-
ing to take her through. One after another went up and looked
at the little boat, then at the awful canyon, the rushing
river and the swift foaming rapids, and turned back, either
pronouncing the ascent impossible or refusing to undertake
it. Finally Captains S.R. and David Smith, brothers, were
.sent for, both well known for their remarkable feats of
steamboating on the upper waters of the Columbia. The former
ran the steamer Shoshone 1,000 miles down the Snake River
through the Blue lMountains -~ the only boat which ever did,
or probably ever will, make the perilous passage. He also

ran a steamer safely over the falls of Willamette at Oregon
City. He said he could take the Skuzzy up, and provided with
a crew of seventeen men, including J.W. Burse, a skiiful
engineer, with a steam winch and capstain and several great
hawsers, began the ascent. At the end of seven days I found
them just below Hell Gate, having limned safely through the
roaring Black Canyon, through which pent-up waters rush like
a milirace at 20 miles an hour. Returning from my journey to
the interior, I had the pleasure of congratulating the captain
upon the successful accomplishment of the undertaking, and of
seeing the Skuzzy start from Boston Bar with her first load
of freight. Captain Smith said the hardest tug of war was at
China Riffle, where, in addition to the engines, the steam
winch, and 15 men at the capstain, a force of 150 Chinamen
upon a third line was required to pull her over! The captains
received $2,250 for their work .+

The Skuzzy was a strongly built craft of 120 tons, with dimen-
sions, 120 feet length, 24 foot beam, and four and a half feet
depth of hold. She was propelled by two horizontal engines in
addition to which she had a steam winch placed in her bows "for
the purpose of working through the chutes and rapids"™ which
ever recurred along the route from Boston Bar to Lytton. Her
hull was adapted to meet the many perils of navigation on the
Fraser., It was divided into upwards of twenty compartments each
partitioned off from the other by watertight bulkheads. Half her

bottom could be torn out -- as actually did happen =-- without

1. Chittenden, op._cit., p. 36
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sinking her%

The Skuzzy had a short but adventuresome and useful
career, carrying supplies and provisions up the river between
Boston Bar and Lytton. The effect of the little boat on the

freight carrying along the Cariboo read was immediate. On the

opening of the spring season in 1883 the Inland Sentinel re-
.marked that Cariboo wagon road freighting was light and that it
was feared the big trams would not pay. "The cars and 'Skuzzy' N
do a large share of the Kailway freight carrying"? igy the end
of 1883, however, her usefulness was complete as the grade to
Lytton had almost reached completion. She was tied up above
Boston Bar where she remained until 1884, when her machinery
was removed, takem to Savona, and placed in a newly built
‘Skuzzy, number two? The new Skuzzy was used below and above
Kamloops for transport and as a "floating hotel" for the track-
layers, moving along with them as they proceeded along the
gradej |

An even more difficult problem than cheap transporta-
tion was the problem of obtaining adequate supplies of skilled
and unskilled labour. Labour in British Columbia was scarce
and as a result labour had to be imported from Bastern Canada,
the United States, particularly from California; and from China.
Even the Indians of the province were occasionally employed.

Onderdonk brought most of his skilled and professional

help with him from San ¥rancisco, including E.G. Tilton, his

1. The Resources of British Columbia, Victoria, Oct. 1, 1883,
2. Inland Sentinel, May 17, 1883.

3. The Land of Heart's Desire, The Inland Sentinel, Quarter
Century Commemorative Number, Kamloops, B.C., May 29, 1905,

p. 33.
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Chief Engineer and General S&perintendent, and George F. Kyle,
Tilton's assistant% But he was never able to obtain all the
skilled help he needed., As late as April, 1884, when work had
been in progress for almost four years, he complained that he
needed good, practicai railroad men, bosses and sub-contractors
and could employ'a large number of this class? Cnderdonk's chief
difficulty, however, was to find enough unskilled labourers to
do clearing, grading, track-laying and ballasting work. In
1882, D.0O., Mills, representing the Onderdonk syndicate before
the C. P. R. Royal Commission testified that only the scarcity
of the supply of laﬁour would render completion of the line by
the requested date, June 30, 1885, impossihle? In October,
1881, Tupper called attention to the same difficulty. "The
question of'iabour," he told the Toronto Mail, "has been a very
serious one, both in Britizh Columbia and on the works between
Thunder Bay and Red River". Onderdonk was continually advertis-
ing for labour and on several occasions he left the Province

to recruit workers in San Francisco.

Work began at Yale in May, 1880, with 500 men employ-

5 6
ed; by the middle of June 1,000 were at work; and by September
7
the force had increased to 1,600 men. By 1881, Onderdonk was in
8

need of 4,000 men, and for some time work was retarded owing

to the shortage of white men -~ 'Onderdonk's Lambs}! as they

1. Vide B. C. Directory 1882/83, for Onderdonk's staff.

2. Interview with the Portland Evening Telegram, April 12, 1884.
Quoted by Inland Sentinel, April 14, 1884,

3. Report of the T.P.K. Royal Commission, 1882,Evidence,v.2,pl2%

. Colonist, Oct. 16, 1881,

. Toid., Hay 29, 1880.

. ibid., June 23, 1880,

. ibid., Sept. 11, 1880.

. Inland Sentinel, March 10, 1881.
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became known, At this time Onderdonk began employing large num-
bers of Chinese on his works -- Chinese who had come to British
Columbia from 1876 to 1880 direct from China and from San Fran-
cisco, where they had been employed on the construction of the
Central Pacific and Southern Pacific Railways%

| The employment of Chinese immediately produced pro-
tests from the white inhabitants of the province, but Onder-
donk was very careful to explain that he employed Chinese only

as a matter of necessity and that he preferred white labour.

On February 11, 1881, he wrote to the Editor of the Inland Sent-

inel:

There appears to be an impression abroad that we propose to
work Chinese on our railroad contracts, to the exclusion of
white labour. This impression is working us an injury, as
many who might otherwise apply for work are discouraged from
doing so. As it is imperative to work a very large force of
men the coming season, we shall employ both classes of labour,
and shall-furnish employment for 3,000 white men, at our
current rates for that class of labor, on application, pro-
vided they are handy and industrious.

In March, Onderdonk left Yale for San Francisco in
3
search of labour, and soon hundreds of men were on their way
by steamer up the Fraser to Yale, white and Chinese. Every boat

brought men for the railway. On April 7, the Inland Sentinel

remarked that the last arrival of railway workmen from Californ-
ia appeared to be able-bodied and remarkably quiet. The next

issue of the paper, April 14, reported that the William Irving

had arrived in the morning bringing 216 white men and some

1. Vide Report of the Royal Commission on Chinese Immigration,
Cttawa, 1884, p. v. 2,326 Chinese entered British Columbia
from 1876 to 1880.

2. Inland Sentinel, Feb. 17, 1881.

3, lbid., March 24, 188l.
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Chinamen for the railway work. On April 12, the Colonist stated
that COnderdonk was still in California forwarding men to Yale,
and that he anticipated no difficulty in securing 6,000 men to
work on the line, Onderdonk did secure a large number of white
labourers in California, and also.some French Canadians engaged
in Quebec, but the 6,000 men whom Onderdonk was to secure were
made up of large numbers of Chinese imported direct from Hong
Kong, China. |

Over half the 16,000 Chinese who came to British Col-
umbia from 1876 to September, 1884} (the date of the Report of
the Royal Commission on Chinese Immigration) came in the years
1882 and 1883, when the demand for labour for the construction
of the railway was at its height? >Although no direct evidence
is available on the subject it seems that Onderdonk made arran-

gements with the Dominion and Imperial Governments to have

Chinese shipped directly to British Columbia for railway con-

struction. At least the New Westminster British Columbian
stated in January, 1882, that there was good authority for
stating that the C.P.R. contractor had four ships under
charfer to convey five thousand Chinese direct from China to
the railway works in this province." It is not possible to say
exactly how many Chinese were employed by Onderdonk. In 1884
the Royal Commission on Chinese Immigration gave the figure

ét 2,9003 but estimates as high as 6,000 have been made. White

labour seems to have exceeded Chinese, generally, but on the

1, Over 27,000 whites came in the same period.
2. Report of the Royal Commission on Chinese Immigration, 1885,

p' v.
3. Ibid., p. 364.
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section from Emory's Bar to Port Moody Chinese easily predom-
inated. The contract for this section of the line was not let
until two yéérs after the original four contracts and as a
result when Onderdonk came to begin construction here his
available labour supply was engaged on the Emory .--— Savona line,
He was forced to fall back upon Chinese. In November, 1882,
for 100 whites working at Mapie Ridge there were 500 Chinese%
By January, 1883, there were 900 Chinese% At Port Moody in
Januaryé 1883, there were 550 Chinese, but on1y1100‘white
workers. The Chinese made excellent railway navvies -- as they
"had on the Central Pacific and Southern Pacific -- and worked
for 1ower wages, but they were useful only for the most menial
and unskilled labour. Onderdonk was thus particularly hard
pressed for white labour for the line froﬁ Emory to Port Moody
-- the supply never satisfied his demands.

Onderdonk eﬁployed Indian labour on the Emory - Port
Moody line and at Lytton in 1882%v They worked well and gave
satisfaction, receiving the current rate of wages paid to white
workers. It is of interest, however, that the editor of the
Columbian objected to t he employment of Indians on the railwﬁy
since it would seriously interfere with the fishing indusfry.
"The employment of so many of the Lower Fraser Indians on the
railway works at $2 a day is sure to exert a more or less in-

jurious influence upon the fishing industry. The labor question

is a most serious one, affecting every industry in the country,

1. Columbian, Nov. 29, 1882,

2. Tvid., Jan. 20, 1883.

3. Ibld., Jan. 24, 1883.

4. Tnland bentlnel, April 27, 1882.
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and the sooner s satisfactory solution can be found the better"}
Actually there was no solution for the labour problem
which would satisfy everyone. British Columbia had experienced
a great boom on the commencement of the railway and although «
about 45,000 immigrants came to British Columbia in the years
between 1876 and 1885, the éupply of labour still seemed inad-
equate, Onderdonk's remedy was Chinese labour; but the employ-
ment of Chinese on the railway was bitterly attacked. The Port
Moody Gazette boldly declared that t here was "no affinity be-
tween [the White and Chinese races]| in spite of all that is
preached about the universal brotherhood of man,"2 and lamented
the fact that "the greater part of the millions to be expended
on‘railway construction will go to China"? To all critics,
Onderdonk replied that he preferred white labour, but since he
could not obtain enough of it he had to employ Chinese in order
to complete his contracts% In this opinion he was supported by
3ir John A, Macdonald. At a meeting in Toronto, Macddnald stated
that he was "opposed to Chinese labor in America", for he did
not think it was for our interest "to bring in sémi-barbarians

to work out and supersede white labor". But he was "pledged to

build the great Pacific Railroad in five years and if [he could

l. Columbian, May 27, 1882.

2. Port Moody Gazette, April 12, 1884,

3., 1Ibid., April 5, 1884. '

4. The Columbian, June 10, 1882, states that Onderdonk offered
to contribute $250,000 towards a scheme for introducing the
right kind of labor into British Columbia but his proposal

" was not entertained by the Government. I have found no sub-

stantiation of this statement. In Onderdonk's favour it must
be mentioned that on two occasions he raised the wage rates
for white labour. Vide 1Inland Sentinel, June 10, 1880, and
Aug. 25, 1881, and Colonist, April 13, 1882,
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noﬂ] obtain white labor, [hé] muét employ other"%

That the Chinese were of great value in the develop-
ment of’Bri%iSh Columbia could not be denied, but the great
prejudice against the Chinese, who were generally looked upon
as a great moral and social evil, outweighed all othef con=-
siderations. In January, 1883, the Provincial Government drew
attentioh of the Dominion Government "to the immense influx of
Chineée into this Province, consequent upon the Railway Con-
tfactor importing large numbers from Asia,” and asked for legis-
lation for the purpose of preventing immigration of Chinese
into the Province? On July 4, 1884, the Dominion Government
appointed a Royal Commission to inquire into the question of
Chinese immigfation into Canada. The Commission was chiefly
impressed by the great aid Chinese labour had given to the

development of industry and the construction of railway in Brit-
ish Columbia and completely exonerated Onderdonk. "It admits of
no question," their report stated, "that withouﬁ their labour,
the construction and completion of the Canadian Pacific Rail-
-way would have been indefinitelyApostponed"?

‘Whenever possible Onderdonk used machinery on the
grading work -- steam shovels for excavation and steam and com-
pressed air drills for tunnel and rock-cutting work =- and had

it not been for these mechanical aids his labour problems would

have been even greater. It seems that steam shovels were not

1. Columbian, June 10, 1882.
2. Order-in-Council, Jan. 18, 1883, B.C. Sessional Papers, 1883,
. p. 345,
3. Report of the Royal Commission on Chinese Immigration, 1885,
p. xiv.
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% Two were placed on

used, however, until the summer of 1883
excavation work above Yale, and a third was used on the Port
Moody section near Maple Ridge, Work with the steam shovel be-
gan on August 20, at Maple Ridge. The editor of the Columbian
wrote With delight that this was "bad news for the Chinamen
whose services are not now required"? Steam-drills arrived
from San Francisco in July, 1880, for work on the tunnels above
Yale? the first being used on the "Big Tunnel" (No. 6, above
Yale) on August 5% Later steam drills were replaced by com=-
pressed air drills, which were found‘to be more efficient.'

On the whole, Onderdonk had little trouble with his
huge labour force. The white labourers were constantly coming .
and going, and this turnover, no doubt, caused serious diffi-
culties. The Chinese, on the other haﬁd, were steady and re-
liable, The,main’diffiéulty seems to have been to keep the
white and.Chinese labourers working amicably together. Mixed
gangs were not used but white foremen were almost invariably
placéd over the Chinese gangs. Occasionally differences arose
between foremen and Chinese which resulted in rather serious,
and on occasions, fatal accidents., In February, 1883, several
rows took place between the Chinese gangs at laple Ridge and
thie white foremen. In some cases.gither the foremen or the

Chinese received serious injuries. On May 10, of the same year,

at Lytton a Chinese gang assaulted the foreman. During the

1. Columbian, July 11, 1883.

2. Ibid., August 22, 1883.

3. Inland Sentinel, July 1, 1880.

4, Ipbid., Aug. 5, 1880.

5. Columbian, ¥Feb. 3, and Feb. 14, 1883.
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following night severai of the white workers attackéd the
Chinese camp, burned it to the ground and injured several‘of
the Chinese, one, so seriously, that he died%'Riots of this sort
however were not common, and of very little consequence,

Cnderdonk was rarely troubled by strikes. He paid good
wages and regularly, and although there were many who complain-
‘ed of their bosses and board supplied in the camps, others
praised conditions alon% the line. A Chinesé strike took place
above Yale in May, 1881, and there was a strike among the white
laborers along the Port Moody line in February, 1884? but no
strike of &ny importance troubled Onderdonk.

Onderdonk pushed his great works through to completion
with all possible despatch. There were no serious delays during
the whole four years he was engaged on the line from Port Moody
to‘Savona's Ferry. Work was carried on throughout the whole of
each year, although naturally it was briskest during the spring,
summer and autumn months)and somewhat retarded during the winter
season. No time was lost in commencing the work at Yale in the
spring of 1880 and no time was lost in rushing it to cbmpletion.
Work was carried on at night as well as by day, and Sunday
labour, although forbidden by the contracts, was almost a rule.

The work which began with the first blast at No. 1
Tunnel, above Yale, progressed rapidly under the supervision of

Onderdonk and his engineers, superintendents and riding bosses,

and the Government engineers. E.G. Tilton was an efficient (and

1. Colonist, May 11, 1883.
2. Inland Sentinel, May 19, 1881.
3. Gazette, Feb. 23, 1884.
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_popular) construction superintendent and he was succeeded  in
1882 by a man equally able, M.J. Haﬁey. Onderdonk's 'riding
bosses'lone of whom was placed over each s=ction of the line
knew well how to keep their men at work -- and some were very
popular. Superintendent James Leamy who was dver the section
from Emory to Boston Bar was characterized by one of his workers
as "as fine a man as e'er 1 met"% For the Government, larcus
Smith became Deputy Engineer in Chief in British Columbia, and
wés placed in charge of the line from Port'Moody to Emory's Ba;?
H.J. Cambie had charge of the line from Emory's Bar to Boston
Bar. George A. Keefer had charge from Boston Bar to Lytton,
H.A.F. Macleod from Lytton to Junction Flat and L.B. Hamlin,
from Junction Flat to Savona's Ferry?

The work of preparing the grade from Emory's Bar to
Savona's Ferry proceeded on each of the four sections simul-
taneously, in order that there would be no delay in track-laying
which proceeded progressively up the river valley from Emory's
Bar. The heaviest work occurred on the section between Yale and
Boston Bar. On this section 15 tunnels had to‘be constructed
including the largest on the whole line, the "Big Tunnel", Whidhv
‘was 1,600 feet long. Fortunately, this heavy section was readily

accessible from the head of navigation on the Fraser. The light-

est work occurred from Junction Flat to Savona's Ferry, except

1. The China Herder's Lament, Gazette, July 5, 1884. M.J. Haney,
in this amusing poem, however, is named "the meanest man on
all the road",

2. The British Columbia Directory 1882 - 1883, p. 372.

3. Gosnell, op. cit., pt. 2, pp. 100-108 (narrative by H.J.
Cambie); Howay and Scholefield, op._cit., v. 2, p. 419;

Robinson Noel, Blazing the -Trail through the Rockies, News
Advertiser, no date, p. 104, and The British Columbia Direct-
ory 1882 - 1883, p. 372.
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for the large rocky bluff which ran sheer down to the Thompson
River near Savona's Ferry.
On Thursday noon, September 23, 1880, the first tunnel,

No. 2 tunnel, 3% miles above Yale, was completed. The occasion

was celebrated, according to the Inland Sentinel "by Mr. Onder-
donk supplying a barrel of beefm% No. 1 tunnel was put through
by November 18, 1880? By March, 1881, four tunnels were complet;
ed and work was proceeding, although hampered by a shortage of
men, on tunnels Ho's., 5 and 6 (the 'Big Tunnel'). The 'Big Tunn-
el' was completed and ready for track laying on October 19,
1881, Mr. Onderdonk again supplying a barrel of beer to cele-
brate the occasion? While these works were undertaken above
Yale, work on the grade was proceeding far up the river and be-
tween Yale and Emory. All along the Cariboo road there was
great activity, 'freighters and pack trains in motion -- Whites,
Chinamen and Indians =-- horseé, mules and ponies in great var-
iety”%
5

Track-laying began at Emory's Bar in April, 1881, and
by July 4, of the same year, sufficient track had been laid to
celebrate American Indépendence Day with an excursion between
Yale and Emory. The first locomotive, appropriately named the
"Yale", had arrived at Emofy toWards the end of April from the
Joseph Enright Wbrks,lSan Jose, California, accompanied by sev=-

6
eral cars. The account of the first railway excursion ever held

1., Inland Sentinel, Sept. 30, 1880.
2. Ibid., Nov. 18, 1880.

3. Ibid., Oct. 20, 1881.

4. Ibid., April 28, 1881,

5. Ibid., March 31, 1881,

6. Ibid., April 28, 1881.
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in British Columbia which appeared in the Inland Sentinel ,

July 7, 1881, is of interest:

The cars stood upon the track near the head of Albert street;
they were.six in number, all well seated with new lumber from
the Emory Mill....Shortly after 9 o'clock the New Westminster
Brass Band, that had arrived with the 'Wm Irving' Excursion,
the afternoon previous, made its appearance, and were pro-
vided with seats upon the third car. Now the pleasure seekers
began to rush on board and take seats....the word was given
and the shrill whistle of the engine gave warning and the
Band striking up 'Hail Columbia' away the first Excursion’
train upon the C. P. R. in British Columbia went, apparently
to the satisfaction of the people....In passing Mr. Onder-
donk's villa the Band played with spirit 'Star Spangled
Banner'. The train moved pleasantly along at a speed far be-
yond the expectation of the masses.

The work of ballasting the track began soon after the rails
were laid, and the "Yale" when not hauling rails, ties, and
bridge timbers to the rail-head was engaged hauling gravel for
the Chinese and white section gangs who were engaged tamping
the ties. By August, the track had been laid some six miles
above Yale, and the work of transporting steel timbers and
gravel was becoming too much for one locomotive. A second loco-
‘motive -- sé small and old that the editor of the Inland Sent-

1
inel was very disappointed in it. -- arrived at the end of Oct-

ober. A third engine, named the "New Westminster" wés unloaded
at Emo}y in July, 1882?

Work on the section from Emory's Bar to Port Moody
began in April, 1882, when Indians were put to work clearing
a right of way for the grade. Soon work began along the line

-- at Port Moody, Maple Ridge, Emory's Bar -- on the grade. The

beginning of work at Port liocody brdught a new town into béing;

1. Inland Sentinel, Nov., 3, 1881,
2. Ibid., July 20, 1882,
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P.S. Hamilton, theeaitor of the Port Moody Gazette, wrote of
the beginnings of the western terminus of the Canadian Pacific
Railway.

Until the summer [of 1882) , the shores of Port Moody pre-
sented to view an unbroken line of heavily timbered forests.
The first break made in these wild surroundings, towards the
close of the summer of that year, was in commencing the con-
struction of a railway terminal wharf. Simultaneously with
~this work the work of felling and removing the timbers from
the railway track was also commenced. About the end of Oct-
ober, gangs of men were set to grading the track. In the
month of May [1883] the fine iron ship "Duke of Abercorn"
arrived out as the first of a squadron loaded with steel
rails for the Canadian Pacific, and was discharged at the
railway wharf. This ship was, during the summer and autumn
followed by seven others making eight in all down to the
month of October, and of the burthen of from 1190 to 1800
tons, similarly loaded with steel rails, plates, spikes, etc.

Port Moody looked forward to the future with confidence.
"Tmagination," wrote P.S._Hamilton, *ig tasked to conceive how
great, and prosperous; and brilliant, its future must bew?
Port Haney also came to life as a railway construct-
ion centre. Here mény supplies were brought from New Westmin-
ster for use along the line. A correspondent of the Columbian

wrote in December, 1882, that a 'boom' had commenced at Port

Haney. "On Saturday the steamers Reliance, Gem, Lily, Wm, Ir--

ving, and Myra (late Pacific Slope) were all here. The Irving
and Myra wére landing cargoes of Chinamen and Chinese wares.
On Sunday evening the Irving came alongside again and ianded
freight..,.The Royal City will have to look to her laurels"?

Port Haney's good fortune was short, however, for soon Onder-

donk moved the depot on the Fraser a few miles down the line to

l. Gazette, Dec. 22, 1883.
2. Ibid.
3. Columbian, Dec. 6, 1882.
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Port Hammbnd, Which also became an active centre.

Onderdonk pushed the Port Moody = Emory‘s Bar line to
completion as quickly as possible, as he wished to use it to
transport supplies to the rail-head above Yale. The line between
Emory anduHope was particularly rushed to completion in order to
avoid the dangers to navigation on the Fraser above Hope to Em-
ory's Bar. Men were moved from work on the grade near Port Haney
in order to complete this portion of the line. The track was
laid to the Indian village opposite Hope from Emory's Bar by
June 14, 1883} and Hope then replaced Emory's Bar as the point
of trans-shipment from river steamer to flat car. Track-laying
commenced at Port Moody July 19, 1883, and at Maple Ridge towards
Pitt River, July 17, 1883?

The work of laying the track proceeded night and day?
By August 23, 1883, the track had been laid 3% miles from Port
Moody, where it was delayed awaiting the eompletion of a bridge
acroes a ravine at that point. Further up the line, track had
been laid from Port Haney to Pitt River. From Zmory, rails had
beeh laid fourteen miles to Ruby Creek? By Januery 22, 1884,
the line had been completed from Port Moody to Emory's Bar?
although the contract had not called for completion until June
30, 1885?

On January 25, the’first through train left Port

Moody with steel for the line above Yale, along which the track

1. Inland Sentinel, June 14, 1883,

2. Columbian, July 21, 1883.

3, Ibid., Aug. 23, 1883,

4, Ibid.,

5, Ibid., Jan. 23, 1884,

6. Dominion Sessional Paper, 48, 1882, p. 18.
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had been laid within a few miles of the Fraser River crossing
at Cisco, five miles below Lytton% Not only was the line used
to transport railway supplies but almost immediately it was
used to carry mails téb and_from the interior, and for carrying
cattle to Port Moody. On February 6, 1884, for the first time
the Cariboo mail came down by rail to Port Moody. "On the
novel fact becoming known,"™ the Porf Moody Gazette reported,
"some of our.citizens, after the example of Henry Ward Beecher, -
on witnessing a certain victory of the Northern Arms in the
late U.S., Civil War, exclaimed =-- *'Bully Halleiujah!'"2 On Feb-
ruary 15, the first train load of cattle came down the line?
and thereafter they came by almost every train. |

The principal reason for rushing the Port Moody =--
Emofy's Bar line to completion was to have it ready before the
track on the upper section’reached the Cisco Bridge croséing,
so that the parts of the heavy steel cantilever bridge which‘
was to cross the river at this point could be carried by rail
‘directly from Port Moody. Onderdonk accomglished his object in
good-time. The steel reached the bridge crossing by'February 9,
about two weeks following thevjoining of the rails between
Emory and Port Moody%

The contract for the construction of the Cisco bridge
had not been let with the original contracts for the construct-

ion of the railway in British Columbia, but Onderdonk, on Feb-

ruary 22, 1882, entered into an agreement with the Dominion

1. Gazette, Jan. 26, 1884,
2. Ibid., Feb. 9, 1884,
3. Ibid., Feb. 16, 1884.
4. Ibid., Feb. 9, 1884,
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Government to place the bridge, which was manufactured in Eng-
land, across the Fraser. The Cisco bridge, which, exceptiﬁg the
Big Tunnel above Yale, was the largest single engineering work
on the whole of Onderdonk's contract, was so large and fine a
structure that it was carefully described by the Newcastle
Chronicle while it was being made by Hawkes, Crawshay and Co.
of Newcastle, England. Manufactured invEngland, the bridge was
brought ih parts around Cape Horn by the barque Stormy Petrel

2
to Port Moody. It arrived on December 14, 1883. With the com=-

pletion of the line between Zmory and Port Moody and to the
bridge crossing, the parts were taken up the line by rail, the
first train load leaving Port Moody on February 6, 1834? There
was a delay of some four months in track laying while the brid-
>ge waé being placed across the Fraser -- the'only delay of any
length which Onderdonk experienced in his work -- but by June 6,
1884, the track was laid across the bridge% and on June 18,
1884, the "Iron Horse" bounded into Lytton? Twélve days later
on June 30, 1880, the time for the completion of the contract
for the section between Boston Bar and Lytton éxpired.

With the apprbéch of the steel towards Lytton another
town in British Columbia sprang into prominence, while further
down the line, Yale, though still the scene of Onderdonk's

headquérters, was sinking into depression. In April, 1883, a

witty observer wrote the editor of the Inland Sentinel:

1. Dominion Sessional Paper, 48 , 1882. Not printed.
2. Gazette, Dec. 22, 1883.

5. Ibid., Feb., 9, 1884,

4., Ibid., June 7, 1884.

5. 1bid., June 21, 1884.
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Qur little town is looking now more prosperous than it has
for many a long day; all the hotels are full to overflowing
“and at the door of each the "garcon" can be seen smiling and
courteous. Among them, that prince of Lytton landlords, Mr.
Geo. Baillie, seems to be as happy as ‘'a clam at high water'.
With him it is not a question of boarders but how to find
room for them. Those of our citizens, who have teams, are
getting them in from the various ranches and with the use of
buckskin and wire are making speedy preparations for the
coming freight season. All our saloons (and their number is
leglon) are doing a flourishing business; some of them in
fact evidently are poor calculators, for they have found it
necessary to lengthen out their winter's supply of "fire
water" by a liberal recourse to "chuck" much to the disgust
of all good lovers of the 'flowing bowl'....So you see Mr.
HEditor that the "fiikle goddess" has awakened Lytton from her
"Van Winkle doze", '

While Lytton was rejoicing in her prosperity, Yale was beginhing
to bemoan the signs of decline. The ever frank editor of the

Inland Sentinel wrote in March, 1884, that "no longer does any

doubt exist as to the blow about to be struck at this town".

In July he noted that "times in Yale are getting pretty quiet
and some are piéking up their traps to start for another loca-
tion"? He, himself, had moved from Yale; he wrote this comment
for the first issue of his paper published in Kamloops, July 31,
1884, Kamloops, like Lytton, with the approach of the railway
experienced a great boom,

With the track laidfto Lytton and the grade practical-
ly completed along the line to Savona's Ferry, it was very few
months before Onderdonk compleﬁed his contracts by reaching
Savona's Ferry on Kamloops Lake. The 29 miles of track to Junc-
tion Flat (Spence's Bridge) were laid by September 11, 1884%

By the end of the year the steel had been laid within three

1. Inland Sentinel, April 5, 1883.
2. Ibid., March 6, 1884,

3. July 31, 1884,
4. Inland bentlnel, Sept. 11, 1884.
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miles of Savona's Ferry} It reached Savona's Ferry on January
3, 1885? The completion of the line by the required date, June
30, 1885, was confidently expected. In October, 1885, Schreiber
reported that the line from Port Moody to Savona's Ferry "may
almost be said io be completed, being so far advanced that it
may shortly be accepted by the Government. It is in fine running
condition...."

| Onderdonk's construction activities did not end at
Savona's Ferry. Some time before the completion of the Govern-
ment line to Savona's Ferry, Onderdonk received contracts from
the Canadian Pacific Railway Company to build the line beyond
Savona's Ferry to Kamloops and on past Kamloops across the Gold
Mountains through Eagle Pass to meet the Company line coming
over the Rodky and Selkirk Mountains from Calgary%'Work on the
first seventy~five miles of the line beyond Savona's Ferry be-
gan early in 1884? and when Onderdonk reached Savona's Ferry
with steel for the Government he proceeded straight along the
grade laying steel for the Company. But the story of this sec-
tion of the line must be left for the following chapter as it

forms part of the story of the Canadian Pacific Railway Comp-

any construction in British Columbia.

1. Schreiber to Bradley, Dec. 31, 1884, Dominion Sessional
Paper 25, 1885, p. 4l1l.

2. Colonist, April 1, 1885.

3. Schreiber to Bradley, Oct. 10, 1885, Dominion Sessional
Paper 35, 1886, p. 1ll.

4. I have been unable to find exactly when or under what circum-
stances and conditions Onderdonk received contracts from the
-Company. The Colonist, April 1, 1884, states that Onderdonk
received the contracts in February, 1884.

5. 3chreiber to Bradley, Oct. 1, 1884, Dominion Sessional Paper
25, 1885, p. 36.




CHAPTER V
THE CANADIAN PACIFIC RAILWAY COMPANY, THE CHANGE OF

ROUTE AND CONSTRUCTION IN THE MOUNTAINS

In June, 1880, Sir John A. Macdonald, after some
months of silence and difficult negotiations, announced that
the Dominion government had secured the co-operation of a group
of capitalists to build the Canadian Pacific Railway, and on
October 21, 1880, a contract for the construction of the road,
ekcluding those sections which were under government construct-
ion, was signed at Ottawa by Sir ‘Charles Tupper and several
Canadian, American, English and French capitalists. Montreal
capital was well represented; George Stephen, President of the
Bank of Montreal, R.B. Angus, lanager of the same bank, and
Duncan McIntyre, Manager of the Canada Central Railway,»signed
the contract. James J. Hill and J.S. Kennedy represented Amer-
ican capital. The English banking house of Morton, Rose and
Cbmpany, whose American branch, Morton, Bliss and Company,
formed part of the Onderdonk syndicate, brought English capital
into the project. French capital was enlisted by Kohn, Reinach
and Company. Other important members of the syndicate, although
their names did not appear on the contract, were Donald A.
Smith, who had obtained a controlling interest in the Hudson's
Bay Company, J. Cochran, a wealthy Quebec cattle breeder, and
the Socié€té Geénérale of France. The contract was ratified and

the members of the syndicate incorporated as the Canadian Pacific

l., 44 Vic., c. 1.
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_ 1
Railway Company by Act of Parliament, February 15, 1881l.

By the terms of the contract, the Company agreed to
build some nineteen hundred miles of railway ﬁetween Callen-
der, near the end of Lake Nipissing, and Savona's Ferry by
May 1, 1891, and to operate the Canadian Pacific Railway, when
completed, forever. The Government, in return, agreed to com-
plete and hand over to the Company the section of the line
under Govermment construction in the east and in British Col-
umbia between Port Moody and Savona's Ferry, which cost on com-
pletion @37,785,320% In addition, the Company was to receive
a cash subsidy of $25,000,000 and 25,000,000 acres of land
along the line in Manitoba and the North West Territory. The
materials required for the construction of the line, and the
capital stoék_of the Company, was exempted from taxation for-
ever., The land grant was exempted from taxation for a period
of 20 years. Much ts the personal.benéfit-;f J.J. Hill, George
Stephen and R.B. Angus, who were owners of the St. Paul, Minn-
eapolis and Manitoba Railway, material for construction was to
be admitted into Canada free of duty. Another important feature-
of the contract was that it prohibited the construction of any
line south, or southwest, within 15 miles of the 49th pérallel,
of the Canadian Pacific Railway, within 20 years, thus giving
the Company a virtual monopoly of railway transport in western

Canada..

The contraqt called for commencement of construction

1. 44 Vic., c. 1; House of Commons Debates, 1880 - 1, v. 1, and
Journals of the House of Commons 1880 - 1.
2. Innis, op. cit., p. 98.
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in the east by July 1, 1881, Preparations for the work began
iﬁmediately.'The first and most difficult task was to engage
sufficierit capital to build the remaining 1900 miles of the
main line, to build or purchase branch lines and extensions,
and to provide equipment. The financing of the company =-- an
interesting story in itself -- however, cannot be discussed
here. It has been carefully described by Professor H.A. Innis

in his History of the Canadian Pacific Railway. A simple but

useful account can be found in Dr. 0.D. Skelton's volume in
1
the Chronicles of Canada series, The Railway Builders. While

the difficult task of financing the Company was tackled, plans
were being rapidly made tovcommence construction? The company
established its construction headquarters at Winnipeg, where
A.B. Stickney was placed in charge as Construction Superintend-
ent, assisted by General Rosser as Bngineer-in-Chief., The
Government had contracted for the completion of the line from
Selkirk to Thunder Bay in 1882, thus giving the Company rail
and water transport from.Winnipeg3 to Sault Ste. Marie. The
Company immediately made plans to connect Sault Ste., Marie with
the Canada Central Railwéy, in order to obtain a direct rail
and water route from Winnipeg to Montreal as quickly as possible.

Plans were likewise made for the construction of the line north

1. Skelton, 0.D., The Railway Builders, Toronto, Glasgow, Brook
and Co., 1922,

2. Innis, op._cit., pp. 102 - 103.

3. Winnipeg was connected to Selkirk by the Selkirk - Pemblna
Railway built by the Dominion Government and completed in
December, 1878.
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1 .
of Lake Superior, and westward from Winnipeg across the prairies.

Under the contract of October, 1880, and the Act of
1881, the Canadian Pacific Railway Company Were to build the
railway along the route fixed by the Government in October,
1879, -- west to Edmonton and through Yellow Head Pass into
British Columbia to Kamloops and Port Moody. But the C. P. R. .
Syndicate, even before the contract was signed, seem to have
decided to change the route and adopt a more southerly location
west of Winnipeg to the Pacific at Burrard Inlet. Thére.is.no
positive information available of when this decision was méde
or what inspired it. The question of a more southerly route,
however, was being generally discussed by the end of thé year,
1880? and in the spring of 1881, survey parties set out from
Winnipeg and Victoria, the latter under Major A.B. Rogers, to
.locate a more southerly roufe across the prairies and through
the Rocky and Selkirk mountains of British Columbia to Kamloops?

The question of the location of the line was unquest-

ionably the major consideration of the C.P.R. Syndicate in

1. The construction of the line north of Lake Superior was
opposed by J.J. Hill and George Stephen, who were owners of
the St. Paul Minneapolis and Manitoba railway, which had been
connected in December, 1878, with the Selkirk and Bembina
Railway constructed by the Dominion Government. Hill opposed
the Lake Superior -line since it would take traffic from the
St. Paul Minneapolis and Manitoba railway. The Dominion
Government insisted on an all-Canadian route across Canada,
and Hill realizing that his American and Canadian railways
could not be operated togetner withdrew in 1883 from the
Canadian Pacific directorate. Stephen and Angus shortly
afterwards withdrew from the St. Paul, Minneapolis and Hani-

_ toba Railway.

2. The Victoria Colonist, Dec. 28, 1880, featured an editorial
on the respective merits of the Howse and Yellow Head Passes.
Consideration of a more southerly route by Howse Pass, the
editorial stated was at that moment occupying the attention
of the Government and Syndicate at Ottawa.

3. Innis, op. cit., p. 103; Colonist, Dec. 25, 1881, and Inland
Sentinel, April 21, 188l.
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deciding on a more_southerly route for the railway, although
the advantages of a more southerly location were ne#er discuss-
ed in any of the Company's reports to the Dominion Government,
or in any of the debates on the change of route which took place
in the Dominion House of Commons., James J. Hill, as his biog-
rapher, J.G. Pyle, states, no doubt had control of construct-
ion and location of the line during the three years he was a
member.of the Canadian Pacific directorate% Hill, most probab-
ly, was responsible for the decision to change the location of
the line west of Winnipeg. He undoubtedly saw the advantage of
having the Canadian Pacific Railway run as closely as possible
to Jay Cooke's Northern Pacific Railway, which at the time was
in course of construction. A southern location for the Canadian
Pacific was essential to prevent the Northern Pacific from
commanding the bulk of the traffic of the southern prairies and
British Columbia. A southern line would have the further advan-
tage of being able to capture not only the traffic of the south
but also the traffic of the north, since there would be no
alternative railway‘for the people of that region to patronize.
Hill, who had extensive fuel interests, also had reports on the
coal~-bearing areas in Southern Alberta, or what is now southern
Alberta, which prior to 1880 were not available?- If the line

were carried south, paying traffic would thus be secured from

the beginning. The extent of Hill's interest in a more southerly -

1. Pyle, J.G., The Life of James J. Hill, New York, Doubleday,
Page and Co., 1917, v. 1, p. 319.

2. Geological and Natural History Survey of Canada, Report of

Progress for 1880 - 81 - 82. Part B. Preliminary report on

the Geology of the Bow_and Belly River ﬁegion, North-West
Territory, with special reference to the Coal Deposits, by
Dr. G.M. Dawson.
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route for the Canadian Pacific Railway is witnessed in the fact
that it was he who engaged M¥ajor A.B. Rogers to conduct the
explorations for the new route in British,Columbia%

The advocates of the southern route -- the C. P. R.
Syndicate and the Dominion Government -- advanced other reasons
than the question of location and ﬁhe Northern Pacific for
changing the loqation of'thelline. They argued that if the line
~were carried south it would pass through country more likely
to afford good traffic for the line than the country along the
Yellow Head Pass route? For a long time it had been mistakenly
believed that the.southern prairies was a barren desert country
and that the country to the north was infinitely sﬁperior --
Fleming thought so -- but in 1879 and 1880 this myth was expl-
oded by Professor John Macoun and Dr. G.M. Dawson. The former
reported that the southern prairie country was admirably suit-
ed for farming and ranching? the latter that the Bow and Belly
river regions were rich in deposits of coal% Macoun and Dawson
thus cleared away one obstacle.to the_adoption of a southern
route. Moreover, it was well fecognized that although a railway
across the Rocky and Selkirk Mountains would run through
valueless country, it would, since it crossed the Columbia,

give easy access to the valuable Kootenay country of southern

British Columbia, The C. P. R. Syndicate emphasized the fact

1. Wheeler, op. cit., appendix E, p. 417.

2. House of Commons Debates, 1882, p. 852. Tupper: "It would
enable us to go through a much better country in the Prove
ince of British Columbia than we otherwise could go through':

3. Macoun, John, Manitoba and the Great North West, Guelph,
Ont., The World Publishing Co., 1882.

4, Vide supra p. 152, n. 2. :
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that a southern line would tap the valuable southern Alberta
and Kbofenay regions when they applied to the Dominion govern-
ment for permission to take the line further to the south in
1882.

The principal reason, however, put forward by the
Syndicate for adopting a more southerly route was that the
route they proposéd to adopt was about ‘100 miles shorter than
the Yellow Head Pass route% If a practicable line could be
found through one of the southern passes of the Rocky Mountains
and across the Selkirk Mountains they argued fhat the line
would be considerably shortened, operating costs decreased and
a great advantage gained in attracting transcontinentgl traff-
ic. It is impossible to believe, however, that 100 miles dis~
tance, or the 79 miles distance which was actually saved by the
new route, was the primary reason of the Syndicate for advocat-
ing the change. What would be saved in distance they must have
realized would be offset by greatly_increased grades and costs
lier construction. The main object of the Syndicate was to get
the line as close as possible to the international boundary
line., There is even a possibility that had the Government not
already commenced construction between Emory's Bar and Savona's
Ferry, when the Canadian Pacific Railway Company was chartered,
Kamloops would have been abandoned and the line in British
Columbia deflected still further towards the south. In fact,
in November, 1882, the Victoria Colonist reported a rumour

that construction along the Fraser valley would cease and the

1. Van Horne to Tupper, April 18, 1883, Dominion Sessional
Paper 27, 1883, p. 6.
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1
line would be carried by the Nicola valley to Eagle Pass., Mar-

cus Smith and the Hon. J.W. Trutch were at that time making an
examination of the Nicola River valley.

In British Columbia the question of getting the line
further to the south was of great importance, for the rich
Kootenay and QOkanagan districts could easily be tapped from
the United States by way of the Columbia and Xootenay River
valleys. The Columbia river was the natural route into south-
eastern British Columbia. Practical recognition of this fact
was made in 1883 when a Bill was introduced and passed in the
British Columbia Legislature to incorporate the Columbia and
Kootenay Railway and Transportation Company for the purpose of
running a line of steamers from a point on Kootenay River, at
the United States boundary, through Kootenay ﬁake to its out-
let, constructing and operéting a line of railway from the out-
let of Kootenay Lake to the Columbia River, and thence running
another line of steamers to the head of navigation on the Col-
umbia. This transport system would be of great benefit.to the
Canadian Pacific Railway as it would establish a sort of
branch line into the Kootenay diStrict.lBut here is the signif-
icant point. The "Kootenay Bill", as it became known, immediate-
ly called forth a protest from the Northern Pacific Railway.

An agent of the Northern Pacific appeared in Victoria in April,
1883, and attempted by handsome bribes to cause the defeat of
the Kootenay Bill in the Legislature? Here was the beginning

of the rivalry between the Canadian Pacific and Northern Pacif-

1. Colonist, Nov. 15, 1882,
2. Ibid., April 12, 1883.
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ic Railways in British Columbia -- a beginning which dates
before the completion of either line. If the Canadian Pacific
Railway had been 1ocated by the Yellow Head Pasgs it would have
‘been at a serious disadvantage in the étruggle which ensued.
with the Northern Pacific Railway. As it was, the Canadiah'
Paﬁifié Railway Company had to spénd large sums of money and
take overwa 1iné running close to the boundary (the Kettle
Valley line) to capture the traffic of southern British Colum-
bia.
1
On April 13, 1882, Sir Charles Tupper, in anticipation

of an application from the C. P. R. Syndicate for the Govern-
ment's permission to carry the line by a more southerly route
to Kamloops, introduced a Bill in the House of Commons, which
was subsequently enacted on May 15, to place within the power
of the Governor-in-Council, if they should think the interest
of fhe country to be thereby promoted, the right to authorize
the location of the Canadian Pacific Railway through a pass
_south of the Yellow Head Pass, but not within 100 miles of the
American boundary? In introducing the Bill Tupper stated:

I entertain strong doubts, from the best information I can

obtain, as to the practicability of going through the Kick-

ing Horse Pass, although I know the Canadian Pacific Rail-

way Company are somewhat sanguine that they will be able to

effect that object. If that object be effected =-- which I

regard as, in fact, very doubtful -- it will no doubt involve
a great expenditure, probably greater than that involved by

1. House of Commons Debates, 1882, p. 852.

2. 45 Vic., ¢c. 53, I have been unable to find any direct evi-
dence regarding the stipulation that the Rocky Mountain pass
had to be 100 miles from the American boundary. It was most
probably a military precaution. The Government evidently
feared that if the line were too close to the boundary it
would be vulnerable in times of hostility with the United.
States.
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following the line by the Yellow Head Pass, but it would be

of great importance to the country to shorten the line of

the road by something like 100 miles, and enable us to go

through a much‘better cguntry in the Provinci of British

Columbia than we otherwise could go through.
Tupﬁer also showed that he recognized that the change of route
involved another problem besides the discovery of a feasible
route through British Columbia. Where was the railway across
the prairie from Winnipeg to be located while the route in
British Columbia was being determined? In April, 1882, Tupper
had an easy answer to this question. The Government, he stated,
had approved of the route only as far as Moose Jaw Creek, from
which point it could easily be diverged to the Yellow Head
Pass; and they were éetermined to settle the route no further
than Moose Jaw Creek until the location of the line in British
Columbia had been fixed?.A year later, however, as we shall
see, the road was being built across the prairies towards
Kicking Horse Pass, before the line in British Columbia had
been conclusively proved practicable.

The line which the C. P. R. Syndicate proposed to

adopt was outlined by Major A.B. Rogers in the summer of 1881,
Four_surveying parties were engaged in 1881, in making examin-
ations of the Rocky Mountain passes south of Yellow Head Pass,
and Major Roger's made an exploration in the Selkirk Mountains.
Four passes were examined in the Rocky Mguntains, the Howse,

Vermillion, Kicking Horse and Kananaskis. No regort on these

surveys is available but it seems that as a result of them

1, House of Commons Debates, 1882, p. 852,
2. Ibid., p. 853.
3. Colonist, Jan. 29, 1882.
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Major Rogers picked out Kicking Horse Pass as the most practic-
able. The Vermillion and Kananaskis passes were not seriously
considered owing to their steepness, and to the distance which
would have to be traversed along the Columbia from their wes-
tern outlet before reaching the crossing which Majof Rogers,
as a reéult of his exploration, believed was available over the
Selkirks by the Beaver and Illecillewaet rivers. The Howse Pass
had lighter gradients than the Kicking Horse Pass,.and would
have rendered construction easier than the Kicking Horse Pass.
The Kicking Horse Pass was chosen, however, since its length
from a common starting point in the Bow River valley, where the
Company intended to direct the railway, to Rogers' Selkirk
crossing was about 30 miles less than the Howse Pass.

On‘April 15; 1882, Tupper received word of Rogers'

work from the Engineer-in-Chief at the Company's Headquarters
1
in Montreal.

From the results of the surveys as far as made Mr. Rogers is
sanguine that the descent from the Kicking Horse summit to
the Columbia River will not exceed eighty feet per mile, and
that the gradients from Bow River to the summit will not be
raised.

Mr. Rogers also made a reconnaisance from Kamloops easterly
to the summit of the Selkirk Range, and from general observa-
tion and barometer readings he states that gradients will he
obtained not exceeding sixty-six feet per mile between Kam~
loops and the north fork of the Illecille West River, and
from thence to the summit of the Selkirk Range the gradient
will not exceed eightyfeet to the mile.

In consequence of difficulties which beset Mr. Rogers, arriv-
ing from a shortage of supplies, he was unable to specially
examine the country between the summit of the Selkirk Range
and the East Branch of the Columbia River, a distance of about
thirty miles. v
Before leaving the summit, however, he ascended the "Divide"
and while seeing generally a very broken country to the east-
ward, he observed that one of the ravines led in the desired

1. Smellie to Tupper, April 15, 1882, House of Commons Debates,
1882, p. 954.
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direction for a distance of quite ten miles. There is also on
the west side of the Columbia a large stream, Beaver Creek,
which has its source in the vicinity of this broken country.
From these observations Mr. Rogers feels assured that the
distance in which difficulties may be expected in crossin§
the Selkirk Range will be reduced to ten or twelve miles.i
As a result of the work of 1881 Rogers was able to project a
new route for the railway in British Columbia east of Kamloops.
It crossed the Gold Kange by Moberly's Eagle Pass, the Selkirks
by the Illecillewaet and Beaver rivers, and the Rockies by
Kicking Horse Pass.

Van Horne's comments on Rogers' work, which were also
forwarded to Tupper on April 17, the day on which his Rocky
Mountain Construction Bill came up for second reading, clearly
showed that the Company was anxious to prove the practicability

'of this new route, almost regardless of cost.

Major Rogers reports that there is no gquestion about feasi-
bility of good line with easy grades through Kicking Horse
Pass although work will be very expensive. The crossing of
the Selkirk Range is the only thing in doubt, but explora-
tions have progressed sufficiently to justify belief that

they can be crossed by use of some long tunnels. The worst

that can happen in case of failure to cross Selkirk is that

1. For a description of Major Rogers' exploration in the Sel-
kirks vide Rogers, A.L., Major A.B. Rogers' First Expedition
up the Illecillewaet Valley, in 1881, accompanied by his
Nephew, A.L. Rogers, Wheeler, op. cit., appendix E. Rogers
tried the Illecillewaet valley on the suggestion of Walter
Moberly, who had first entered the Illecillewaet in 1865,
and who claims that one of his assistants, Albert Perry,
followed the south-east branch of the Illecillewaet and Rog-
ers' Pass in 1866, Vide supra pp. 70 - 71. lMoberly's claim
is probably correct and the pass over the Selkirks which
now bears Rogers' name should probably bear that of Perry.
Mr. T.C. Young of Vancouver states that the late Mr. Tom
Wilson of Banff, who went with Rogers, in 1881, as guide,
told him that while on that trip they would have perished
had they not stumbled on one of Perry's cabins that had been
erected in 1866 when Perry was exploring the Pass for Moberly.
Mr, O, Wilkie of New Westminster states that a short time
before his death Moberly told him of Wilson and Rogers find-
ing one of Perry's camps after being lost.
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the line may be forced round the great bend of the Columbia,
which would considerably increase distance; but to save this
distance work will be undertaken that would ordinanily be
considered impracticable on account of expense,.

Not only does Van Horne state the willingness of the Company

to adopt a more costly line and a more difficult liné, but he
also suggests that distance alone was not the sole considera-
tion of the Company. If a pass could not be found over the Sel-
kirks, then they could go round the big bend of the Columbia --
which would give themga line possibly 10 miles ;onger than the

Yellow Head Pass line,

Rogers returned in 1882 to the Selkirks to explore the
approach to the summit of the range up the Beaver Creek from
the east; His report was again favourable, although he made no

accurate instrumental surveys.

From the first crossing of the Columbia the line enters the
Selkirk range by way of Beaver Creek, which it follows in a
south easterly direction about 16 miles, and thence runs
westerly up a branch of the same creek, between four and five
miles, and thence, south-westerly over the divide, three
miles to the east fork of the Ille-cille-want (sic), thence
down the east fork of the Ille-cille-want to the main stream,
which it follows to the second crossing of the Columbia opp-
osite Eagle Pass....

Cwing to the shortness of the season, the difficulties and
delays encountered in reaching the work, and to high water

in the mountain streams, and the enormous amount of laboT
involved in cutting trails, no instrumental survey of the
line across the Selkirk Range has yet been possible.d

I have, however, thoroughly examined the line and ascertain-
ed the altitudes by repeated barometric observations, which
have been carefully checked, and I feel entirely safe in

1. Van Horne to Drinkwater, April 17, 1882, House of Commons
Debates, p. 1120.

2. The new route when finally located was 79 miles shorter than
Fleming's Yellow Head Pass route. The distance across the
Selkirks through Rogers Pass is 63 miles. The distance
around the big bend of the Columbia measured from the east-
ern and western outlets of Rogers Pass on the Columbia River
is 150 miles,

5. The italics are mine.
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reporting a practicable line through the range, and with

maximum gradients of 105.6 feet per mile, but, in this case

also,l I would recommend the use of gradients of 116 feet

per mile, in order to avgid some points where dangerous snow

slides are to be feared.
It is interesting to note that Rogers as a result of his work
in 1882 had increased the maximum gradients to be encountered
in the Selkirks from 80 to 116 feet per mile. He had also in-
creased the gradients to be used on the western descent of
Kicking Horse Pass from 80 to 116 feet per mile. Nevertheless
the C. P. R. Syndicate seizéd on Rogers' assurance that a line
could be located by the Kicking Horse Pass and over the Sel-
kirks to Kamloops, and followed the precarious course of apply-
ing to the Dominion Government in September, 1882? for approval
of the new route, before they had conclusive evidence that the
Kicking Horse Pass and the route across thé Selkirks by the
Beaver and Illecillewaet Rivers was practicable, and, indeed,
before any man had passed directly over the Selkirks by the
route Rogers advocated.

. The Government, however, complied with the Syndicate's

request, and location of the line past Moose Jaw Creek proceed-

ed. The track followed closely behind location. By June 30,

1. Rogers had made a further examination of the Kicking Horse
Pass and recommended gradients of 116 feet per mile on cer-
tain sections in another part of this report. '

2. Rogers to Van Horne, Jan. 10, 1883, Dominion Sessional
Paper, 27, 1883, p. 170.

3. Drinkwater to Tupper, Sept. 15, 1882, Ibid., p. 167.

4, I have been unable to find the order-in-council -- if there
was one -- adopting the Kicking Horse Pass route -- nor any
reference to it. Probably there was no order-in-council
adopting the Kicking Horse Pass route as a whole., The loca-
tion of the line was adopted in sections from time to time.
Dominion Sessional Papers, 27, 1883; 31, 1884; 25, 1885;
and 35, 1886, '
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1
1883, steel had been laid 960 miles west of Winnipeg. The Com-

pény had built the line to the fo&thills of the Rockies, and
still no instrumentél survey had been made of the Selkirk pass.
The C. P. R. Syndicate, and along with it the Dominion Govern-
ment was 'living dangerously'. The success of the whole line
depended on the simple exploratory surveys made by Rogers in
the Selkirks and in the Kicking Horse Pass in 1881 and 1882.
The line, as Van Horne had pointed out, could go round the Col-
umbia if the Selkirk crossing proved impracticable, but this
would certainly have defeated the avowed object of the new
route of decreasing the length of the line. Moreover, as we
shall see, they were nof even sure of Kicking Horse Pass.

The precarious situatioﬁ-which existed in the summer
of 1883 may best be realized by reference to Sandford Fleming's
accouht of his journey across Canada, by the proposed new route,
in the late summer of that year. Fleming was sent for from
London by the Company and the Government to go over the new
route by Kicking Horse Pass and Rogers' Pass over the Selkirké?
Evidently, at this time, when the steel had reached the Rockies,
neither the Company nor the Government were wholly assured of
the practicability of the new route -- and justifiably, for
all they had to reassure them was Rogers' sketchy reports.
'Fleming reached Calgary by train on August 24, and careful en-
gineer that he was, as we have amply witnessed in his conduct

of the surveys in British Columbia, he was "surprised"™ to hear

1. Dominion Sessional Paper,. 10, 1884, p. 13.
2., Fleming, Sandford, England and Canada, London, Sampson Low,

liarston, Searle and Rivington, 1884,
3. Ibid., p. 141.
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- 1
that no one had crossed the Selkirk Range. Rogers had made

several attempts to do so but he had only so far succeeded to
reach the summit from the east and west. He had not penetrated
entirely through the mountains on a connected line. Fleming,
whno it must be remembered, was making an examination of the
line for the Company, and thus had all the information that was
available, writes, on learning this discouraging fact:
I must confess that this information was unwelcome to me. I
was not without experience in crossing mountains, but expec-
ted in this instance that our route would be over known
ground, and that, whatever difficulties lay before us, we had
only to persevere to overcome them. From what I now heard all
seemed uncertain before me. It was possible that we might
have to walk our toilsome way onwards for many days, sudden-
ly to find it was impossible to proceed.
Fleming had left Ottawa prepared for difficulties but not for a
shock as great as this. A little earlier he records that when
he left Ottawa "it was yet a question if it was possible to
cross the Selkirk Range to the Columbia; and it was not a matt-
er of certainty that either Kicking Horse or liagle Pass could
.3 :
be followed",

There must have been much anxiety among the C. P. R.
Syndicate and the Dominion government at this time, when the
line had reached the Rockies and still so little was known of
the route in British Columbia to Kamloops. The responsibility
which the Company had taken upon itself was well recognized by
Collingwood Schreiber. On September 26, 1882, Schreiber sub-

mitted his annual report to Sir Charles Tupper in which he

clearly shows that long bvefore the steel reached the Rockies he

LFleming, op. cit., p. 229.
2.1bid.
S.1bid., p. 220.
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1
recognized the great chance the Company was taking.

From Moose Jaw Creek to Fort Calgary a distance of about
454 miles, the Company, I am informed, have made a location
with a view to passing through the Kicking Horse Pass. This
location has not yet been approved, but the Company apparent-
ly have great faith in the existence of a feasiblg way
through the mountains in the direction indicated , having
constructed a line on this location from Moose Jaw Creek to
a point near 0Old Wives' Lake, about 455 miles west of Red
River; completed the work of grading for about 60 miles in
advance of that point. The grading is also in a forward
state for a further distance of about 70 miles....l pre-
sume they have assumed this responsibility not desiring to
check their unprecedentedly rapid construction and feeling
assured by information obtained from their engineers that
they will succeed in finding a favourable passage via the
Kicking Horse Pass.® ,

Schreiber, obviously, did not feel as sure as the Company that
the new route would prove practicable. However, Fleming, on his
overland Jjourney cleared up the situation a little and relieved
the Company and the Government of some of their anxiety. He
passed through Kicking Horse Pass, Rogers' Pass:5 and Eagle
Pass to Kamloops, and pronounced himself quite satisfied with
the projected location. According to John Murray Gibbon at
Kamloops "a telegram was sent reassuring the directors who had
staked their fortunes on Rogers Pass that they had won their
gamble"% Yet the game was still in doubt.

Abandonment of the new route was considered at a time
when t he steel had reached the summit of Kicking Horse Pass,
On November 23, 1883, James Ross, Manager of Construction for

the C. P. R. Syndicate in the Mountains of British Columbia,

reported that the track by the end of November would reach the

1. Dominion Sessional Paper, 8, 1883, p. 9.
2. The italics are mine,
3. Fleming, while on this journey, named Rogers Pass. Fleming,

op. cit., p. 269, and Inland Sentinel, Oct. 4, 1883.
4. Gibbon, op. cit., p. 255.
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- summit of the Rockies. During the year when the track was being
~laid up the eastern slope of Kicking Horse Pass,lRoss also re-
ported, that he had considered it advisable not only to send
an engineer to re-examine Rogers Pass, but "to‘feel perfectly
assured" that the line down the western slope of Kicking Horse
Pass would be practicable, he had made further surveys of the
line, and in case these surveys proved unfavourable he had
"other surveys made through the Bow River and Howse Passes to
determine whether we could get a line, which though evidently
longer than the Kicking Horse, would present such features as
would compensate for the increased distance”% As a result of
these surveys Ross was glad -- one might add, fortunate =-- ta
say that they could commence work in the spring of 1884 feeling
guite satisfied that they had secured beyond doubt the best
line through the mountains.

Construction of the railway in British Columbia by
the Canadian Pacific Railway Company proceeded both westerly
from Calgary énd the Bow River through Kicking Horse Pass, and
easterly from Savona's Yerry. When construction began under
Andrew -Onderdonk from Savona's Ferry in 1884, the steel from
the East, as we have seen from Ross' report to Van Horne of
No#ember, 1883, had reached the summit of the Rockies. At this
time the line had not been finally located. It was to be located
by the Canadian Pacific Railway engineers, and adopted by the
Dominion Government, as the line across the prairies had been,

in small sections from time to time as the work of location

1. Ross to Van Horne, Nov. 23, 1883, Dominion Sessional
Paper, 31 f, 1884, p. 41.
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progressed. As a result construction of the grade followed
closely behind location. The last section from the summit of
the Selkirks to a point eighteen miles west in the Illecille-
waet valley was not located and adopted by the Dominion govern-
ment until July 25, 1885% In the case of this section; as with
others, construction of the grade‘acfually preceded the adopt-
;ion of the location by the Dominion government.

The line which Onderdonk was to build from Savona's
Ferry to Griffin Lake in the Kagle Pass, a distance of 140
miles, ran due west from Savona's Ferry along the Thompson
River and south of Kamloops Lake to Kamloops. From Kamloops it
followed the south bank of the South Thompson to Shuswap Lake
and raﬁ along the south shore of Shuswap Lake to Sicamous Narr-
oﬁs, where it entered the Gold Range by Eagle Pass. The line
from the east folloWed the valley of the Bow River from Cal-
gary and entered the Rockies by Kicking Horse Pass. It emerged
from the mountains at the present site of the town of Golden,
and thence followed the Columbia to the first Columbia River
crossing at Donald. Having crossed the Columbia it followed
the Columbia River still further north to the mouth of Beaver
Creek, and entered the Selkirk Range by way of the Beaver vall-
ey. Bmerging from the Selkirks by the valley of the Illecille-
waet it crossed the Columbia River for the second time at Far-
well (now Revelstoke), and entered the Gold Range by Eagle Pass.
In Eagle Pass about 25 miles from Farwell it met Onderdonk's

line from the west.

1., Order-in-Council, July 25, 1885, Dominion Sessional Paper
35, 1886, p. 2.
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The work on Onderdonk's line pfoceeded rapidly. It
was not hambered by any serious delays, although in the spring
of 1885 snow and.rain held up work in Eagle Pass. Major Rogers
arrived early in 1884 to make the final location of the line
east of Savoha's Ferry? and by the end of July location had
proceeded several miles past Kamloops. With the-commencement.
of the work of construction, H.J. Cambie arrived in Kamloops
to act as chief residezt engineer on the western division for
the C. P. R. Syndicate.

Supplies for Onderdonk's line came up the track from
Port Moody to the end of steel, and thence were carried by the
Cariboo waggon road, which extended as far as Kamloops, to the
grading partiés. Steamers, the new Skuzzy and the Peerless,
were used on Kamloops Lake and along the South Thompson for
transport. Beyond Shuswap Lake through Eagle Pass the problem
of transportation would have been.somewhat difficult had the
British Columbia Government not made provision for the constr-
uction of a road from Shﬁswap Lake through Eagle Pass to the
Columbia River crossing at Farwell, in May, 1883? The road was
completed to Farwell in October, 18846. It was of great service
in transporﬁation of supplies not only on the western division
from Shuswap Lake to the end of line at Griffin Lake, but also

on the eastern division from farwell to Griffin Lake.

The work of grading Onderdonk's line was sub-let in

1. Inland Sentinel, March 5, 1885.
2. Colonist, Feb. 3, 1884..

3. Inland Sentinel, July 31, 1884.
4, Ibid.

5. 46 Vic., c. 35. ’
6. Inland Sentinel, Sept. 17, 1884.




- 168 -

small sections to several small contractors. West of Savona's
Ferry for a distance of seven miles the work was under the direc-
tion of T.E. Sinclair% The work on this section was veryilight.
J.R. Onderdonk and E.A., Cunningham héd the next four miles,
which were also very light?AOn the next three miles, under‘
.contract to J.G. Ferguson, much heavy work was required =-- six
tunnels and everywhere difficult rockwork. The Colonist report-
~ed that Fefguson made an excellent job of it and also consider-
able money, some $40,000? The following three miles along.Kam-
loops Lake also consisted of heavy rockwork. The grade along
this section was built byIOnderdonk's popﬁlar superintendent,
James Leamy. J.B. Harrison of Victoria had thé next two miles
of a slightly.rocky natﬁré. Messrs. Troup and Fumecon construct-
ed the grade for the following six miles, bringing the line to
Kamloops.

~ From Kamloops for 35 miles to the Little Shuswap Lake
‘the road was built along the South Thompson River through virt- .
uvally prairie country. This section was contracted for by Hugh
F. Keefer., T.E. Sinclair built the 30 miles of line from Little
Shuswap Lake to Salmon River, which was of a light character.
Messrs. Bacon and McMillan built the next twelve miles, anq
W.C, Mitchell the following twelve miles, bringing the line to
Sicamous Narrows. On these two contracts much rock cutting was

necessary, and other work of a heavy character. G.F. Kyle, who

was Onderdonk's assistant superintendent on the Government line,

1. Inland Sentinel, July 31, 1884.
2. Colonist, Nov., 21, 1885,
3. Ibid.
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built a light section of 19 miles from Sicamous Narrows. G.B.
Wright, the builder of the Lagle Pass waggon road, and James
Leamy built the last nine miles on Onderdonk's contract to
Griffin Lake,

By Janhary, 1885, work was going on over the whole
line and track-laying, following the laying of steel to Savona's
Ferry on the Government line, had begun. On July 11, the track
reached Kamloops% On reaching Kamloops the supply of rails for-
thcoming from Port Moody ceased and track-laying was delayed far
almost two weeks, awaiting the arrival of the rail fleet from
England? On July 26 rails éame up the line from Port Moody and
on the following day track-laying cbmmenced again, and proceed-'
ed with all possible speed. By September, the track had reached
Sicamous Narrows, and on September 26, Onderdonk laid his last
rail in Eagle Paés, nine miles from the end of his contract at
Griffin Lake? His supply of rails was exhausted. At that time
the steel from the East was coming down the valley of the Ille-
cillewaeé, 15 miles from Farwell%
| On September 26 Onderdonk served notice of discharge
on his employees: "As our last rail from the Pacific has been
laid in Bagle Pass to-day,.and the balance of work undertaken
by the Canadian Pacific Railway Company between Savona and

point of Jjunction in Eagle Pass will be completed for the

season on Wednesday, all employees will be discharged on the

Colonist, July 14, 1885.

Inland Sentinel, July 23, 1885, On this occasion the rail
ships were late. Their late arrival caused so much anxiety
in Port Moody that it was generally believed they had been
captured by the Russians. Port Moody Gazette, June 6, 1885.
Colonist, Oct. 4, 1885,

Inland sentinel, Oct. 8, 1885.
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1 .
evening of September thirtieth". Soon several thousand men left

the scenes of railway ponstruction. Yale which was gradually
sinking into her former lethargy was awakened over-night."Sal-
oons and streets are full of intoxicated men," a Yale corres-
pondent of the Victoria Colonist wrote, October 3, "Residents
of the town are obliged to bar the door of their dwellings in
order to keep the howling throng from forcing an entrance.
Such excitement has not been seen since 1860. The saloons are
reaping a rich harvest"?

The howling, intoxicated throng did not remain long
at Yale. Soon all was quiet theré again. About the middlie of
October, Yale also lost some of her most prized and valuable
possessions. Onderdonk moved his railway construction plant,
including the machinery for repairing cars at Yale, sawmills
at Texas Lake;, steam shovels, and surplus rolling stock,; to
Port Moody, where it was stored, to be taken over later by the
Canadian Pacific Railway Company?

With the superb, boundless energy of William Van Horne
pushing construction of the line to rapid completion, the rail-
" way was built with reckless speed acroés'the prairies from
Winnipeg, and, as we have seen, by the end of the season, 1883,
the track had reached the summit of Kicking Horse Pass. From
that point to the end of Onderdonk's line the work . of necess-

ity proceeded more slowly, but considering the difficulties

which had to be met, and the fact that before the line was

-1l. Inland 3entinel, Oct. 1, 1885.
2., Colonigt, Oct. 4, 1885.
3. Inland Sentinel, Oct. 22, 1885,
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completed the practicability of the new route was severely test-
ed, at a remarkably fast pace.iThe great works of construction
were in charge of James Ross, Construction Manager for the Syn-
‘dicaté in the Mountains. He was assisted by H.S. Holt, now well-
known as Cénada’s premier financier, Sir Herbert Holt, who act-
ed as Ross' chief engineer, |

Before the work on the grade could proceed beyond the
summit of the Kicking Horse Pass, a road -- a very rough one --
had to be constructed to provide a means of transport for the
supplies which were brought to the end of steel from the East.
The construction of this road, which was known as the 'Tote’
road, commenced in the spring of 1884. It followed the line of
the railway down the western slope of the Kicking Horse Pass
to the Columbia% Along this road supplies were carried by
horses and mules to depot stores, which the Company established
at intervals along the line, and from which the small contract-
ors purchased food, forage and construction materials, which
they hauled by their own teams to their contracts. As the work
proceeded in 1884 and 1885 the road was extended along the Col-
umbia and across the Selkirks through Rogers Pgss to Farwell,
where it met the Lagle Pass waggon road. One who often travell-
ed along the Tote road has left this description of one part of
Sits
The Tote road was exceptionally rough. On the right bank of
the Columbia it was cut out of the solid rock for several
miles, some hundreds of feet above the river, and, except at

the Kicking Horse Flats near the Beavermouth Pass, where the
stream spreads out into several fordable channels, it was not

1. Steele, S.B., Forty Years in Canada, Toronto, McClelland,
Goodchild and Stewart. Ltd., 1915, p. 188,
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1
of sufficient width to admit of teams passing. Beyond the end

of the Tote road a treacherous traii was used for transport,
along which only pack animals could be used. G@ften it clung to
the side of a mountain several hundred feet above the foaming
waters of the Columbia.

The great bulk of the supplies, and all the steel, was
brought along the completed line from the East, buf as the work
on the grade approached Farwell, at the second crossing of the
Columbia, supplies were brought up the Columbia by the steamer
Kootenay from the Northern Pacific south of the boundary line.'
In September, 1885, the Kootenay with powder for the railway
works ran upon rocks in the Columbia south of the boundary,
where she was forced to remain until the spring of 1886? This
unfortunate accident caused considerable delay just_when the
line was approathing completion. In the emergency supplies were
brought in from the west along the Eagle Pass waggon road.

In July, 1884, James Ross had about 4,000 men working
on the line through Kicking Horse Pass? By the end of the year
he probably had a force of five or six thousand men at work.
All James Ross' labour was White. The majority of the men came
from eastern Canada and from all parts of the United States.
Following the completion of the Northern Pacific in 1884, men
came up the Columbia from Sand Point, fresh f romt he Norfhern

Pacific works to work upon the Canadian Pacific.

Other men came to the scenes of construction in the

1. Steele, op. cit., p, 188,
2. Inland Sentinel, Sept. 24, 1885 and Oct. 8, 1885,
3. Colonist, Aug. 2, 1884.
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Mountains who did not work for James Ross. There were saloon
proprietors, gamblers and whiskey men, whose business it was

to prey upon the railway navvies and add to the cruelty and
unlawlessness of life along the line. Col. S.B. Steele, who

was sent in April, 1884, with a detachment of the North West
Mounted Police to act as special Dominion police along the rail-
way under construction in the mountains of British Columbia,
has left an interesting account of life in the construction
camps along the line. Arriving at Laggan, or Holt City, at the
summit of Kicking Horse Pass in April, 1884, Steele records
that he found large numbers of'gamblers, whiskey men, in fact
almost every description of criminal, who had been plying their
trade on the Northern Pacific Railway and had come to the Rock-
ies from Sand Point to establish their dens "on every little
creek along the line"% It is surprising that only one homicide
is recorded to have taken place amongst this strange crowd of
men. And the one case recorded was an act of self-defence -- a
brakeman shot a negro barber to save his conductor friend from
the slash of a razor? But if they did not commit murder the
"toughs" gave the police much trouble in other ways. Liquor

was plentiful, most of it being brought in from the United
States. In August a correspondent of the Colonist wrote from
Farwelllthat "enormous quantities of liquor, brandy, whiskey,
beer, etc., etc., are being brought up from Colville. Three

boats brought $4,000 worth last week". Col. Steele and his

police, however, were eminently successful in maintaining order,

l, Steele, op. cit., p. 180.
2. Ibid., p. 192.
3. CTolonist, Aug. 21, 1885.
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but it is of interest to note that Col. Steele claims his work
would have been much easier had the Provincial government not

insisted on licensing any saloon keeper who éame along in order
to add to the revenues of the Province%

Ross, unlike Onderdonk, was troubled by a serious
strike, which took place in April, 1885? For several months the
men along the line had received no pay for their work. It was a
time of financial difficulties for the Company; they were, in
fact, facing ruin unless assisted by a loan from the Dominion
Government? which fortunately came in July, 1885. That a strike
was imminent came to the attention of Col.‘Steeie in February
and March, when increazing numbers of men complained to him that
they had not been paid. Steele warned Ross and Sir John A,
Macdonald that serious trouble might result if the men were not
satisfied. The situation, Steele thought, so serious, consider-
ing the large element of 'toughs' with whom he had to deal,
that when the Lieutenant-Governor of Manitoba wired him to with-
draw his police force from the Mountains,'owing to the outbreak
of the second Riel Rebellion, he refused. The strike broke
on April 1, and for some time things were difficult. Three
hundred armed men threatened the camp at Beavermouth, but were
fortunately held back‘by a strong show of force by eight Mounte
ed Police. The majority of thé men soon went back to work on a

promise from Ross that they would receive their wages, but

several hundred, encouraged by the 'toughs', remained on strike

l. Steele, op. cit., p. 233.

2. Colonist, April 14, 1885.

3. Vide Innis, op. cit., pp. 1l25-126; Gibbon, op. cit., pp. 279~
291, and Skelton, O.D., The Life and Times of Sir Wilfrid
Laurier, v. 1, pp. 281-282. '

4. Steele, op. cit., pp. 196=-201.
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and attempted to intimidate those who had returned to work. The
arrival of the pay car on April 7, put an end to all difficul-
ties, and Steele left for Manitoba to face Riel and his rebelk
army.

The most difficult works of construction were encount-
ered on the western descent of Kicking Horse Pass and along
Rogers Pass in the Selkirks, On the western descent of the
Kicking Horse Pass the line followed the turbulent Kicking
Horse River, which fell, near the summit of the Rockies, 1,100
feet in three and one half miles. To construct the line over
this section, without exceeding the grades of 116 feét per mile
which Rogers had stated would be necessary, a turinel 1800 feet
long would have to be constructed. This work, it was estimated
would delay the construction of the line fully a year% To avoid
the long tunnel the C. P. R. Syndicate applied to the Dominion
government for pérmission to build a temporary line, over nine
miles in length, and along which a heavy gradient of 232 feet
per mile for four miles would be necessary?

Van Horne's letter of application for permission to
build this temporary line is of great interest since it pro-
vides further evidence of the fact that the C. P. R. Syndicate
decided on the new route through Kicking Horse Pass without
adequate knowledge of the new location. Van Horne frankly states

that a considerable number of engineers had examined the line

through Kicking Horse Pass, and while agreeing on the feasibil-

1. Schreiber to Tupper, Oct. 1, 1884, Dominion Sessional Paper
25, 1885, p. 36.
2. Van Horne to Tupper, May 19, 1884, ibid., p. 1ll.
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ity of the pass for-the railWay they "differed widely as to
what should be done at particular points". He also states that
"some years might e necessary to detefmine the disputed ques-
tions‘regarding the permanent line”. A

The Syndicate received the consent of the governmeﬁt
to construct the temporary line by Order-in-Council, May 30,
1884% A few weeks before the Comﬁany had received a loan. from
the Dominion of $22,500,000, on condition that they complete
the line by Mayl%1886% To.delay the work a year to build a
tunnel in tﬁe Rocky liountains would have rendered the fulfil-
ment of thié agreement impossible.

The work along the Columbia River to Beavermouth,
where the line entered the Beaver Creek valley on its way
across the Selkirks, was very hea&y, but no serious difficul-
ties were encountered on this section of the line. But much
trouble was metlin construﬁting the grade across the Selkirks.
By the end of the year, 1884; some 2,000 men were engaged in |
the Selkirks between the first and second crossings of the Col-
umbia? But soon work in the Selkirks was at a standstill; and
the feasibility of Rogers Pass for the railway was again in
doubt. Avalanches of snow and ice began to roar down the moun=-o
tain sides in February, 1885. The blasfing was no doubt res-
ponsible for many of the slides. Steele records: o,

Glaciers which had never left their rocky beds abbve the
clouds under the shocks of the blasting operations broke

away and came crashing down, cutting pathways from a quarter
to half a mile wide through the forest below. One avalanche,

1. Dominion Sessional Paper 25, 1885, p. 13.
2,47 Vic., ¢c. 1.
3. Dominion Sessional Paper 25, 1885, p. 40.
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which came at the summit of the pass 20 miles from the Beav-
er camp, descended 5,000 feet with such velocity that it
went %pross the valley and up on the opposite side for 800
feet.

Good,fortune, however, again blessed the C. P. R. Syndicate.

The work was retarded, but the location of the line had to be
abandoned in only one place to avoid the snow slides. This one
change in location can not be clearly described. Some concep-

tion of the work, however, may be obtained from Collingwood
. 2
Schreiber's report of October 10, 1885,

This [the snow slides| somewhat retarded the work of construc-
tion as it was considered advisable to abandon the location
already made upon the side of the mountain preparatory to
construction, and to devise some means of crossing the valley
and reaching the lower levels before approaching the snow
slides which it was desired to avoid, without increasing the
severity of the grade. Mr. James Ross, an able engineer and
manager of the company's works of construction, set vigor-
ously to work to solve the problem; and, by a clever piece

of engineering, succeeded in gaining the necessary distance
by taking advantage of the general contour of the country -

to form, as it were, a double loop, thus touching the bottom
lands clear of the most formidable snow slides, and without
increasing the severity of the grades; and although this re-
sulted in an increase of 3 miles to the length of the section,
the general alignment outside the loop was much improved.

The traveller who to-day crosses the Selkirks in a luxurious
carriage of the Canadian Pacifid Railway and enjoys some of the
most magnificent mountain scenery in the world, may well won-

der at and admire the ingenuity and courage of the men who

l. Steele, op. cit., p. 195. The danger to the line from snow
slides was the reason for much protest against the new loca-
tion of the railway. E.g. Philo Veritas, Canadian Pacific
Railway, an Appeal to Public Opinion against the Railway
being carried across the Selkirk Range, That Route being
Objectionable from the Danger of Falls, from Glaciers and
from Avalanches, also, generally on other Matters, Montreal,
Wm. Drysdale and Co., 1885, Snow slides in the  Selkirks
still cause the C. P. R. occasional trouble, although the
line has been well protected by an elaborate chain of snow
sheds.

2. Dominion Sessional Paper, 35, 1886, p. 11.
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built the railway line along which he is so comfortably
carried. |

With the grade cdmpleted across the Selkirks the
works of construction were completed without much difficulty.
The grade ffom Farwell to Griffin Lake, the end of Onderdonk's
contract in Eagle Pass, was readily constructed. Track-laying
progressed at a rapid pace from the east once the grade was.
prepared. By the end of the seasén, 1884, the steel had cross-
ed the Ccolumbia at Donald, which soon became Ross' construct-
ion headgquarters and "the most populous town met since leaving
Calgary"% When Onderdonk laid his last rail in Eagle Pass on
September 26, the track from the east, as we héve already
noted, was about 15 miles from Fafwell. On October 16, the
steel was laid across the Columbia River bridge at Farwell?
leaving only 29 miles of track to be laid to complete the line,
By November 5, the gap had been reduced to seven miles, the
steel having been laid about two miles west of Griffin Lake?
On November 7; the steel frpm the east met the steel from the
west. On the same day, Donald A. Smith, who had arrived with
an official party from Winnipeg, drove the last spike, which
on the insistence of Van Horne was "just as good an iroﬁ one .

as there is between Montreal and>Vancouver§ at Craigellachie.

Following the ceremony at Craigellachie, the official

1. Colonist, Aug. 15, 1885,
2. Ibid., Oct. 23, 1885,
3. Inland Sentinel, Nov. 5, 1885.
4, Vaughn, W., The Life and Work of Sir William Van Horne,
New York, The Century Co., 1920, p. 131.
5. The ceremony of the driving of the last spike has often been

told, perhaps most vividly and most carefully by John Murray
Gibbon in Steel of Empire, pp. 294-302.
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party from the east, which included Van Horne, Smith, Sandford
Fleming, G.H. Harris, a director of the Company, J.M, Egan,
general superintendent of the western division, J.H. McTavish,
Chief Lands Commissioner for the Company, and H. Abbott, manag-
er of construction, accompanied by M.J. Haney, Colonel Steele,
J.H. Dickie, Dominion Government Engineer, H.J. Cambie, James
Ross and Major Rogers% passed over the completed line to Port
Moody. British Columbia had received the transcontinental rail-
way which she had demanded in 1870 as a necessary condition of
her union with the Dominion of Canada.

The road in November, 1885, however, was not ready
for traffic. Much work had still to be done on the mountain
section, including‘the building of snow sheds in the Selkirks,
before the line could be put to commercial use as a transcon-
tinental railWay. It was not till June 28, 1886, that the first
transcontinental train left Montreal for the Pacific. -

The arrival of the first transcontinental passenger
train at Port Moody, on July 4, 1886, was the occasion of much
celebration in British Columbia. Several hundred citizens of
Victoria, including the liayor and the Hon. Wm. Smithe, Premier
of the Province, came over on the steamer Yosemite to witness
the historic event. The steamer Amelia brought 250 more from
Nanaimo. The late Mrs. Mary Edith Angus, who was one of those
who came over on the Yosemite from Victoria has left an inter-
esting account of the arrival of the first throughgtrain at

Port Moody. The train was scheduled to arrive at noon, --

1. Colonist, Nov. 10, 1885,
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"We were not.kept long. First a whistle was heard, and then
the o0ld familiar curl of smoke we had so often watched for
in the 0ld Country was to be seen rising from among the
pines; then came the harsh, clang, clang, of the engine bell,
and the train steamed slowly up the line and was greeted by
cheer after cheer from the 500 or 600 people who were await-
ing her. The train that had crossed a continent was only one
minute late. A journey of 2,907 miles had been accomplished
in 136 hours and one minute... :

Addresses of congratulation were presented to the directors
of the C.P.R. Company by the Hon. Wm. Smithe, Premier of the
Province, and by the Mayors of Vancouver and Victoria, to
which Mr. Abbott,; the Superintendent of this western divis-
ion of the line, responded on behalf of the Company. These
formal proceedings were interesting but the supreme moment
for us was when we saw the smoke curling above the pines.

The arrival of the firstvthrough train at Port Moody
on July 4, 1886, marked the final fulfilment of the Terms of
Union between British Columbia and the Dominion of Canada.

The Dominion, through the agency of the Canadian Pacific Rail-
way Company, had built a transcontinental railway to tide
water on the Pacific and had put it to commercial use. July 4,
1886, also may be said to mark the fulfilment of the Canadian
Pacific Railway Company's contract of 1880. The railway was
completed from Callender to Port lMoody and under operation.
The Company had now to operate the line forever. At this point
we must leave the history of the Canadian Pacific Railway and
British Columbia, although for one very good reason it is not
a particularly happy place to close the story. By the statute
of February 15, 1881, Port Moody still remains the western

terminus of the Canadian Pacific Railway, but actually it

1. Excerpt from printed book, in the possession of Professor
H.F,., Angus, University of British Columbia, of writings of
his mother, Mrs. Mary Edith Angus. Mrs. Angus' account of
the arrival of the first train at Port loody was also pub-
lished in the Manchester Guardian.
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remained the terminus for the brief period of eighteen months.
The line in 1886 and 1887 was extended from Port Moody along
the south shore of Burrard Inlet to the new city of Vancouver}
which had sprung into existence as a result of the decision

of the Canadian Pacific Railway Company to extend their line
to Coal Harbour and English Bay. We, therefore, leave the
story of the construction of the actual mainline -« not the
statutory mainline -- of the Canadian Pacific Railway in Brit-
ish Columbia incomplete. The extension of the line to Vancouv-
er, which forms a large chapter in the difficult early history
of Vancouver, must be left, however, for a further study. We
have seen the fulfilment of the railway clause of the Terms

of Union and the contract of 1880. We have seen British Colum-

bia rejoice on receiving the transcontinental railway for

which she had waited for sixteen long years.

1. Vancouver was incorporated April 6, 1886. Statutes of Brit-
ish Columbia, 49 Vict., chap.

2. The report of the Directors of the Company of June 13, 1885,
provided for an expenditure of $760,000 on the extension to
Coal Harbour and English Bay. Canadian Pacific Railway,
Report of Proceedings of the Adjoined Annual and Special
Meeting of Shareholders, Montreal, June 13, 1885.
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the Grand Trunk to the Pacific would be the only salvation of
the road.

Willison, Sir John, Reminiscences, Political and Personal,
Toronto, lcClelland and Stewart, 1919. Willison gives a val-
uable account of the Blake wing of Mackenzie's party.

Willson, Beckles, Lord Strathcona, London, Methuen and Co.,
1902. Willson's story is interesting, but hardly exhaustive.
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Bancroft, H.H., History of British Columbia; San Francisco,
The History Company, 1887. Bancroft is very hard on the
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or rather, history of British Columbia -- written without
much reference to documentary sources.

Gibbon, John Murray, Steel of Empire, Toronto, McClelland and
Stewart, 1935. Gibbon calls his book a 'romantic history'.
It was obviously written hurriedly and is marred by faulty
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He tells the story of the Skuzzy.

Chittenden, Newton H., Settlers and Miners and Tourists Guide,
Ocean to Ocean by the C. P. R., Ottawa, 1885. Chittenden des-
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pamphlet Waddington outlines a route for the railway from
Bute Inlet through Yellow Head Pass. He stresses the imperial,
.national and local value of his project.
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Baillie-Grohman, Wm. A., "British Columbia", The Fortnightly
Review, v. 39, London, Chapman and Hall, Ltd., 1886.
Baillie-Grohman in this article outlines his impressions of
British Columbia. He sees the Canadian Pacific Railway as a
great imperial ddventure quite out of proportion to the pop-
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things that Rogers fed them on practically nothing but bacon
and beans. :

g
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